
 

 

Agenda - Standards of Conduct Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Video-conference via Zoom 

Meeting date: 10 June 2024 

Meeting time: 09.30

For further information contact: 

Meriel Singleton 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddStandards@senedd.wales
------ 

Pre-meeting  

(9.15 - 9.30) 

Private  

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions   

2 Inquiry into Individual Member Accountability: Evidence Session 3 

(9.30 - 10.10)   

Graham Simpson MSP 

Roz Thomson, Scottish Parliament 

 

Break  

(10.10 - 10.15) 

Public  

3 Inquiry into Individual Member Accountability: Evidence Session 4 

(10.15 - 10.50)   

Jonathan Tonge - University of Liverpool 

 

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 

public from the remainder of this meeting   

5 Consideration of evidence 

(10.55 - 11.00)   

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42



 

Removal from Office and Recall (Members of the 
Scottish Parliament) Bill 
A proposal for a Bill to introduce new measures on 
removing an MSP from office, including additional grounds 
for removal and new processes for removal, such as 
recall.  Proposed new grounds for removal include where 
an MSP does not participate in parliamentary proceedings 
for a given period without valid reason or receives a prison 
sentence lower than the current threshold for automatic 
removal. 

Consultation by Graham Simpson MSP, Member for 
Central Scotland 

19 January 2022 

Pack Page 15



2 

Contents  
 
 
Page 3: Foreword by Graham Simpson MSP  

 
Page 8: How the consultation process works 
 
Page 10: Aim of the proposed Bill 
 

• Page 10-16: Background   
 

• Page 16-33: Detail of the proposed Bill 
 

• Page 33-41: Questions 
 

Page 42: How to respond to this consultation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 16



3 

Foreword 

 
Members of the Scottish Parliament (MSPs) are firstly and lastly public 
servants.  
 
They are elected to represent their constituents for a five-year term and, at 
the end of their tenure, voters take a view on their record and decide 
whether they are worthy of re-election.  
 
However, I consider the existing checks and balances on members’ 
performance in their role during those five years to be insufficient.  Unlike 
many other professions, MSPs are not subject to performance reviews. In 
any other workplace there would be processes to manage poor attendance, 
which could ultimately see someone lose their job. At present, there are 
very limited circumstances where an MSP is required to vacate office. In 
relation to prison sentences, only when an MSP is sentenced to more than 
a year in prison are they required to do so.1  
 
Councillors are bound by a law that, if they fail to attend council meetings 
for six consecutive months, they can lose their job. There is no such 
mechanism for MSPs. 
 

 
1 Under section 15 of the Scotland Act 1998 (read in conjunction with the provisions of the House of 
Commons Disqualification Act 1975), there other examples of disqualification from membership of the 
Scottish Parliament. For example, judges, civil servants, members of the armed forces, members of police 
forces and members of foreign legislatures are disqualified from being members of the Scottish Parliament. 
Section 15 of the 1998 Act also provides that any individual disqualified from membership of the House of 
Commons is prevented from being a member of the Scottish Parliament. This would include, for example, 
any individual who has been declared bankrupt (see section 427 of the Insolvency Act 1986).   

Pack Page 17

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/46/section/15
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1975/24/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1975/24/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1986/45/section/427


4 

This anomaly was brought into stark focus during the last parliamentary 
session when Derek Mackay resigned from his role as Cabinet Secretary 
for Finance, Economy and Fair Work. 
 
He remained as an MSP however, for 15 months, as far as I am aware, he 
did not attend another meeting of the Parliament, or take part in any votes, 
despite measures for remote attendance and voting making both of these 
things straightforward. 
 
Mr Mackay was able to see out his term as an MSP and continued to 
collect his salary and some expenses. 
 
This was widely recognised as being an unacceptable situation and several 
MSPs said that Mr Mackay should have had to resign his seat. Yet, there 
was no lever available to either parliamentarians or the public to remove 
him from office as an MSP. 
 
In any local authority, a member who failed to attend meetings for six 
consecutive months could automatically be removed from office, unless the 
failure was due to some reason approved by the relevant council. The 
relevant provisions for this process are set out in section 35 of the Local 
Government (Scotland) Act 1973.2  
 
An MP can be suspended from the House of Commons and subsequently 
be removed through a by-election called using the Recall of MPs Act 
2015.3 This process is known as “recall” and enables constituents to bring 
forward a petition for recall if certain grounds are met. There are a number 
of grounds, including parliamentary sanctions or prison sentences, which 
would trigger such a petition to begin this process.  Further background 
information on this process is available in the House of Commons Library 
research briefing, Recall Elections (9 November 2021).4 There is presently 
no such process for MSPs. 

 
That is why my party called for the passing of a law in its 2021 Scottish 
Parliament Election manifesto so that MSPs who do not carry out the key 
elements of the job that they were elected to do can be removed. 
 

 
2 Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 (legislation.gov.uk) 
3 Recall of MPs Act 2015 (legislation.gov.uk) 
4 Recall elections - House of Commons Library (parliament.uk) 

Pack Page 18

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1973/65/section/35
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/25/contents
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn05089/


5 

And that is why I am beginning the process of developing a Member’s Bill 
on establishing processes to achieve this. 
 
I believe the proposals in this document would strengthen the integrity of 
the democratic process by ensuring that the full and proper representation 
of constituents can be maintained throughout every parliamentary session. 
I believe that these proposals would contribute towards improving the 
powers of the Parliament by ensuring that MSPs can be removed and 
replaced during the course of a parliamentary session. 
 
The first element of my proposal is based on section 35 of the Local 
Government (Scotland) Act 1973. This would enable an MSP to be 
removed from office automatically due to a lack of participation in 
proceedings at Parliament, unless there was a valid reason provided, such 
as maternity 
leave or ill health.  
 
The second element of my proposal is to strengthen the current 
disqualification provisions where an MSP is sentenced to prison. At 
present, MSPs are automatically removed from office when they are 
sentenced to prison for more than one year. 
 
I believe that this is far too high a bar and could mean that members who 
commit serious offences can continue in office. Bill Walker, the former MSP 
for Dunfermline, was convicted of 23 charges of assault and one of breach 
of the peace in August 2013, yet was sentenced to just a year in prison. If 
he had not resigned then the Parliament would have had no power 
available to it to remove him and, consequently, the people of Dunfermline 
would have been represented for a year by an MSP in jail. 
 
In light of this, I am also proposing to legislate so that receiving a sentence 
of one year or less would mean that an MSP would automatically be 
removed from office. This will ensure that members convicted of serious 
crimes cannot continue in their role. 
 
The third element of my proposal is to consider establishing a system of 
recall for MSPs. As mentioned above, recall is where the electorate in an 
area can trigger a special election to remove an elected representative before 

Pack Page 19

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1973/65/section/35
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1973/65/section/35


6 

the end of their term if certain conditions are met5.  At present, only MPs can 
be recalled. Further background on recall can be found in the House of 
Commons Library research briefing, Recall Elections (9 November 2021).6  
 
Currently, the only opportunity for the electorate to decide who is elected to 
represent them in the Scottish Parliament is every five years. There is no 
opportunity to seek to replace an MSP where there is a notable issue with 
how they fulfil their role as a parliamentarian, or where their conduct 
separate to their working life notably impacts on their ability to be an MSP. 
 
In relation to recall, different countries have different approaches. The 
Scottish Parliament Information Centre (SPICe) produced a very useful 
piece of research for me that focuses on international examples of recall. I 
have posted this on my website and you can read it here: 
 
https://www.grahamsimpson.org.uk/spice-research-briefing 
 
I want to be clear at the outset that, while I am very interested in 
introducing a process for recall of MSPs, I would only pursue this element 
of my proposed Bill if I can establish a process for recall that is practical 
and treats regional and constituency MSPs fairly. I include information later 
in this document as food for thought on how such a process could be 
approached, based on a number of international examples. However, I 
would very much welcome insight from respondents to this consultation on 
what a workable recall system for MSPs could look like. 
 
My proposed bill is not intended to be political. In all parties, the vast 
majority of parliamentarians go into politics with the intention of serving 
their constituents dutifully and to the best of their ability. However, in all 
parties, there are examples where representatives have abused their 
position or have failed to meet the standards that the public have a right to 
expect, be they in the UK Parliament, Scottish Parliament or in local 
government.  
 
I look forward to hearing from the public, interested stakeholders and my 
parliamentary colleagues on these proposals. 
 

 
5 Conditions could include imprisonment, exclusion from the Parliament for a certain length of time or 
conviction. 
6 Recall elections - House of Commons Library (parliament.uk) 

Pack Page 20

https://www.grahamsimpson.org.uk/spice-research-briefing
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn05089/


7 

Graham Simpson MSP 

19 January 2022

Pack Page 21



8 

How the Consultation Process works 
 

This consultation relates to a draft proposal I have lodged as the first stage 
in the process of introducing a Member’s Bill in the Scottish Parliament.  
The process is governed by Chapter 9, Rule 9.14, of the Parliament’s 
Standing Orders which can be found on the Parliament’s website at:   
 
https://parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/17797.aspx  
 
At the end of the consultation period, all the responses will be analysed.  I 
then expect to lodge a final proposal in the Parliament along with a 
summary of those responses. If that final proposal secures the support of at 
least 18 other MSPs from at least half of the political parties or groups 
represented in the Parliamentary Bureau and the Scottish Government 
does not indicate that it intends to legislate in the area in question, I will 
then have the right to introduce a Member’s Bill.   A number of months may 
be required to finalise the Bill and related documentation.  Once introduced, 
a Member’s Bill follows a 3-stage scrutiny process, during which it may be 
amended or rejected outright.  If it is passed at the end of the process, it 
becomes an Act. 
 
At this stage, therefore, there is no Bill, only a draft proposal for the 
legislation. 
 
The purpose of this consultation is to provide a range of views on the 
subject matter of the proposed Bill, highlighting potential problems, 
suggesting improvements, and generally refining and developing the policy. 
Consultation, when done well, can play an important part in ensuring that 
legislation is fit for purpose.   
 
The consultation process is being supported by the Scottish Parliament’s 
Non-Government Bills Unit (NGBU) and will therefore comply with the 
Unit’s good practice criteria. NGBU will also analyse and provide an 
impartial summary of the responses received. 
 
Details on how to respond to this consultation are provided at the end of 
the document. 
 
 
 

Pack Page 22

https://parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/17797.aspx


9 

 
Additional copies of this paper can be requested by contacting me on 0131 
348 6983 or at graham.simpson.msp@parliament.scot 

 
Enquiries about obtaining the consultation document in any language other 
than English or in alternative formats should also be sent to me. 
 
An on-line copy is available on the Scottish Parliament’s website at  
 under Parliamentary Business / Bills / Proposals for Members’ Bills or here 
at /MSP-removal-from-office 
 

Pack Page 23

mailto:graham.simpson.msp@parliament.scot
https://www.parliament.scot/bills-and-laws/bills/proposals-for-bills


10 

Aim of the Proposed Bill 
Background  
 
Role of an MSP 
 
The Consultative Steering Group on the Scottish Parliament (“CSG report”) 
(pp21-22) sets out in its report from January 1999 a series of principles by 
which MSPs are expected to abide, when working in Parliament and in their 
constituencies or their regions. These principles, based on the report of the 
Nolan Committee on Standards in Public Life, remain relevant today: 

 
• Members have a duty to uphold the law and to act in 

accordance with the public trust placed in them; and a duty to 
act in the interests of the Scottish Parliament as a whole and 
the public it serves.  

• Members have a duty to be accessible to their constituents. 
Members should consider carefully the views and wishes of 
their constituents; and, where appropriate, help ensure that 
constituents are able to pursue their concerns. 

• Members should take decisions solely in terms of the public 
interest. They should not do so in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves, their family or their 
friends. 

• Members should not place themselves under any financial or 
other obligation to any individual or organisation that might 
influence them in the performance of their duties. 

• Members have a duty to declare any private interests relating to 
their public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts 
arising in a way that protects the public interest. 

• Members should be as open as possible about all the decisions 
and actions they take. They should give reasons for their 
decisions and restrict information only when the wider public 
interest clearly demands. Where a Member has received 
information in confidence, or where disclosure of information 
might breach an individual's privacy, that confidence or privacy 
should be respected, unless there are overwhelming reasons in 
the wider public interest for disclosure to be made. 

Pack Page 24

https://archive2021.parliament.scot/PublicInformationdocuments/Report_of_the_Consultative_Steering_Group.pdf


11 

• Members remain responsible for any decision they take. In 
carrying out public business Members should consider issues 
on their merits taking account of the views of others. 

• Members are accountable for their decisions and actions to the 
Scottish people and should submit themselves to whatever 
scrutiny is appropriate to their office. 

• Members should promote and support these principles by 
leadership and example, to maintain and strengthen the public's 
trust and confidence in the integrity of Members in conducting 
public business.” 

 
Section 7 of the Guidance accompanying the Code of Conduct for 
Members of the Scottish Parliament sets out standards to which MSPs are 
expected to adhere. The introduction to that section states: 

 
“Members of the Scottish Parliament (MSPs) are accountable to the 
Scottish electorate who will expect them to carry out their 
Parliamentary duties in an appropriate manner consistent with the 
standing of the Parliament and not to engage in any activity as a 
member that would bring the Parliament into disrepute.” 
 

Current legislation at local authority level – vacation of office due to 
lack of attendance at council meetings 
 
Section 35 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 requires that a 
councillor vacates their office if they fail to attend council meetings for a 
period of six consecutive months. This includes any committee or sub-
committee of the council. The council can approve the councillor’s absence 
in the event of a valid reason, such as illness or maternity leave. This 
approval means they can continue in office, even if they do not attend a 
council meeting for six months.7 This legislation has been used recently, 
with Glasgow City Council removing two of its members on 11 and 27 
January 2021 respectively.8 Section 35 is reproduced in full below: 
 

 
7 Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973, Section 35 link. 
8 Tony Curtis vacated office on 11 January 2021 (report available at : https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-
scotland-scotland-politics-55619795). James Coleman vacated office on 27 January 2021 (report available 
at: https://www.glasgowtimes.co.uk/news/19043027.long-serving-labour-councillor-sacked-non-
attendance/)   

Pack Page 25

https://www.parliament.scot/msps/code-of-conduct/-/media/170abc776e82429986b01fe00219ef0d.ashx
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1973/65/section/35
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1973/65/section/35


12 

35 Vacation of office by failure to attend meetings. 
(1)Subject to subsections (2) to (4) below, if a member of a local 
authority fails throughout a period of six consecutive months to attend 
any meeting of the authority, he shall, unless the failure was due to 
some reason approved by the authority, cease to be a member of the 
authority. 

(2)Attendance as a member at a meeting of any committee or sub-
committee of the authority, or at a meeting of any joint committee, 
joint board or other body by whom for the time being any of the 
functions of the authority are being discharged, and attendance as 
representative of the authority at a meeting of any body of persons, 
shall be deemed for the purposes of subsection (1) above to be 
attendance at a meeting of the authority. 

(3)A member of any branch of Her Majesty’s naval, military or air 
forces when employed during war or any emergency on any naval, 
military or air force service, and a person whose employment in the 
service of Her Majesty in connection with war or any emergency is 
such as, in the opinion of the Secretary of State, to entitle him to relief 
from disqualification on account of absence, shall not cease to be a 
member of a local authority by reason only of a failure to attend 
meetings of the local authority if the failure is due to that employment. 

(4)The absence of a member of a local authority from a meeting of 
the authority during a period of suspension imposed on the member 
under section 103F or 103G of this Act or section 19 or 21(2) of the 
Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000 (asp 7) is 
not, for the purposes of this section, a failure to attend the meeting.” 

 
For MSPs and MPs there is no disqualification provision for non-
attendance. In theory, they could fail to attend any meeting of parliament or 
its committees throughout a parliamentary session and remain in post.  
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 26



13 

Current legislation on vacation of office due to imprisonment - MSPs 
 
The Representation of the People Act 1981 sets out that an MP would be 
disqualified from their position if they were sentenced to prison for more 
than one year.9  
 
This requirement is in effect applied to MSPs via section 15(1)(b) of the 
Scotland Act 1998 (sections 15 to 17 deal with disqualification and its 
effects). In addition, the Scotland Act 2016 extended the Scottish 
Parliament’s powers to modify the Scotland Act in the area of the 
Parliament regulating its own affairs, to include the Scotland Act provisions 
on term of office and disqualification.   
 
The provisions on disqualification as a result of a prison sentence received 
focus when Bill Walker was convicted in 2013. 4 He was sentenced to one 
year in prison, just below the threshold set out above that would have led to 
him being disqualified from holding office as an MSP. Therefore, Mr Walker 
did not need to resign, even after a Scottish Parliament motion was passed 
calling for him to resign5.  
 
When reviewing what the minimum prison sentence should be to remove 
an MSP from office I have considered whether:  
 

• an individual convicted of a criminal offence of sufficient seriousness 
to receive a prison sentence should be able to hold public office; 

• such an individual is entitled to be funded by taxpayers when they are 
not performing their role as an MSP; and 

• an MSP’s constituents can reasonably expect, in voting in a general 
election, that the successful candidate will actively represent them 
throughout the entire parliamentary session.10 

 
Recall of MPs Act 2015 
 
Oversight of the performance of MPs was significantly strengthened in the 
UK Parliament with the passing of the Recall of MPs Act 2015.11 This 
 

 
9 Representation of the People Act 1981, link. 
10BBC, 7 September 2013, link. 
11 Recall of MPs Act 2015 (legislation.gov.uk) 

Pack Page 27

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/34/data.pdf
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-scotland-24004675
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/25/2015-06-22


14 

meant that voters in a constituency could trigger a by-election if at least 
10% of them signed a recall petition within six weeks. Previously, under the 
Parliamentary Standards Act 200912, the ability to have a recall petition was 
only triggered if an MP received a custodial sentence, was barred from 
Parliament for 10 sitting days or 14 calendar days or was convicted. 
 
The 2015 Act does not apply to MSPs. I know there are mixed views on 
whether such a system could work in Scotland. This consultation considers 
in detail below the distinct nature of the electoral system in Scotland, 
specifically the existence of regional and constituency seats and the extent 
to which the Recall of MPs Act could be mirrored for the Scottish 
Parliament. This consultation also looks at international examples to inform 
thinking on what a system tailored to Scotland could look like in practice, 
where it is not possible or preferable to mirror the UK Parliament recall 
system. This is an area where views gathered through consultation would 
be very valuable in considering whether to take forward this element of the 
proposed bill. 
 
As set out in this consultation, it is my belief that there are some 
circumstances where the need for an MSP to be removed from office are 
pretty clear cut. In these circumstances, requiring a judgment call from the 
electorate on whether to have an election to assess whether a member can 
retain their seat is an unnecessary process. For example, where an MSP is 
not completing key elements of their role (element one of my proposal) or 
receives a prison sentence under element two. On that basis, my proposal 
deliberately diverges from certain elements of the Recall of MPs Act. 
 
Existing checks and balances on MSPs 
 
MSPs Code of Conduct 
 
The MSPs Code of Conduct sets out the requirements for members when 
they are acting as members of the Parliament. Complaints can be made by 
any individual against any member 13. Most of the sections of the Code 
require the Commissioner for Ethical Standards in Public Life in Scotland to 
formally investigate admissible complaints against members. Among other 

 
12 Parliamentary Standards Act 2009 (legislation.gov.uk) 
13 Complaints made against Government ministers, when acting in their capacity as ministers, are considered under 
the Scottish Government Ministerial Code 

Pack Page 28

https://www.parliament.scot/msps/code-of-conduct
https://www.ethicalstandards.org.uk/about-us
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/13/contents


15 

matters, this includes complaints relating to paid advocacy, and declaration 
and registration of financial interests. 
 
Complaints under some sections of the Code fall to the Presiding Officer or 
other elements of the Parliament to investigate, such as the Scottish 
Parliamentary Corporate Body. Serious complaints, for example where 
criminal behaviour is suspected, might  be referred to the Crown Office and 
Procurator Fiscal by the Commissioner.  
 
There are different parliamentary sanctions available where MSP conduct 
issues arise.   Paragraphs 52 to 70 of the Guidance on the Code of 
Conduct set out the sanctions applicable under the Interests of Members of 
the Scottish Parliament Act 2006 (sections 15 to 17A). Potential existing 
sanctions for breach of this legislation  include: 

- Restriction on participating in proceedings of the Parliament in 
relation to specific matters (where an interest hasn’t been registered) 
(S15). 

- Exclusion from proceedings of the Parliament (S16). 
- A fine of up to level 5 on the standard scale (£10,000) (S17). 
- Withdrawal of use of services and facilities of the Parliament (S17A). 
- Removal of salary and allowances for period of exclusion from the 

Parliament (S17A). 

With the exception of the level 5 fine (which would require a report to the 
Procurator Fiscal and criminal proceedings), the above sanctions would 
follow a resolution of the Parliament on a motion of the Standards 
Procedures and Public Appointments Committee14. 
 
The Parliament also has powers to withdraw rights and privileges from 
members further to Rule 1.7 of the Standing Orders, again on a motion of 
the Standards, Procedures and Public Appointments Committee.  These 
have previously been used to exclude members for specific time periods. 
 

 
14 Standards, Procedures and Public Appointments Committee | Scottish Parliament Website 

Pack Page 29

https://www.parliament.scot/about/how-parliament-works/parliament-organisations-groups-and-people/presiding-officer-and-deputy-presiding-officers
https://www.parliament.scot/about/how-parliament-works/parliament-organisations-groups-and-people/scottish-parliamentary-corporate-body
https://www.parliament.scot/about/how-parliament-works/parliament-organisations-groups-and-people/scottish-parliamentary-corporate-body
https://www.parliament.scot/msps/code-of-conduct/-/media/170abc776e82429986b01fe00219ef0d.ashx
https://www.parliament.scot/msps/code-of-conduct/-/media/170abc776e82429986b01fe00219ef0d.ashx
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2006/12/crossheading/sanctions
https://www.parliament.scot/chamber-and-committees/committees/current-and-previous-committees/session-6-standards-procedures-and-public-appointments-committee


16 

Interaction of my proposals with existing checks and balances on 
MSPs 
 
My proposals would not impact on the operation of the current standards 
process. They do not seek to alter any of the specific rules in the Code on 
 
how members should conduct themselves when acting as 
parliamentarians.   
 
The current checks and balances of the standards regime impose 
sanctions on a member during their time in office. My proposals sit above 
these measures as they enable removal from office entirely. 
 
However, a system of recall for MSPs could potentially mean that sanctions 
imposed by Parliament as a result of a breach of the rules of the Code 
could become the basis for a recall petition being triggered. 
 

Detail of the Proposed Bill  
 
I would be seeking in this Bill to make three substantial changes that would 
significantly tighten the rules. These would create processes for the 
removal from office of MSPs who: 
 

• fail to participate sufficiently in formal parliamentary proceedings 
(which is a core element of the role of a parliamentarian); 

• are imprisoned; or 
• receive serious sanctions for breaching parliamentary rules. 

 
Element one: Removing an MSP from office for a lack of 
participation in parliamentary proceedings 
 
As stated above, under section 35 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 
1973 a councillor who failed to attend council meetings for six consecutive 
months could automatically be removed from office, unless the failure was 
due to some reason approved by the council. 
 
My Bill would seek to replicate elements of the current process for local 
authority councillors for MSPs. This would mean that MSPs who do not 

Pack Page 30



17 

take an active part in any formal public parliamentary meetings, be they of 
the whole parliament or its committees, for a set period automatically are 
removed from office unless they have provided a valid reason to Parliament 
in advance. I am suggesting the same period would apply for MSPs as is 
the case for councillors, six months. However, I am open to responses to 
this consultation that make the argument for alternative timescales. 
 
 
How can participation be measured in practice? 
 
A key question in considering this is, what constitutes sufficient activity to 
indicate that a member is undertaking their role as a parliamentarian? 
Additionally, for this proposal to work in practice, which of these activities 
can be easily measured? 
 
For example, while it is easy to monitor whether an MSP, who is not a 
minister, is lodging written parliamentary questions, I do not consider 
remotely lodging motions and written parliamentary questions alone to be a 
sufficient means of demonstrating that an individual is representing those 
whom they are elected to represent. Active participation in proceedings 
such as Chamber business or committee meetings is also an important 
element of the role that has to be undertaken by the individual themselves 
(as opposed to their staff lodging questions or motions on their behalf). 
 
In my view, members can only be considered to be in attendance at the 
Parliament if they actively participate in formal parliamentary proceedings. 
 
The COVID-19 pandemic required the Parliament to move to virtual 
proceedings for committees and for meetings of the Parliament as a whole. 
This involves either meetings to be entirely virtual with all members 
attending online, or hybrid meetings with some members participating 
remotely and others attending in person. 
 
On that basis, the question of what constitutes active attendance at 
meetings of the whole Parliament or its committees is less straightforward 
than when all proceedings were conducted in person. Assuming virtual or 
hybrid proceedings continue to be used or continue to be an option as a 
format for parliamentary scrutiny, it is more challenging to define presence 
and participation. The ability to take part in meetings virtually does 
complicate matters as members could, in theory, log on, but say nothing 

Pack Page 31



18 

and do nothing at a meeting - and log on from anywhere in the world. This, 
in my view, does not constitute actively taking part in formal meetings.  
 
Possible measures of active participation include votes cast by a member, 
either remotely or in person. While this is certainly active participation in 
Chamber proceedings and easily measurable, would a member who only 
voted on motions and amendments for a prolonged period be considered to 
be actively participating in parliamentary proceedings? Actively 
participating in proceedings would in my view include speaking in Chamber 
debates and asking questions in committee evidence sessions. Members 
speaking in public committee or chamber proceedings is also an easily 
measurable reflection of participation, with every contribution recorded in 
the substantially verbatim record of proceedings, which is known as the 
Official Report. 
 
Another consideration is whether always attending virtually is sufficient for 
an MSP. Should a member be required to attend Chamber and/or 
committee proceedings in person, for example at least once every six 
months.? This consideration is of course dependant on the Parliament 
complex being open, which was not the case during periods of lockdown. 
 
It is clear to me that, in the modern era of virtual proceedings, a rule that 
requires in-person attendance for every meeting of a committee or of the 
whole Parliament is not a practicable option. On that basis I cannot 
absolutely mirror the provisions of section 35 of the 1973 Act. In addition, in 
introducing a process for removal from office based on participation, I 
consider there is scope to create a more nuanced approach to defining 
participation than the approach taken in the 1973 Act.  
 
For the purpose of generating discussion in responses on this issue, I am 
proposing that a member must, at least once every six months: 
 

• Attend chamber business or public committee business in person; 
• Lodge a written parliamentary question (if the member is not a 

Scottish Government minister); 
• Speak in public proceedings in committee or in the chamber; and 
• Vote on a motion or amendment in a meeting of the whole 

Parliament. 
 

Pack Page 32



19 

There may be other measurable ways of assessing whether a member of 
the Parliament is undertaking their duties at the Parliament and I am open 
to suggestions in responses to this consultation.  
 
Of course, taking an active part in proceedings at the Parliament is only 
one core element of the role of a parliamentarian. Constituency or regional 
work is another crucial element. An MSP who does not actively work in and 
represent their constituency or region cannot reasonably be considered to 
be fulfilling their role. Constituency work takes a wide variety of forms, 
including surgeries and casework and also visits to local schools, 
businesses etc to fully understand the nature of the needs of a constituency 
or region. 
 
I consider this element of an MSP’s role to be more challenging to measure 
in terms of tangible indicators that MSPs are fulfilling their role. There are 
rules in the Code of Conduct that enable people to formally complain where 
they do not consider their MSP is fulfilling their role in their constituency or 
region, for example there are rules on; 
 

• ensuring regional members undertake work in more than one of the 
constituencies in their region; and 

• ensuring members take on constituency casework where there are 
reasonable grounds for them to do so.  

 
In terms of complementary measures to sit alongside my Bill, it may be that 
the elements of the Code that relate to how MSPs represent their 
constituents in practice could be strengthened.15 However, I do not propose 
to bring forward changes to this element of the Code within this proposal, 
as this is a proposal for legislation. It is for the Standards, Procedures and 
Public Appointments Committee to review and recommend to Parliament 
changes to the Code wherever it considers changes necessary. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
15 See, for example, the requirement in Section 8(5) of the Code of Conduct for Members of the Scottish 
Parliament for regional MSPs to work in two or more constituencies in that region.  

Pack Page 33

https://www.parliament.scot/msps/code-of-conduct/section-8-engaging-with-constituents


20 

Process to require vacation of office 
 
Reasons for absence 
 
One key consideration in assessing how the removal process could work in 
practice is the need to be sensitive where an MSP has a valid reason for 
their absence and does not wish these personal details to become widely 
known. For example, if someone has a serious illness and it is entirely 
understandably their wish for their and their family’s privacy to be 
respected.  
 
Please note that in this respect and in relation to other provisions in this 
proposal I will be giving careful consideration to the data implications of the 
provisions of the Bill as they take shape. I will also be highlighting this 
consultation, including the specific areas where there may be data 
protection considerations, to the Information Commissioner’s Office to 
ensure detailed scrutiny of these matters from the outset. 
 
One feature of the system I am proposing, that would seek to ensure 
privacy where entirely justified, would be to ensure that wherever possible 
an MSP could have a pre-arranged leave of absence that is approved in 
advance by the Parliament and that this process could protect 
confidentiality. For example, a member could potentially be required to 
inform the Standards, Procedures and Public Appointments Committee on 
a confidential basis.  
 
A further feature could be to establish criteria that would be considered by 
Parliament to be a justified reason for a pre-arranged leave of absence (an 
obvious example being maternity leave). 
 
Where a member has not highlighted a leave of absence to Parliament, 
and they are deemed to have been inactive against an agreed set of 
measures for a period of six months, I propose that they should be 
removed from office. However, I consider that providing an MSP with a 
process, should they wish to use it, to explain the basis for their absence, 
would be a reasonable feature to factor into this process.  
 

Pack Page 34



21 

There are examples of this being a consideration in local government 
processes under section 35 of the 1973 Act. South Ayrshire Council’s 
Standing Orders state: 

 
“Subject to the provisions of Section 35 of the 1973 Act and Section 19 of 
the 2000 Act [Ethical Standards in Public Life (Scotland) Act], if a Councillor 
fails throughout a period of six consecutive months to attend any meeting 
of the Council, the Chief Executive will, unless such Councillor has 
been granted leave of absence by the Council, inform the Council who 
will consider whether the failure to attend was due to some reason 
approved by them and, if they are not satisfied as to the cause of 
such failure, that Councillor will cease to be a member of the Council.” 
[emphasis added] 

 
Where a member has been inactive in Parliament without prior agreement, 
the Standards, Procedures and Public Appointments Committee could be 
involved in taking representations from the member16.  In my view the 
presumption could be that the member is automatically removed from office 
unless they: 

 
a) seek to make representations to Parliament (for example to the 

SPPA Committee); 
b) are deemed from these representations to have an exceptional 

reason why their absence was justified; and 
c) are deemed from these representations to have an exceptional 

reason why they had not received prior approval. 
 

One further potential feature of such a system could be an element of 
independence to the process separate to politicians. For example, where a 
member wishes to make representations against the presumption of 
automatic removal, a small independent panel or similar body with 
independence of decision making could be appointed. This independent 
panel or body could then deliberate privately and make recommendations 
to the Parliament, for example to the SPPA Committee, on this matter.  

 
 

16 The SPPA Committee considers matters relating to member conduct, including reports from the 
Commissioner for Ethical Standards following formal complaints against MSPs. Other bodies within 
Parliament that could have a role in the process include the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body. 

Pack Page 35



22 

I note in making this suggestion the increasing number of parliaments and 
governments that have incorporated or are considering incorporating 
independent elements to their decision-making processes. This is to seek 
to ensure that political motivations are not an abiding factor in decision 
making.  

 
For example, the House of Commons Committee on Standards, which is 
responsible for considering reports from the relevant Commissioner on 
complaints against MPs has a membership that is  half MPs and half lay 
members (14 members in total).  

 
I consider there is merit in having an independent element to the process I 
am proposing and would welcome views on how this might operate in 
practice. 
 
Monitoring 
 
I propose that one model for monitoring participation could require 
Parliament staff to monitor members’ activity in parliamentary proceedings 
against whichever measure or measures are settled upon following the 
completion of the consultation. When the relevant persons identify that an 
MSP has not met the requirements that would represent active participation 
for the required period (for example six months), they would need to 
highlight this to the relevant authority in the Parliament. 
 
My intention would be that this monitoring would be done internally by 
SPCB-appointed impartial staff. This approach would seek to ensure all 
members are assessed equally and on a confidential basis. Under this 
proposed system for monitoring, there would be no role for external 
individuals to highlight perceived inactivity by a particular member as a 
trigger for the process for removal from office. This reduces the potential for 
politically motivated reporting of individuals. 
 
Timescales for vacation of office 
 
I would anticipate that, once a member has been confirmed as being 
inactive in terms of the measures set out in the proposal, and where they 

Pack Page 36



23 

have not had grounds acknowledged by the Parliament as justifying their 
absence, that their vacation of office would be immediate or would take 
place as soon as is practicable.   
 
Element two: removing an MSP from office for receiving a 
prison sentence 
 
As set out above, at present an MSP is automatically removed from office if 
they are sentenced to more than a year in prison. My Bill would introduce 
the automatic removal of an MSP if they are convicted of a crime and 
sentenced to a prison sentence, including of less than one year.  
 
In deciding on the exact period of prison sentence, there are a number of 
considerations: 
 

- Firstly, whether an individual convicted of a criminal offence should 
be able to hold public office at all,  

- Secondly, whether such an individual is entitled to be funded by 
taxpayers when they are in prison and not performing their role as a 
parliamentarian and  

- Thirdly, given the member’s constituents voted for someone to 
actively represent them throughout the parliamentary session, 
whether those constituents would be well served having an individual 
unable to visit and represent their constituency/region for a period of 
time. 

 
I am open to suggestions as to what the new lower minimum length of 
prison sentence should be that triggers automatic removal from office. My 
suggestion for the purpose of consultation is that the threshold should be 
lowered substantially. My suggestion is that a member should be required 
to vacate office if they are sentenced to any length of time in prison. 
 
Appeals 
 
The 2015 Act for MPs specifies that “a recall petition is triggered if an MP 
has been convicted of an offence and received a custodial sentence where 
the appeal period expires without the conviction, sentence or order having 
been overturned or all appeals have been heard and dismissed”. While I 
understand the need to ensure the potential for a conviction being 

Pack Page 37



24 

overturned is factored into any system, it strikes me that an appeals 
process could be lengthy and therefore a member who was guilty of the 
relevant offence could remain in office for an extended period of time 
during an appeals process. I would welcome views on this complex issue in 
response to the consultation. 
 
Process for replacement once an MSP has been removed from office 
under elements one or two of the proposed Bill 
 
Under the two elements of my proposal set out above, where a member is 
required to vacate their seat, the seat then immediately becomes vacant. I 
do not propose to make any changes to the process for replacing an MSP 
who has been removed from office.  
 
So, in the event of a constituency seat becoming vacant a by-election will 
be held unless there are less than six months to the next full Scottish 
Parliament Election. In the event of a regional list seat becoming vacant 
then, further to section 10 of the Scotland Act 1998, the regional returning 
officer will notify the Presiding Officer of the person from the party’s 
regional list who is to fill the vacancy (unless the vacating member was an 
independent member). In respect of a regional MSP vacating office, the 
process would be very quick and would not have any cost of any note 
associated with it. 
 
To avoid the same individual running for Parliament again having been 
removed from office, my proposal could also include provisions that prevent 
the individual in question being able to stand for Parliament for the 
remainder of the relevant parliamentary session. This would be on the 
grounds that they have been deemed to be unable or unsuitable, certainly 
in the short to medium term, of fulfilling the role of a parliamentarian. It 
would then be for a political party to consider whether this person should 
reasonably be considered for office again in future general elections 
through each party’s candidate selection processes. 
 
Convention rights 
 
 In order to be within legislative competence, Bill provisions must be 
compatible with Convention rights (section 29(2)(d) of the Scotland Act 
1998). As draft Bill provisions are developed to give effect to this proposal 
later on in the process they will be considered against any relevant 

Pack Page 38



25 

Convention rights.  For example, the right to free and fair elections in Article 
3 of Protocol 1 to the ECHR.  
 
Element three: Recall of MSPs 
 
A vote on a recall petition can be viewed as the consideration of whether a 
member of Parliament has done something sufficiently serious to warrant 
them having to seek re-election through a by-election. It provides the 
electorate with the opportunity to trigger such an election where a number 
of candidates can be considered for their respective merits, including the 
member who was the subject of the recall petition. 
 
As noted above, there are some situations where the actions of an MSP 
would, in my view, be sufficiently serious that the requirement to remove 
them from office would be clear-cut. In those circumstances there would be 
no need to seek the views of the electorate on whether a member should 
be allowed to continue in office through a recall system. However, a recall 
system might be used for MSPs for certain actions covered below.  
 
I wish to make clear that, in seeking to explore the potential of 
establishing a recall system, I absolutely appreciate that the potential 
to introduce a recall system tailored to the Scottish Parliament has 
been deliberated on by academics and politicians amongst others 
before now. No workable model has ever been identified as far as I am 
aware. I am therefore realistic about the scale of the challenge in 
seeking to establish such a model. This is far from straightforward 
given the complexity of applying recall to the regional list system.  
 
Any recall system would need to include processes that treat 
constituency and regional members equally. This is what makes 
designing it so difficult. 
 
What could trigger a recall petition? 
 
As set out in the background section, there are sanctions under the existing 
standards regime where MSPs are found not to have complied with the 
rules of the Code of Conduct for MSPs.  
 
I consider that appropriate triggers for a recall petition could be: 
 

Pack Page 39



26 

• where the sanctions imposed by Parliament are sufficiently serious 
reflecting a serious breach of conduct by an MSP, or  

• where fines are imposed on an MSP as a result of criminal 
proceedings, then these may be the appropriate trigger for a recall 
petition. 

 
I am suggesting, for the purposes of consultation, that where a member 
receives one or more of the following sanctions, a recall petition could 
automatically be triggered: 
 

• Excluded from proceedings of the Parliament for 10 parliamentary 
sitting days or more; 

• Fined, as a result of court proceedings, any amount up to the 
maximum fine on level 5 of the standard scale (£10,000). 

In setting thresholds for the sanction of exclusion from parliamentary 
proceedings, I am proposing the threshold of at least 10 sitting days as the 
trigger for recall. This mirrors, to a degree, the terms of the Recall of MPs  
Act 2015 but I am open to arguments for different thresholds being set.  
 
How could the recall process for MSPs work in practice? 
 
I consider that a number of elements of my proposal for the recall process 
could usefully mirror the processes established under the UK Act. This 
includes the key roles of the Presiding Officer (as opposed to the Speaker 
at the House of Commons), the relevant local authority and the Electoral 
Commission. Specifically, I suggest the following elements of a process in 
Scotland that could potentially mirror the process under the Recall of MPs 
Act 2015: 
 

• the Presiding Officer informing a petition officer that one of the 
criteria for a recall petition has been met; 

 
• the petition officer would be the returning officer for the relevant 

constituency or region and would be responsible for identifying 
signing locations (similar to polling stations); 

 
• The petition officer would open a petition (unless a member vacates 

their seat, there is already a petition open or there is a parliamentary 
election in the next six months); 

Pack Page 40



27 

 
• The petition would run for a set period unless there is an early 

general election or the MSP vacates their seat; 
 

• Votes can be made by post or by proxy as in elections; 
 

• The petition officer would notify electors that a recall petition is open 
and amongst other roles is responsible for notifying electors who can 
sign the petition; 

 
• The Electoral Commission would oversee the process, including the 

rules regarding how much campaigners can spend on a petition 
campaign and the process for receiving donations. 

 
How could recall work for constituency and regional MSPs 
respectively? 
 
The recall system used by the UK Parliament, and many of the other 
international recall processes set out in information from SPICe work on the 
basis that should a recall petition receive a sufficient amount of support 
within a constituency (10% of eligible voters for MPs) then this would 
trigger a by-election. This model could be used for MSPs who hold 
constituency seats. Elections to constituency seats for the Scottish 
Parliament use the first-past-the-post system, and this system is also used 
for all members elected to the House of Commons and in numerous other 
legislatures. 
 
How a recall system would work for MSPs in seats gained using the 
regional list system is a much more complex consideration. All regional 
members are elected at the general election through a system of 
proportional representation based on a variation of the D’Hondt formula17. 
At present, if a regional member leaves the Scottish Parliament for any 
reason, then the relevant returning officer confirms who the next person on 
the regional list is to the Presiding Officer and that individual becomes an 
MSP. Therefore, while it is possible to envisage how a recall petition could 
be run across a region, it is challenging to establish how the member, and 
other candidates seeking election to their seat could compete in any form 
of by-election. 

 
17 Electoral Commission guide to elections to regional seats 

Pack Page 41

https://www.grahamsimpson.org.uk/spice-research-briefing
https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.electoralcommission.org.uk%2Fsites%2Fdefault%2Ffiles%2Fword_doc%2FSP-Region-Allocation-of-seats.doc&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK


28 

 
In considering this problem, I have considered a range of international 
approaches. I have identified elements of the approaches adopted in 
California, Colorado and Japan that have features that could be worth 
considering in devising a Scottish system.  
 
The National Conference of State Legislatures in the United States of 
America sets out that: 
 
“In California and Colorado, the ballot includes two questions. The first 
question is whether the official should be recalled. Voters are then asked to 
vote for a candidate for the office. The official who is the subject of the 
recall may not be among the listed candidates. If a majority votes "yes" on 
the recall question, then the incumbent is recalled and the successor is 
elected via the second part of the ballot. If a majority votes "no" on the 
recall question, the incumbent remains in office and the second portion of 
the ballot is moot”18 
 
Recall has been successful twice in Colorado, both in 2013. There were 
two successful recalls of two State legislators, John Morse and Angela 
Giron, over gun control. This was the first time that State Senators had 
been recalled. 19 
 
In California, there have been two attempts to recall Governors, in 2003 
and 2021. The 2021 attempt was unsuccessful. However, the 2003 
Gubernatorial recall attempt was successful, with Governor Gray Davis 
being recalled and replaced by Arnold Schwarzenegger.20 
 
For a single ballot including two questions to have any potential to work in 
Scotland, it would, in my view, need to be altered to reflect the regional 
system. Specifically, the first question could need to have a threshold set 
for required support for a regional petition comparable to any for 
constituency MSPs. The second question on any ballot could need to 
include the MSP who is the subject of the recall and the name of the 
candidate at the top of the regional list who would replace that MSP. In 
other words, the electorate could have a choice of candidates to elect and 

 
18 Recall of State Officials (ncsl.org) 
19 Recall of State Officials (ncsl.org) 
20 Recall of State Officials (ncsl.org) 

Pack Page 42

https://www.ncsl.org/research/elections-and-campaigns/recall-of-state-officials.aspx
https://www.ncsl.org/research/elections-and-campaigns/recall-of-state-officials.aspx
https://www.ncsl.org/research/elections-and-campaigns/recall-of-state-officials.aspx


29 

the MSP subject to recall would have the right to seek re-election (as would 
be the case for a constituency MSP). However, both of these candidates 
 
would be from the same political party and I appreciate this is a limitation to 
a model of this kind. One of a number of other considerations would be 
what would happen using this approach if the regional member subject to 
recall was an independent MSP. This is the beginnings of one potential 
approach that I have identified based on my analysis of a variety of 
international examples of recall systems.  
 
One other relevant consideration in seeking to devise an equitable system 
is whether the percentage of required support for a recall petition should be 
the same across a region as for a constituency or whether these 
percentages should be distinct. 
 
In Japan, there are distinct thresholds of required support for recall for 
different sizes of constituencies21. This is also the case in California where 
different periods of time are also allowed for different recall petitions in 
recognition of the different sizes of the areas in question. Specifically: 
 

• Time for gathering signatures is 40 to 160 days 
(depending on the size of the jurisdiction). 

• Signature requirement varies according to the number 
of registered voters in the jurisdiction:  30% if 
registration is less than 1,000; 25% if registration is 
between 1,000 and 9,999; 20% if registration is 
between 10,000 and 49,999; 15% if registration is 
between 50,000 and 99,999; 10% if registration is 
100,000 and above.22 

 
It may be that different percentages thresholds could be required for 
different areas in Scotland. For example, one option might be, distinct 
thresholds being  required for constituency and  regional MSPs 
respectively, as opposed to requiring different thresholds based on 
population within a particular area. Finally, it might be useful to consider 
allowing different lengths of time for recall petitions to be open, depending 

 
21 National Referendum and Popular Sovereignty in Japan (cwsl.edu) 
22 Recall of State Officials (ncsl.org) 

Pack Page 43

https://scholarlycommons.law.cwsl.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1568&context=cwilj
https://www.ncsl.org/research/elections-and-campaigns/recall-of-state-officials.aspx


30 

on whether the member potentially being recalled is a constituency or a 
regional MSP. 
 
I would welcome views on all of these issues in response to my 
consultation, including references to other international examples that I  
might not have considered. 

Pack Page 44



31 

Financial Implications 
There are not expected to be any notable financial costs as a result of this 
legislation.  
 
In relation to recall the proposal above envisages that the process for a 
recall petition would most likely operate in a similar way for MSPs as for 
MPs under the recall Act 2015. Specifically, the electoral commission’s role 
and the petition officer (the returning officer for the relevant constituency or 
region) would mirror those in the Recall of MPs Act 2015.23 
 
Where a member is removed from office, either as a result of recall or due 
to removal under elements one or two of my proposal, the process to be 
triggered for a constituency member would result in a by-election. Costs 
would primarily fall on the Electoral Commission, the relevant local 
authority and the political parties with candidates in the by-election. In 
relation to costs on the public purse, the Electoral Commission and local 
authority costs are the main costs to be considered. 
 
As an example of potential cost for a constituency by-election, for the 
August 2019 Shetland by-election, the cost to Shetland Islands Council of 
running the was reimbursed by the Scottish Government. The cost t was 
£63,704.92. 

 
23 Introduction to the Recall of MPs Act 2015 (electoralcommission.org.uk) 

Pack Page 45

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-05/Recall%20Act%20-%20initial%20factsheet%20-%20amended%20April%202021.pdf


32 

  
For the replacement of a list member, as noted above, there would be no 
costs where a regional MSP automatically has to vacate their seat as they 
would simply be replaced by the next person on the relevant party’s 
regional list. The cost of the replacement of a regional list member through 
the recall process would be dependent on the model adopted. Given that I 
am seeking views on the most appropriate model, I think that it is too early 
to provide a range of estimated costs for this process. 
 
The potential financial implications of the specific process to be followed 
where Parliament requires to consider whether a member should 
automatically be removed from office can be established once the specifics 
of the process have taken shape informed by insights from the consultation 
process. For example, should the final proposal that forms the basis for a 
bill include an independent panel to deliberate on any matters (as 
suggested above as an option) then there would be costs associated with 
employing such a panel, presumably on a daily basis. There may also be 
a cost associated with Parliament staff monitoring whether members have 
 been active in terms of the measures set out in my final proposal. 
However, I would not anticipate these or other costs related to Parliament 
staff time to be notable, for example it would not in my view justify an 
additional member of staff. 
 

Equalities  
In setting conditions that members would be required to fulfil to 
demonstrate active participation, criteria should not impact 
disproportionately on any particular individual. For example, some MSPs 
may also be carers for relatives or making attending Parliament in person 
more challenging. 

In addition, if someone was required to disclose details of a medical 
condition, including one linked to a protected characteristic, in order to 
justify an absence from Parliament, this element of the proposal would 
need to be sensitively designed. This condition might be a physical one 
such as recovering from an operation, receiving ongoing treatment for a 
medical condition, or long term mental ill health. The capacity for any 
process to cause additional distress must be considered to ensure it is 
designed and works in a proportionate way. 

Pack Page 46



33 

I aim to mitigate any potential negative impact and am seeking options to 
ensure that the personal data of the member can be as protected as much 
as possible to prevent any unnecessary distress to them or their families.  

Data protection 
As mentioned earlier, data protection issues will also be a key 
consideration in relation to this part of my proposal and I will seek to 
navigate the development of the detail of the policy to ensure privacy is 
protected wherever required and data is only collected where necessary for 
the purpose of the processes this bill would establish. I intend to inform the 
Information Commissioner on publication of this document to ensure GDPR 
considerations are a focus from the start. 

Sustainability 
Principles of sustainable development include: ensuring a strong, healthy 
and just society; and promoting effective, participative systems of 
governance 
 
MSPs are elected to office by the public and part of their duties is to 
represent the rights and wellbeing of their constituents. If an MSP is absent 
for a continued long period of time, then this will affect the ability of 
constituents to consult them. It means that any issues directly affecting the 
constituency cannot be taken forward to be highlighted in Parliament by 
said Member. My proposed Bill would help move towards ensuring that 
where a member cannot or is not performing their duties then they are 
removed from office and replaced quickly. This is to ensure that 
constituents have access to their elected representative. 

In addition, MSPs are part of the valuable link between local community 
discussions and decision making and decision making at a national level. 
On that basis ensuring MSPs are working regularly enables this link to the 
community to be as constant and valuable as possible. 
The proposed Bill should also be viewed as a positive move for the 
Parliament and democracy as it may improve transparency and trust in 
politicians if it is seen that they are subject to effective sanctions, for 
example for failing to actively participate in formal parliamentary 
proceedings. 

Pack Page 47



34 

Questions 
About you 
(Note: Information entered in this “About You” section may be published 
with your response (unless it is “not for publication”), except where 
indicated in bold.) 
 
1.  Are you responding as: 

  an individual – in which case go to Q2A  
  on behalf of an organisation? – in which case go to Q2B 

 
2A.  Which of the following best describes you? (If you are a professional 

or academic, but not in a subject relevant to the consultation, please 
choose “Member of the public”.) 
  Politician (MSP/MP/peer/MEP/Councillor) 
  Professional with experience in a relevant subject  
  Academic with expertise in a relevant subject 
  Member of the public 

 
Optional: You may wish to explain briefly what expertise or 
experience you have that is relevant to the subject-matter of the 
consultation:  

 
2B.  Please select the category which best describes your organisation: 

  Public sector body (Scottish/UK Government or agency, local 
authority, NDPB) 

  Commercial organisation (company, business) 
  Representative organisation (trade union, professional 

association)  
  Third sector (charitable, campaigning, social enterprise, 

voluntary, non-profit)  
  Other (e.g. clubs, local groups, groups of individuals, etc.) 

 
Optional: You may wish to explain briefly what the organisation does, 
its experience and expertise in the subject-matter of the consultation, 
and how the view expressed in the response was arrived at (e.g. 
whether it is the view of particular office-holders or has been 
approved by the membership as a whole).  

 

Pack Page 48



35 

3.  Please choose one of the following: 
 

  I am content for this response to be published and attributed to 
me or my organisation 

   I would like this response to be published anonymously  
  I would like this response to be considered, but not published 

(“not for publication”) 
 
If you have requested anonymity or asked for your response not to be 
published, please give a reason. (Note: your reason will not be 
published.) 
 

   

 
4.   Please provide your name or the name of your organisation. (Note: 

The name will not be published if you have asked for the 
response to be anonymous or “not for publication”.)  

 
Name:   

 
Please provide a way in which we can contact you if there are queries 
regarding your response. Email is preferred but you can also provide 
a postal address or phone number. (Note: We will not publish 
these contact details.) 
 

Contact details:   

 
5. Data protection declaration  
 

  I confirm that I have read and understood the Privacy Notice  
 to this consultation which explains how my personal data will be 

used.  
      

If you are under 12 and making a submission, we will need to contact 
you to ask your parent or guardian to confirm to us that they are 
happy for you to send us your views.  

Pack Page 49

https://www.parliament.scot/about/information-rights/data-protection/privacy-notices/ngbu-members-bill-consultations


36 

 
  Please tick this box if you are under 12 years of age. 

 
 

Your views on the proposal 
Note: All answers to the questions in this section may be published (unless 
your response is “not for publication”). 

Aim and approach 
 
1. Which of the following best expresses your view of the proposed 
 Bill?  Please note that this question is compulsory. 
 

  Fully supportive  
  Partially supportive  
  Neutral (neither support nor oppose)  
  Partially opposed  
  Fully opposed  
  Unsure 

 
Please explain the reasons for your response. 

   

 
2. Do you think legislation is required, or are there are other ways in 

which the proposed Bill’s aims could be achieved more effectively? 
Please explain the reasons for your response. 

   

 
3.   What are your views on the proposal to remove MSPs from office if 
 they do not participate sufficiently in parliamentary proceedings?  
 

  Fully supportive  
  Partially supportive  
  Neutral (neither support nor oppose)  
  Partially opposed  
  Fully opposed  
  Skip to next question 

Pack Page 50



37 

 
Please explain the reasons for your response. Please include your 

 views on: what constitutes sufficient participation, how the process for 
 removing an MSP from office should work in practice where they are 
 not sufficiently active for a period of, for example, six months (see 
 detail of consultation document under element one of the proposal for 
 background on this question). 
 

   

 
4.   What is your view on the proposal that receiving a prison sentence is 
 an  appropriate trigger for an MSP to be automatically removed 
 from office? 
 

  Fully supportive  
  Partially supportive  
  Neutral (neither support nor oppose)  
  Partially opposed  
  Fully opposed  
  Skip to next question 
 
Please explain the reasons for your response, including detailing how 

 long you consider a minimum prison sentence should be to trigger the 
 automatic removal. 

   

 
5.    What is your view on the proposal that an individual who is removed 
 as an MSP under these proposals, either through insufficient  
 participation or being sentenced to a particular period in prison,  
 should be unable to stand as an MSP again for the rest of the      
 relevant parliamentary session? 
 

  Fully supportive  
  Partially supportive  
  Neutral (neither support nor oppose)  
  Partially opposed  
  Fully opposed  
  Skip to next question 

Pack Page 51



38 

 
Please explain the reasons for your response 

   

 
6.   What is your view on the proposal to introduce  a system of recall for 

MSPs? 
 

  Fully supportive  
  Partially supportive  
  Neutral (neither support nor oppose)  
  Partially opposed  
  Fully opposed  
  Skip to next question 

 
Please explain the reasons for your response, including how you 
would envisage such a system working in practice, for members 
elected under the regional list system and for constituency members 
elected under the first past the post system. 

   

 
7 What is your view on the proposal that, where an MSP has been 
 given a prison sentence,  they should only be removed from office 
 once any appeal process they pursue has concluded? 
 

  Fully supportive  
  Partially supportive  
  Neutral (neither support nor oppose)  
  Partially opposed  
  Fully opposed  
  Skip to next question 

 
Please explain the reasons for your response, including commenting 
on the alternative option where an MSP given a prison sentence 
would be removed from office as soon as they are sentenced, as 
opposed to awaiting the completion of an appeals process. 
 

Pack Page 52



39 

   

 

Financial implications 
 

8 Taking into account all those likely to be affected (including public 
sector bodies, businesses and individuals etc), is the proposed Bill 
likely to lead to: 

 
 a significant increase in costs 
 some increase in costs 
 no overall change in costs 
 some reduction in costs 
 a significant reduction in costs 
 skip to next question 
 
Please indicate where you would expect the impact identified to fall 
(including public sector bodies, businesses and individuals etc).  You 
may also wish to suggest ways in which the aims of the Bill could be 
delivered more cost-effectively. 

   

Equalities  
 

9. What overall impact is the proposed Bill likely to have on equality, 
taking account of the following protected characteristics (under the 
Equality Act 2010): age, disability, gender re-assignment, marriage 
and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, 
sex, sexual orientation?  

  
  Positive  
  Slightly positive  
  Neutral (neither positive nor negative) 
  Slightly negative  
  Negative  
  Skip to next question 
 

Pack Page 53



40 

Please explain the reasons for your response.  Where any negative 
impacts are identified, you may also wish to suggest ways in which 
these could be minimised or avoided.  

   

 

Sustainability 
 
10. In terms of assessing the proposed Bill’s potential impact on 

sustainable development, you may wish to consider how it relates to 
the following principles: 

 
• living within environmental limits 
• ensuring a strong, healthy and just society 
• achieving a sustainable economy 
• promoting effective, participative systems of governance 
• ensuring policy is developed on the basis of strong scientific 

evidence. 
 

With these principles in mind, do you consider that the Bill can be 
delivered sustainably?  
 
  Yes  
  No  
  Skip to next question 

 
Please explain the reasons for your response. 

   

 

General 
 
11. Do you have any other additional comments or suggestions on the 

proposed Bill (which have not already been covered in any of your 
responses to earlier questions)? 

 
   

Pack Page 54



41 

 
 

 
 

Pack Page 55



42 

How to respond to this consultation 
 

You are invited to respond to this consultation by answering the questions 
in the consultation and by adding any other comments that you consider 
appropriate.  

Format of responses 
 
You are encouraged to submit your response via an online survey (Smart 
Survey) if possible, as this is quicker and more efficient both for you and 
the Parliament.  However, if you do not have online access, or prefer not to 
use Smart Survey, you may also respond by e-mail or in hard copy. 
 
Online survey 
To respond via online survey, please follow this link: 
 https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/RemovalfromOffice/ 
 
The platform for the online survey is Smart Survey, a third party online 
survey system enabling the SPCB to collect responses to MSP 
consultations. Smart Survey is based in the UK and is subject to the 
requirements of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and any 
other applicable data protection legislation. Any information you send in 
response to this consultation (including personal data) will be seen by the 
MSP progressing the Bill and by staff in NGBU. 
 
Further information on the handling of your data can be found in the 
Privacy Notice, which is available either via the Smart Survey link above or 
here Privacy Notice. 
 
Smart Survey’s privacy policy is available here:   
https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/privacy-policy 
 
Electronic or hard copy submissions 
Responses not made via Smart Survey should, if possible, be prepared 
electronically (preferably in MS Word). Please keep formatting of this 
document to a minimum. Please send the document by e-mail (as an 
attachment, rather than in the body of the e-mail) to: 

graham.simpson.msp@parliament.scot 
 

Pack Page 56

https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/RemovalfromOffice/
https://www.parliament.scot/about/information-rights/data-protection/privacy-notices/ngbu-members-bill-consultations
https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/privacy-policy
mailto:graham.simpson.msp@parliament.scot


43 

 
Responses prepared in hard copy should either be scanned and sent as an 
attachment to the above e-mail address or sent by post to: 
 

Graham Simpson MSP 
Room 3.14 
Scottish Parliament 
Edinburgh EH99 1SP 
 

Responses submitted by e-mail or hard copy may be entered into Smart 
Survey by my office or by NGBU. 
 
If submitting a response by e-mail or hard copy, please include written 
confirmation that you have read and understood the Privacy Notice (set out 
below). 
 
You may also contact my office by telephone on (0131) 348 6983. 

Deadline for responses 
 
All responses should be received no later than 13 April 2022.  Please let 
me know in advance of this deadline if you anticipate difficulties meeting it.  
Responses received after the consultation has closed will not be included 
in any summary of responses that is prepared. 

How responses are handled 
 
To help inform debate on the matters covered by this consultation and in 
the interests of openness, please be aware that I would normally expect to 
publish all responses received (other than “not for publication” responses) 
on my website  https://www.grahamsimpson.org.uk/consultation-responses 
 
Published responses (other than anonymous responses) will include the 
name of the respondent, but other personal data sent with the response 
(including signatures, addresses and contact details) will not be published.   
 
Where responses include content considered to be offensive, defamatory 
or irrelevant, my office may contact you to agree changes to the content, or 
may edit the content itself and publish a redacted version.  
 

Pack Page 57

https://www.parliament.scot/about/information-rights/data-protection/privacy-notices/ngbu-members-bill-consultations
https://www.grahamsimpson.org.uk/consultation-responses


44 

Copies of all responses will be provided to the Scottish Parliament’s Non-
Government Bills Unit (NGBU), so it can prepare a summary that I may 
then lodge with a final proposal (the next stage in the process of securing 
the right to introduce a Member’s Bill). The Privacy Notice explains more 
about how the Parliament will handle your response.  
 
If I lodge a final proposal, I will be obliged to provide copies of responses 
(other than “not for publication” responses) to the Scottish Parliament’s 
Information Centre (SPICe). SPICe may make responses available to 
MSPs or staff on request.  
 

Requests for anonymity or for responses not to be 
published 
 
If you wish your response to be treated as anonymous or “not for 
publication”, please indicate this clearly.  The Privacy Notice explains how 
such responses will be handled. 
 

Other exceptions to publication 
 
Where a large number of submissions is received, particularly if they are in 
very similar terms, it may not be practical or appropriate to publish them all 
individually.  One option may be to publish the text only once, together with 
a list of the names of those making that response.  
 
There may also be legal reasons for not publishing some or all of a 
response – for example, if it contains irrelevant, offensive or defamatory 
content. If I think your response contains such content, it may be returned 
to you with an invitation to provide a justification for the content or to edit or 
remove it.  Alternatively, I may publish it with the content edited or 
removed, or I may disregard the response and destroy it.  
 

Data Protection  
 
As an MSP, I must comply with the requirements of the General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR) and other data protection legislation which 
places certain obligations on me when I process personal data. As stated 

Pack Page 58

https://www.parliament.scot/about/information-rights/data-protection/privacy-notices/members-bill-consultations
https://www.parliament.scot/about/information-rights/data-protection/privacy-notices/ngbu-members-bill-consultations


45 

above, I will normally publish your response in full, together with your 
name, unless you request anonymity or ask for it not to be published. I will 
not publish your signature or personal contact information. The Privacy 
Notice sets out in more detail what this means. 
 
I may also edit any part of your response which I think could identify a third 
party, unless that person has provided consent for me to publish it. If you 
wish me to publish information that could identify a third party, you should 
obtain that person’s consent in writing and include it with your submission. 
 
If you consider that your response may raise any other issues under the 
GDPR or other data protection legislation and wish to discuss this further, 
please contact me before you submit your response.  Further information 
about data protection can be found at: www.ico.gov.uk. 
 

Freedom of  Information (Scotland) Act 2002 
 
As indicated above, NGBU may have access to information included in, or 
provided with, your response that I would not normally publish (such as 
confidential content, or your contact details).  Any such information held by 
the Parliament is subject to the requirements of the FOISA. So if the 
information is requested by third parties the Scottish Parliament must 
consider the request and may have to provide the information unless the 
information falls within one of the exemptions set out in the Act.  I cannot 
therefore guarantee that any such information you send me will not be 
made public should it be requested under FOISA. 
 
Further information about Freedom of Information can be found at: 
 
www.itspublicknowledge.info. 

Pack Page 59

https://www.parliament.scot/about/information-rights/data-protection/privacy-notices/ngbu-members-bill-consultations
https://www.parliament.scot/about/information-rights/data-protection/privacy-notices/ngbu-members-bill-consultations
http://www.ico.gov.uk/
http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/


1 
 

Proposed Removal from Office and Recall 
(Members of the Scottish Parliament) Bill – 
Graham Simpson MSP 

Summary of Consultation Responses 
 
This document summarises and analyses the responses to a consultation 
exercise carried out on the above proposal.   
 
The background to the proposal is set out in section 1, while section 2 gives 
an overview of the results.  A detailed analysis of the responses to the 
consultation questions is given in section 3.  These three sections have been 
prepared by the Scottish Parliament’s Non-Government Bills Unit (NGBU). 
Section 4 has been prepared by Graham Simpson MSP and includes his 
commentary on the results of the consultation.   
 
Where respondents have requested that certain information be treated as “not 
for publication”, or that the response remain anonymous, these requests have 
been respected in this summary.  
 
In some places, the summary includes quantitative data about responses, 
including numbers and proportions of respondents who have indicated 
support for, or opposition to, the proposal (or particular aspects of it).  In 
interpreting this data, it should be borne in mind that respondents are self-
selecting and it should not be assumed that their individual or collective views 
are representative of wider stakeholder or public opinion.  The principal aim of 
the document is to identify the main points made by respondents, giving 
weight in particular to those supported by arguments and evidence and those 
from respondents with relevant experience and expertise.  A consultation is 
not an opinion poll, and the best arguments may not be those that obtain 
majority support.  
 
Copies of the individual responses are available on the following website: 
www.grahamsimpson.org.uk. All responses have an allocated number and an 
additional Smart Survey identification (SS ID) number listed. 
 
A list of respondents is set out in the Annexe.  
 
 
 

Pack Page 60

http://www.grahamsimpson.org.uk/


2 
 

Section 1:  Introduction and Background 
 
Graham Simpson’s draft proposal, lodged on 19 January 2022, is for a Bill to: 
 

introduce new measures on removing an MSP from office, including 
additional grounds for removal and new processes for removal, such 
as recall.  Proposed new grounds for removal include where an MSP 
does not participate in parliamentary proceedings for a given period 
without valid reason or receives a prison sentence lower than the 
current threshold for automatic removal.   

 
The proposal was accompanied by a consultation document, prepared with 
the assistance of NGBU.  This document was published on the Parliament’s 
website, from where it remains accessible:  
 
Proposed Removal from Office and Recall Scottish Parliament Bill | Scottish 
Parliament Website 
 
The consultation period ran from 20 January 2022 to 13 April 2022.  
 
The following organisations and individuals were sent copies of the 
consultation document or links to it:  

• All MSPs 

• All council returning officers 

• All local authority chief executives  

• 28 academics 

• 6 think tanks 

• 3 election bodies 

• 3 research organisations 

• 2 pressure groups 

• 2 campaign organisations 

• 2 university bodies 

• 1 intergovernmental organisation 

• 1 commissioner 

• 1 global civil society organisation 

• 1 professional organisation 
 
The consultation was promoted by Graham Simpson in the following ways: 

• press releases issued by Graham Simpson’s parliamentary office and 
the Scottish Conservative press team 

• on Graham Simpson’s social media pages (Facebook, Twitter and 
Instagram)  

• on the Scottish Conservatives’ social media channels.  
 
The consultation exercise was run by Graham Simpson’s parliamentary office. 
 
The consultation process is part of the procedure that MSPs must follow in 
order to obtain the right to introduce a Member’s Bill.  Further information 

Pack Page 61

https://www.parliament.scot/bills-and-laws/proposals-for-bills/proposed-removal-from-office-and-recall-scottish-parliament-bill
https://www.parliament.scot/bills-and-laws/proposals-for-bills/proposed-removal-from-office-and-recall-scottish-parliament-bill


3 
 

about the procedure can be found in the Parliament’s standing orders (see 
Rule 9.14) and in the Guidance on Public Bills, both of which are available on 
the Parliament’s website: 

• Standing orders (Chapter 9): Standing Orders | Scottish Parliament 
Website 

• Guidance (Part 3): https://www.parliament.scot/about/how-parliament-
works/parliament-rules-and-guidance/guidance-on-public-Bills?qry=*  

  

Pack Page 62

https://www.parliament.scot/about/how-parliament-works/parliament-rules-and-guidance/standing-orders
https://www.parliament.scot/about/how-parliament-works/parliament-rules-and-guidance/standing-orders
https://www.parliament.scot/about/how-parliament-works/parliament-rules-and-guidance/guidance-on-public-bills?qry=*
https://www.parliament.scot/about/how-parliament-works/parliament-rules-and-guidance/guidance-on-public-bills?qry=*


4 
 

Section 2: Overview of Responses 
 
In total, 128 responses were received, all of which were submitted via Smart 
Survey.  
 
The responses can be categorized as follows: 

• 1 (1%) from public sector organisation (The Electoral Management 
Board for Scotland)  

• 4 (3%) from individual politicians (two MSPs, a councillor and an 
anonymous politician)  

• 4 (3%) from academics with expertise in a relevant subject 

• 5 (3%) from professionals who self-selected that they had experience 
in a relevant subject area 

• 114 (89%) from private individuals (members of the public) 
 
Of those responses: 

• 35 (27%) were anonymous submissions 

• 22 (17%) of submissions were “not for publication”. 
 
The vast majority of responses (92%) were supportive of the proposed Bill, 
while only 5% were opposed. 
 
The proposals seek to create processes for the removal of MSPs who fail to 
participate sufficiently in formal parliamentary proceedings, are imprisoned, or 
receive serious sanctions for breaching parliamentary rules. On the whole, the 
majority of respondents agreed with the general policy behind the proposed 
Bill and each of the three elements of the draft Bill proposals as set out in the 
consultation document: To— 

• Enable an MSP to be removed from office automatically due to a lack 
of active participation in proceedings at Parliament, unless there was a 
valid reason provided in advance (such as maternity leave or ill health); 

• Strengthen the current disqualification provisions where an MSP is 
sentenced to prison. At present, MSPs are automatically removed from 
office following receipt of a prison sentence of one year or more. The 
proposed legislation would expand this provision, meaning an MSP 
would be automatically removed from office when sentenced to prison 
for one year or less;  

• Establish a system of recall for MSPs – a system which would enable 
the electorate in a certain area to trigger a special election to remove 
one of their elected representatives before the end of their term where 
certain conditions are met. 

 
Although strong support was expressed for the measures included in the 
proposed legislation, some practical challenges were highlighted including the 
challenge of measuring what constitutes effective participation in 
parliamentary proceedings and the feasibility of establishing a system of recall 
given the proportional representation electoral system used for Scottish 
Parliamentary elections of regional MSPs. 

Pack Page 63



5 
 

Disclaimer 
 
Note that the inclusion of a claim or argument made by a respondent in this 
summary should not be interpreted as verification of the claim or as 
endorsement of the argument by the Non-Government Bills Unit. 
 

Pack Page 64



6 
 

Section 3: Responses to Consultation Questions 
 
This section sets out an overview of responses to each question in the 
consultation document. 

Aim and approach of  proposed Bill 
 
Section 1 of the consultation document outlined the aim of the proposed Bill 
and what it would involve.  Respondents were asked: 

Question 1: Which of  the following best expresses 
your view of  the proposed Bill (Fully supportive / 
Partially supportive / etc.)?  Please explain the 
reasons for your response. 
 
This question was compulsory and answered by all 128 respondents.  
 
A large majority of respondents (80%) were fully supportive of the proposed 
Bill. A further 12% were partially supportive of the proposals, while 2% were 
partially opposed and 3% fully opposed. Four respondents (3%) responded 
that they held a neutral view of the proposals, including the sole organisation 
to respond, the Electoral Management Board for Scotland (EMB), which noted 
that this response reflected that it was not within the remit of the EMB to take 
a view in support or opposition of policy matters. 

Reasons for supporting the proposed Bill 
 
Fully supportive 
 
Of the majority of respondents to the consultation who were fully supportive of 
the proposals, there was broad support for the introduction of a mechanism by 
which an MSP could be removed from post, either for failure to attend 
Parliamentary proceedings or for being otherwise deemed unfit to remain in 
their position.  
 
Various respondents to this question expressed broad, general support for the 
Bill proposal rather than reference to the individual elements of the Bill 
proposal as set out in the consultation document, with comments including: 
“The Bill makes very good sense and should be made law” (Pamela Dalby, 
SS ID: 186141033); “It’s long overdue” (Alexander Faulds, SS ID: 
183058410); “It is the right thing to” (SS ID: 189132038) and “It is a great 
idea.” (SS ID: 183016691). 
 
Of those who gave specific reasons for supporting the proposals, the key 
themes included: 
 

Pack Page 65

https://www.parliament.scot/-/media/files/legislation/proposed-members-bills/final-consultation-document-signed-off-by-gs.pdf


7 
 

• That attendance at Holyrood should be considered a key measure of 
participation and that it is unfair for Members to remain in post while 
not taking part in proceedings.  

• Comparisons with other workplaces and expectations placed on 
employees. 

• The importance of accountability and of elected representatives 
upholding standards of public life. 

• A recent incident where a former MSP (Derek Mackay) did not attend 
Holyrood for a significant period of time while remaining an MSP. 

• That criminal behaviour should be punished, including through 
removal from office. 

• The lack of certain systems by which to remove MSPs from post for 
certain reasons and the perceived risk of abuse of the parliamentary 
system. 

 
It was suggested by some respondents that the current lack of mechanism to 
remove an MSP from office in instances where that MSP is believed to have 
failed to uphold expected standards in public life had the consequence of 
bringing the Parliament and the work of parliamentarians into disrepute 
(Richard Saunders, SS ID: 183015258). This view was expressed by 
individual respondent, Ross Lambie, who stated: 
 

“It brings the Scottish Parliament as an institution into disrepute when 
the behaviour of an elected member falls significantly below the 
standard expected and is allowed to remain in post.” (SS ID: 
183927064).  

 
Accountability was referred to, with various respondents suggesting that the 
proposed Bill presented an opportunity to better hold MSPs to account: 
 

“It is well beyond time that elected politicians are held to account for 
their actions. In any other job, proper disciplinary proceedings would 
see that any employee not doing their job or committing an offence, 
would be properly disciplined / dismissed. Politicians should be no 
different.” (SS ID: 183029207) 
 
“I believe the proposed legislation would improve accountability and 
quality of representation , there is a body of evidence the Holyrood 
Parliament lack people of wider industry and real life experience , there 
are too many MSP treating their parliamentary seat as a sinecure.” 
(James J McCall, SS ID: 188864152) 

 
“MPs need to be accountable for their behaviour and actions.” 
(Alexander David Malcolm, SS ID: 183034666) 

 
Aspects of the first element of the draft Bill proposal relating to a lack of 
participation and attendance at Parliament were considered in respondents’ 
comments and the recent example of former Cabinet Secretary for Finance 
and the Economy, Derek Mackay, not attending Holyrood for a significant 
period while remaining an MSP was mentioned specifically in a number of 

Pack Page 66



8 
 

responses in support of the proposals (Vernon Mackie, SS ID: 189312017; SS 
ID: 189125752).  
 
The importance of attendance at Holyrood by elected representatives was 
referred to, including by Sheila Cameron, who outlined her belief “that any 
MSP should be required to be visible in Holyrood.” (SS ID: 188896524). Hers 
was a view echoed by various respondents:  
 

“Any elected member of Parliament should attend at all times where 
possible and serve the constituency that is what they are elected for. If 
they break the law and are imprisoned they have no right to be an MSP 
or MP” (Angela Fairgrieve, SS ID: 183175995). 

 
“MP's and MSP's are paid to represent the interests of the Electorate - 
that cannot be successfully achieved by failing to turn up for work 
without good reason.” (Ian Green, SS ID: 183023241) 

 
“I agree with the proposition that MPs should be removed if they fail to 
turn up for work or are jailed” (John Kelly, SS ID: 183081060) 

  
That Members of the Scottish Parliament are renumerated by funds raised 
through taxation was raised frequently by respondents, with comparisons 
drawn between the Parliament and other workplaces. Some respondents felt 
that it was unreasonable for any worker to be “paid for not going to work” (SS 
ID: 189156156), including the following respondents who viewed 
parliamentarians as no exception: 
 

“Elected representatives are employees of the taxpayer and should 
have the same rights, but more importantly, obligations as any other 
employee.” (Craig Miller, SS ID: 183244216) 

 
“As with any employment, if you fail to maintain the required standard 
or are subject to disciplinary issues they should be dealt with 
accordingly and this includes dismissal if appropriate with immediate 
effect, especially in the case of gross misconduct.” (Brian Gallacher, 
SS ID: 183078653) 
 
“I am against the waste of taxpayers money and against a system 
which allows an individual or organisation to abuse rules for their own 
gain. Elected politicians should have the moral courage to resign rather 
than abuse a system for their own gain.” (SS ID: 183367994) 

 
Further to the view that there should be parity in the treatment of those in 
public office with those in regular employment, some respondents referred to 
aspects of the second element of the proposals (the proposed strengthening 
of disqualification provisions where an MSP is sentenced to prison), 
suggesting that MSPs found to have broken the law should be held to account 
and not receive what some perceived to be special treatment: 
 

Pack Page 67



9 
 

“MSPs should be treated the same as “normal” employees and subject 
to same legalities surrounding employment.” (Evelyn Douglas, SS ID: 
183111587) 
 
“Members of Parliament who break the law or knowingly mislead/lie to 
Parliament should be removed from office.” (Mrs L.Whitson, SS ID: 
183087215) 

 
“I do not think that someone with a criminal record should be allowed a 
seat in parliament.” (Lynne Goodwin, SS ID: 183233088) 

 
Various fully supportive responses referred specifically to the third element of 
the Bill proposals relating to the introduction of a system of recall, which would 
enable constituents to bring forward a petition to recall and remove their MSP 
if certain conditions were met. A recurring view among those in support of 
recall was that constituents should be able to elect an alternative 
representative where one of their MSPs was found to have behaved 
inappropriately, with criminality or corrupt behaviour highlighted as sufficient 
justification for recall to be initiated: 
 

“I believe MSP's are not above the law nor above public scrutiny and 
because of this the constituents they serve should be able to recall and 
recast their votes when they do not feel their representative is doing a 
good job or has engaged in morally corrupt behaviour or even criminal 
acts.” (SS ID: 186158271).  

 
“Politicians are public servants and should be subject to disciplinary 
procedures up to and including removal from office with no pension or 
compensation” (SS ID: 189235020). 

 
Partially supportive 
 
However, there was disagreement among those who expressed support for 
the Bill proposals as to how some aspects of the proposals would work in 
practice, with the majority of the 12% in partial support of the Bill raising 
concerns about the practicalities of some of its elements. 
 
For example, reservations were raised about how a recall system would 
operate in practice. Responding in an individual capacity, Grahame Charles 
William Howard commented that while he was “supportive” of the other 
elements of the proposed Bill, “the recall issue may be too complex to resolve 
in a fair and transparent fashion” (SS ID: 189313908). 
 
An anonymous respondent suggested that general elections already provide 
an opportunity for the electorate to remove an MSP they are dissatisfied with, 
and that recall would create “too many elections”. They added: 
 

“Let voters make the decision at the next election instead of having 
MSPs face being harassed by a minority of malcontents, then having to 

Pack Page 68



10 
 

spend money and time running in a recall election.” (SS ID: 
189297137). 

 
John Mason MSP also raised concerns about how a recall system would 
operate. While supportive of the first element of the proposed Bill relating to 
non-attendance, he outlined why he was unable to support the recall element: 
 

“My concern is introducing a recall petition system would lead to 
politics being seen as short-term and lessen the importance of 
elections. The Parliament is elected on election day to chose [sic] your 
representatives for 5 years. Recall petitions would mean politics in 
Scotland could be looked [at] as a yearly changing cycle rather than 
trying to overcome long term issues and achieve multi-year goals.” 

 
He also raised concerns about the element of the proposed Bill relating to 
removal following receipt of a prison sentence: 
 

“In Element 2, I hold concerns over the suggestion that any length of 
prison service would lead to a removal of a MSP from office. I feel this 
could hinder politicians from participating with the public in protests or 
acts of civil disobedience due to the threat of removal of office. I feel a 
sentence of 1 year and over is a sufficient threshold but would not like 
to see this set any lower than 6 months.” (SS ID: 188923665) 

 
Others disagreed as to whether the proposed threshold was too low (Stephen 
WA Baxter, SS ID: 184121692), or did not go far enough (Fraser Calder, SS 
ID: 187250640), as will be explored in greater detail in the analysis of 
subsequent questions. 
 
However, some of those with reservations towards the Bill but still partially 
supportive welcomed the proposals as providing an opportunity for the issues 
raised in the draft Bill proposal to be debated, including the following 
anonymous respondent: 
 

“I certainly believe it's a debate to be had to give the Parliament and 
Scots more say so in MSP accountability - even though it's been over 
20 years, the Parliament is still finding its way, in a small sense. That 
means having the tools to remove disruptive MSPs who are not 
representing their constituents. There are “expulsion” (removal) 
statutes in other countries, like the U.S., that give state legislative 
bodies the ability to remove members for, as in North Carolina, “corrupt 
practices in an election.” The participation “quota,” whilst having a 
tradition in local bodies, does seem contrary to the role of elected 
officials. A member who chooses not to do their job should be punished 
at their next election. But a member who behaves in a corrupt manner 
should be subject to removal by the Parliament - how such a standard 
is created should certainly be a high bar, but one should be in place… 
All that said - I support this debate, and giving the Parliament and the 
people of Scotland the tools needed to increase MSP accountability.” 
(SS ID: 189297137). 

Pack Page 69



11 
 

 
Although not fully supportive of the measures, in his response to the 
consultation the academic Dr. Alistair Clark welcomed the opportunity 
presented by the proposals for the issue of integrity in office to be publicly 
considered, stating:  
 

“Public integrity for elected members is important. It is often left to the 
electorate however to judge in elections although this is only a weak 
form of accountability for any integrity misdemeanours. It is therefore 
important to see these issues being taken seriously in the proposed 
members Bill. While there are some difficulties with what is proposed, 
these issues around public integrity for elected representatives need to 
be publicly debated and considered. The proposed Bill is therefore an 
interesting step forward in doing so.” (SS ID: 187931325). 

Reasons for opposing the proposed Bill 
 
Six respondents (5%) were either fully or partially opposed to the proposed 
Bill. Among the responses in opposition, concerns were raised that, despite 
the valid exemptions to non-attendance set out in the consultation document, 
the proposals could be discriminatory – a view that was set out in the 
following anonymous response: 
 

“[The] Bill is discriminatory. There may be valid reasons an MSP 
cannot work for a period such as illness, disability, addiction, 
bereavement, cancer treatment, mental health treatment. In my 
employment I would expect to be able to be absent from work for any 
of those reasons for a considerable period of time without penalty or 
publicity.” (SS ID: 183174793). 

 
Setting out his partial opposition to the proposals, Ruairidh Duncan referred to 
democracy, stating: “I believe that this Bill, while well-meaning, will erode the 
fundamental democratic position of elected members.” (SS ID: 189131147) 
 
An anonymous response from a politician, who was fully opposed to the draft 
proposal, touched on each of these concerns in their response and suggested 
that avenues already existed within the current democratic system to hold 
MSPs to account. Suggesting the proposals could lead to discrimination, they 
said the proposed Bill: 
 

“opens a channel for constant vexatious attempts by political parties, 
their employees and members to hound elected members. Being an 
elected representative is tough enough. You face vexatious complaints, 
public shaming and abuse all the time. Particularly if you are woman, 
LGBT or BAME. Another avenue that could lose you your job- a sword 
of Damocles hanging over your head will make things worse. Even 
within your own party there are personal grievances and rivalries that 
will fuel vexatious use of any law this Bill might propose. This might 
look like it's designed to help the public to remove people from office 
but there are already two mechanisms for that- one is an election, the 

Pack Page 70



12 
 

other is political parties taking responsibility and action to address the 
behaviour and work rate of their members and candidates.” (ID: 
186523392). 

 
In response to a later question, the same respondent also contended that the 
proposals could discourage people from diverse backgrounds standing for 
elected politics, and that: 
 

“in the age of internet shaming, cancel culture and aggressive divisive 
politics, this has the potential to add to the list of reasons ordinary 
people will rule out entering politics.” (SS ID: 186523392) 

Neutral responses 
 

Four responses to the consultation stated they held a neutral view on the Bill 
proposals – including the sole organisation to respond, the Electoral 
Management Board for Scotland, which noted it was unable to offer an 
opinion on a matter of policy (SS ID: 189229477). 
 
Other neutral responses pointed to the parameters of the Bill proposals. One 
suggested the terms of the proposed Bill should be expanded to bar Members 
from holding secondary jobs or additional employment on top of their role as 
an MSP (Sharon Jean Hannah Short, SS ID: 189153305), while concerns 
were also raised about protecting individuals who may hold a valid reason for 
non-attendance at Parliament: 
 

“There may be reasons that a person is not able to be there - lengthy 
illness, treatment, vulnerable etc - taking away something that won't 
actually make a difference to the whole parliament but could make a 
difference on the person you are taking it away from does not 
necessarily help - particularly if its for mental health reasons - you 
could make them worse and possibly be the cause of them ending their 
life.” (SS ID: 189153305) 

Question 2: Do you think legislation is required, or are 
there other ways in which the proposed Bill’s aims 
could be achieved more effectively? Please explain 
the reasons for your response. 
 
121 respondents (95% of the total) answered this question.  
 
The sole organisation to respond to the consultation, the Electoral 
Management Board for Scotland, provided no comment in answer to this 
question as policy issues “are matters for the determination of the Scottish 
Parliament and as such are outwith the remit of the EMB.” (SS ID: 
189229477) 
 
Supportive 

Pack Page 71



13 
 

 
91 respondents provided an answer to this question which indicated clear 
support for introducing legislation to achieve the proposed Bill’s aims. Many 
expressed this view in general terms (SS ID: 183003001; John Kelly, SS ID: 
183081060; SS ID: 186160117), as illustrated by the selection of responses 
set out below: 
 

“Legislation is essential. Without due process there can be no justice 
and accountability.” (Stephen WA Baxter, SS ID: 184121692) 
 
“Yes I do think legislation is required, in fact I am surprised that nothing 
was put in place to begin with, this legislation is long overdue.” (SS ID: 
183003001) 
 
“This is an issue that can only effectively be resolved through 
legislation.” (SS ID: 188873526) 

 
Employment contracts were referred to and, as with the previous question, 
many respondents compared the Scottish Parliament to other workplaces, 
expressing strong support for ensuring that Members were held to the same 
standards as other workers: 
 

“Legislation is required to properly enable action to be taken to remove 
politicians who act illegally or do not do the job they were elected to do. 
At the moment, they can get away with almost anything and still hold 
on to their position and salary. This would not be allowed to happen in 
any other job as employment law allows proper action to be taken.” (SS 
ID: 183029207) 

 
Some respondents suggested that legislation was the only way to avoid any 
potential perceived “loopholes” in the current system (Anderson Magee, SS 
ID: 183022049; Christine Campbell, SS ID: 183207480).  
 
For example, Conservative Councillor Angus Forbes stated that without 
legislation “people will find a way to work round the system” (SS ID: 
183354740), while Alan MacKenzie suggested that legislation was necessary 
as politicians “have shown themselves to be utterly incapable of proper self-
regulation” (SS ID: 189263893).  
 
Others suggested that without an appropriate mechanism to remove a 
Member under certain conditions, some politicians may be able to “get away” 
with inadequately representing their constituents (SS ID: 183029207).  This 
view was also expressed by Dr. Owen Roberts, responding in a personal 
capacity, who stated: 
 

“I do think it [legislation] is required, as at the moment an MSP can get 
appointed by their party and do nothing but toe the party line and vote 
along party lines but do nothing for [their] constituents and there is no 
means by which they can be removed. They can however still get paid 
and claim expenses for doing nothing.” (SS ID: 183011196). 

Pack Page 72



14 
 

 
As set out in the consultation document, MSPs are expected to follow the 
Code of Conduct for Members of the Scottish Parliament, which sets out the 
standards MSPs are expected to adhere to. There is currently no specific 
tailored mechanism by which MSPs can be removed from office for non-
attendance, or lack of active participation. There are elements of the Code of 
Conduct that focus on failing to “carry out their Parliamentary duties in an 
appropriate manner” or for engaging “in any activity as a member that would 
bring the Parliament into disrepute”. 1  
 
The consultation document also set out the challenge of measuring MSP 
participation in constituency work, highlighting rules in the Code of Conduct 
which enable people to formally complain where they do not consider an MSP 
is fulfilling their role in the constituency or region. It further noted that any 
strengthening of the Code of Conduct would be a matter for the Standards, 
Procedures and Public Appointments Committee of the Scottish Parliament. 2 
 
While supportive of the proposal to introduce legislation, Ross Lambie 
suggested that current parliamentary processes were ineffective at dealing 
with the above issues (SS ID: 183927064), while an anonymous respondent 
suggested that the Parliament could do more to train MSPs in the expected 
standards to be upheld: 
 

“Yes, legislation is required, especially in the area of removal. As to 
participation and recall - the Party system serves a formal/informal role 
enough, I believe, to “whip” inattentive members into shape… Perhaps 
instead of a “stick” approach, I would be interested in a “carrot” of 
mandating certain training of all elected MSPs. Just as other jobs have 
required hours of continued education, perhaps a small requirement (or 
just voluntary, perhaps) of training in how to be a MSP and how to 
perform the myriad of jobs well would be supporting MSPs instead of 
just punishing them. Is the Parliament/parties doing enough to train 
work/life balance for MSPs to ensure they are not stuck on their own, 
missing participation in the Parliament, instead of assisting them? (SS 
ID: 189297137) 

 
Dr. Alistair Clark also expressed support for the introduction of legislation due 
to the “seriousness of removing an elected representative from office”, but 
highlighted the challenge of setting thresholds for MSP performance: 
 

“A key difficulty however, as the consultation document hints at, is that 
whatever codes of conduct etc say, there is no official job description 
for MSPs. This means that measuring the performance of the role is 
difficult, not least given that some MSPs will prioritise some aspects 

 
1 MSP Code of Conduct, The Scottish Parliament, https://www.parliament.scot/msps/code-of-

conduct (accessed 21 July 2022) 
2 Graham Simpson MSP, Consultation Document: Proposed Removal from Office and Recall 

(Members of the Scottish Parliament) Bill, https://www.parliament.scot/-

/media/files/legislation/proposed-members-bills/final-consultation-document-signed-off-by-

gs.pdf (accessed 21 July 2022) 

Pack Page 73

https://www.parliament.scot/-/media/files/legislation/proposed-members-bills/final-consultation-document-signed-off-by-gs.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/msps/code-of-conduct
https://www.parliament.scot/msps/code-of-conduct
https://www.parliament.scot/-/media/files/legislation/proposed-members-bills/final-consultation-document-signed-off-by-gs.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/-/media/files/legislation/proposed-members-bills/final-consultation-document-signed-off-by-gs.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/-/media/files/legislation/proposed-members-bills/final-consultation-document-signed-off-by-gs.pdf


15 
 

over others, and that demands for taking into account equality and 
caring considerations will inevitably impact on how MSPs conduct 
themselves. There is no one size fits all model, and arguably, nor 
should there be. Nonetheless, greater consideration of the MSP role, 
how it is performed by current (and past) incumbents and whether this 
is different from that of councillors, might be a place to start in judging 
what voters want from their parliamentary representatives.” (SS ID: 
187931325) 

 
Opposed 
 
Among the minority of respondents who stated that legislation was not 
required, reasons given included the suggestion by Ruairidh Duncan that “the 
electoral process already provides the ultimate process for removal of 
unsuitable MSPs – elections” and that “it is up to local parties to choose to 
reselect or choose a different candidate at the next election” (SS ID: 
189131147). 

 
In addition, John Jamieson contended that the scale of the issue addressed 
by the proposals did not merit a legislative solution:  
 

“This is using a sledgehammer to crack a very small nut.” (SS ID: 
189209226) 

 
Alternatives to and scope of legislation 
 
Some responses suggested alternative ways the proposed Bill’s aims could 
be achieved without legislating: 
 

“If standing orders could be used to some extent that might be easier. 
However, I think legislation is probably required.” (John Mason MSP, 
SS ID: 188923665) 
 
“An enforceable code of conduct, or a contractual obligation. But I am 
not opposed to legislation.” (Craig Miller, SS ID: 183244216) 
 
“No need for legislation. HR policies could have same impact.” (SS ID: 
183174793) 
 
“I presume that some form of contract of employment would suffice.” 
(Graham Bell-Palmer, SS ID: 189132975) 

 
Others contended that the scope of any legislative solution to the issues set 
out in the consultation document should be expanded to include a removal 
mechanism for MSPs who change parties (Richard Mclennan, SS ID: 
189146156), or to ensure that MSPs can “only serve in Holyrood and nowhere 
else” (Sharon Jean Hannah Short, SS ID: 189153305). 

Pack Page 74



16 
 

Question 3: What is your view on the proposal to 
remove MSPs from office if  they do not participate 
sufficiently in parliamentary proceedings? Please 
explain the reasons for your response.  

Please include your views on: what constitutes 
sufficient participation, how the process for removing 
an MSP from office should work in practice where 
they are not sufficiently active for a period of, for 
example, six months. 
 
This question focused on the first element of the proposed Bill, specifically 
legislating to enable an MSP to be removed from office due to a lack of 
participation in proceedings at Parliament, unless a valid reason was provided 
(such as maternity leave or ill health). 
 
128 respondents (100% of the total) answered this question: 

• 98 (77%) were fully supportive 

• 22 (17%) were partially supportive 

• 1 (1%) were partially opposed 

• 4 (3%) were fully opposed 

• 3 (2%) were neutral (neither support nor oppose) 
 
While there was strong support for this element of the proposed Bill, there 
was limited engagement among respondents into how activity should be 
measured or on the process by which an MSP would be removed from office.  
 
Threshold for removal 
 
Of those in support of this element of the proposals, there was broad, general 
backing for the introduction of an attendance threshold beyond which an MSP 
would qualify for removal from post. One respondent stated: 
 

“Inactivity (without good reason) should result in immediate removal 
from office.” (Ian Green, SS ID: 183023241) 
 

As with previous questions, some felt that this mechanism was required to 
avoid abuse of the parliamentary system and to uphold parliamentary 
standards: 
 

“Abuse of the system is unacceptable and for an elected politician to 
abandon their seat in Parliament should be treated as an abuse.” (SS 
ID: 183003001)  
 
“The 'contract' between MSP's and the general public -irrespective of 
what political hue they wear- is an implicit expectation to uphold the 
highest standards of integrity in their public life. Sadly, the past 15 or so 

Pack Page 75



17 
 

years have seen these standards eroded dramatically.” (Richard 
Saunders, SS ID: 183015258). 

 
However, there was disagreement among those who responded to this 
question as to what the threshold for an adequate minimum level of 
attendance should be.  
 
The consultation document set out the proposal that a Member should be 
automatically removed from office where they fail to take an active part in any 
formal public parliamentary meetings for a period of six months, unless a valid 
reason is provided. This would bring the Scottish Parliament in line with local 
authorities where, under Section 35 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 
1973, a councillor vacates their office where they fail to attend council 
meetings for a period of six consecutive months. 
 
The Electoral Management Board for Scotland, which provided a neutral 
response, highlighted that this question was again “outwith the remit of the 
EMB” but noted “that the approach in the 1973 Act is one with which electoral 
officials are familiar as it applies to elected members of local authorities.” (SS 
ID: 189229477) 
 
There was some support expressed for the specific proposal of a six-month 
threshold for non-attendance (SS ID: 183582179): 
 

“If they don't do the work, then the tax payer should not have to 
financially support them. They should take part on a daily basis, or at 
least weekly unless there is a very good reason for not doing so. Six 
months would be sufficient for not taking an active part, but only if there 
is a very good reason. Whilst they are not active their expenses should 
be minimal.” (SS ID: 189160569) 

 
Alternative attendance thresholds were also suggested by respondents, with 
some basing these suggestions on a minimum level of acceptable attendance 
as opposed to a minimum length of absence: 
 

“As Holyrood only sits on a few days per week, an MSP should be 
there at every sitting except for illness.” (Evelyn Douglas, SS ID: 
183111587) 

 
Others proposed alternatives to the six-month non-attendance threshold, with 
suggestions varying from weeks, to months, to a percentage of overall 
engagement: 
 

“As an elected representative of the public an MSP should be 
participating as much as possible. I would reduce the period from six 
months to three months. If they fail to provide a valid reason for 
absence action should be taken to remove them from office. Pay 
should be reduced/ withheld accordingly.” (Lynne Goodwin, ID: 
183233088) 

 

Pack Page 76

https://www.parliament.scot/-/media/files/legislation/proposed-members-bills/final-consultation-document-signed-off-by-gs.pdf


18 
 

“Any period of inactivity for more than 4 weeks without a valid reason.” 
(Andrew Winton, SS ID: 183050770) 

 
“21 days would be far more realistic. And that's 21 calendar days, not 
just working days! Thereafter payment of salary and expenses to cease 
IMMEDIATELY unless a credible excuse is offered.” (Alan MacKenzie, 
SS ID: 189263893).”  

 
Comparisons with other workplaces 
 
A recurring comparison was drawn between the Scottish Parliament and other 
workplaces, who emphasised their view that being an MSP constituted a full-
time job and that the expectations of attendance on MSPs should mirror that 
of other employees (SS ID: 183019525; Evelyn Douglas, SS ID: 183111587; 
Ally McGregor, SS ID: 185834543), as typified by the following responses: 
 

“Being an MSP should be a full time job, therefore each MSP should 
attend parliamentary proceedings on a full time basis.” (SS ID: 
189268061) 

 
“As a paid employee, funded by the tax payer, if they fail to attend or 
participate in the work they are elected they should be promptly 
removed from the role.” (Brian Gallacher, SS ID: 183078653) 

 
“In the private sector, this would be handled through established 
procedures managed by HR department and appropriate 
management.” (Craig Miller, SS ID: 183244216) 

 
“The parliament is a workplace, expectation on participation, sick leave, 
and annual leave should all be benchmarked against workplace 
standards within the UK.” (Ross Lambie, SS ID: 183927064) 

 
That physical attendance at a workplace is a necessary condition to measure 
participation was intimated by various respondents. (SS ID: 186158271) 
suggested there should be a minimum attendance each week. Another stated:  
 

“MSPs are paid like the rest of us to work if we did not go to work we 
would lose our jobs.” (Angelina Fairgrieve, SS ID: 183175995) 

 
Measuring participation 
 
The breadth of responses to the question of an attendance threshold indirectly 
demonstrated the challenge of measuring adequate participation by a 
parliamentarian. Various respondents suggested what they considered to be 
an adequate reflection of participation without commenting on how this could 
be tracked or formally measured (such as by a period of absence): 
 

“I would expect any MSP to attend Parliament for most of the 
chamber's/committee's business, and all significant debates. I would 
expect all MSPs to hold local surgeries on at least a monthly basis. I 

Pack Page 77



19 
 

would expect all MSPs to acknowledge all correspondence, and 
answer directly the vast majority of such.” (Dr. Owen Roberts, SS ID: 
183011196) 

 
“MSP must fully participate in all parliamentary business , as such they 
require to regularly attend proceedings , question ministers, actively 
participate in committee proceedings etc.” (SS ID: 188864152) 

 
Others highlighted in their responses that members could participate by other 
means in addition to attending Chamber or committee meetings, such as 
through lodging written parliamentary questions or by voting on a motion or 
amendment (Adrian Leslie Manges, SS ID: 189158354). 
 
Measuring MSP participation was also directly considered by various 
respondents, including in relation to the introduction of hybrid proceedings at 
the Scottish Parliament in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Dr. Alistair 
Clark noted that remote proceedings could be considered an enabler of 
participation, in contrast with the view that physical attendance should be a 
measure of participation. He also highlighted that where a Member may not 
be attending Parliament in-person, they may still be carrying out work in their 
constituency. Expressing partial support for this element of the Bill proposals, 
he argued against tasking parliamentary staff with the responsibility of 
measuring participation: 
 

“To give parliamentary staff a role in monitoring MSP activity would be 
a significant shift in their role, and would inevitably, by some, be seen 
as politicising their role… Instead, what would seem to be more 
straightforward, and surely not that difficult to establish given the 
datafication of most parliamentary processes, is some sort of online 
dashboard of MSP participation indicating attendance, debates spoken 
in, votes, questions submitted and so on.” (SS ID: 187931325) 

 
Others also pointed to the problem posed by measuring participation, with 
David Carson suggesting that the six-month threshold may require additional 
criteria to avoid a situation in which an MSP fails to attend for five months, for 
example, before returning to avoid removal. He also highlighted the potential 
conflation of attendance with participation: 
 

“It seems that participation is equated with/means “attendance” the way 
described in this proposed Bill. That is one aspect… The measurement 
of effective participation when actually attending meetings is different 
and a separate issue more related to individual performance and 
effectiveness as a member representing constituents or committee 
participation etc. This is maybe something that the governing 
body/leadership team of the party need to consider as well as giving 
constituents the ability to evaluate how well their MSP is participating 
sufficiently and effectively.” (David Carson, SS ID: 184330607) 

 
An anonymous respondent also raised the challenge of defining “sufficient 
participation”, suggesting that electors voting along party lines often returned 

Pack Page 78



20 
 

individuals who may be deemed by some to insufficiently represent their 
constituents. They continued: 
 

“Attendance in itself is not necessarily a gauge to sufficient 
participation, it is not the time spent in the office that counts rather it is 
what you do when there. This is made more difficult due to the different 
category of MSP in Scotland. Not turning up for business is 
straightforward as it would be in any other employment, it is the amount 
of work which constitutes sufficient participation that will prove to be 
more difficult to define.” (SS ID: 183367994) 

 
Other respondents supportive of the proposals provided suggestions for how 
participation should be tracked and measured, in addition to the suggestion 
above that political parties could play a role in this: 
 

“In practice, it should be up to the Presiding Officer to investigate an 
allegation that an MSP was not participating sufficiently in 
parliamentary proceedings and determine whether the MSP should be 
excluded. Ideally this allegation would come from constituents but 
given the operation of the list system in practice it could also be raised 
by a group of MSP's.” (SS ID: 189125752) 

 
The consultation document set out that there should be valid exemptions to 
any non-attendance or non-participation threshold introduced via the 
proposed legislation, e.g. maternity leave or ill health. Recognising the 
potential sensitivities involved in a Member declaring a reason for non-
attendance, the consultation document proposed the introduction of 
established criteria for justifiable pre-arranged absences and a process where 
these are approved in advance by the Parliament to protect confidentiality, 
such as through the Standards, Procedures and Public Appointments 
Committee (SPPA) of the Scottish Parliament. 
 
The document also proposed the potential introduction of an independent 
panel or similar body with independence of decision making, which could 
make recommendations to Parliament on the validity of reasons for non-
attendance. 
 
Considering the above, Dr. Alistair Clark queried how a “valid excuse” could 
be determined, also suggesting a potential role for the SPPA Committee: 
 

“A key issue is what constitutes a valid excuse. Confidential information 
may be a part of this. The questions are: who judges; what about non-
standard categories/exceptions; and how confidential information 
remains so and the public/media can be convinced of this if a media 
feeding frenzy results. In terms of who decides, the notion of an 
independent panel with MSP and lay representation may well be an 
answer, although this would have inevitable cost implications. 
Alternatively, to avoid setting up a new body, the role might be given to 
the SPPA committee, supplemented by Lay members if deemed 
necessary.” (SS ID: 187931325) 

Pack Page 79

https://www.parliament.scot/-/media/files/legislation/proposed-members-bills/final-consultation-document-signed-off-by-gs.pdf


21 
 

 
In his response, Edward Mountain MSP also touched on what would 
constitute a valid reason for non-attendance and raised the issue of 
measuring participation where a Member is attending Parliament only to cast 
votes: 
 

“I would need to examine and be content that the reasons for 
exemptions from the sanction of removing an MSP from office gave 
sufficient weight to valid reasons for non attendance. I would also like 
to see if there are proposals regarding those MSPs who might just 
attend to vote, but do not participate in debates, are scrutinised.” (SS 
ID: 186589432) 

 
John Mason MSP, expressing partial support for this element of the 
proposals, also considered what parliamentary activities constituted adequate 
participation, highlighting the difference between debating and intervening: 
 

“I am supportive of the suggestions made in the proposal that if a 
member does not at least, every 6 months; attend chamber business or 
public committee business in person, lodge a written parliamentary 
question, speak in public proceedings in committee or in chamber and, 
vote on a motion or amendment in a meeting of the whole Parliament 
then they should be considered not participating in their capacity as an 
MSP. However, I would say speaking in the chamber should mean a 
full speech (not just an intervention). Six months is actually quite 
generous if there is no good reason for the absence.” (SS ID: 
188923665) 

 
Partial and full opposition 
 
Of the 5 responses opposed to the proposal to remove MSPs from office if 
they do not participate sufficiently in parliamentary proceedings, most felt that 
this was not a matter to be decided by parliamentary processes. An 
anonymous politician – in full opposition to this element of the proposals – 
suggested the issue was one for party whips to examine: 
 

“This is for political parties and their whips to address. I feel this will be 
weaponised against MSP who have illness or personal issues which 
are nobody's business but their own (and their whips). I have seen this 
directed at MSPs already across the political divide. I also think that 
flexible and agile working that will modernise our parliament will 
become a way of some more traditional people complaining. 
Presenteeism is already rife, and achieves nothing.” (SS ID: 
186523392) 

 
Ruairidh Duncan, who was also fully opposed, suggested that the 
responsibility to select suitable candidates for Parliament lay with local 
parties, adding: “the electoral process already provides the ultimate process 
for removal of unsuitable MSPs - elections.” (SS ID: 189131147). This view 
was echoed by an anonymous respondent, who suggested that: 

Pack Page 80



22 
 

 
“The people and the party are in the best position to “punish” non-
participation - the Parliament should only be involved for removal of 
MSPs when their is actual malice, corruption, or other malicious 
behaviour from a MSP.” (SS ID: 189297137) 
 

It was also highlighted that measuring participation by any means other than 
attendance was “simply a matter of personal opinion” (John Jamieson, SS ID: 
189209226). 
 
Other issues raised 
 
Other issues raised in response to this question included ensuring that those 
with valid medical exemptions were protected from the removal mechanism. 
Alan Jack, SS ID: 183037605 offered a number of reasons including ill health, 
family reasons such as ill health, suffering loss that he considered valid 
reasons for absence. 
 
Dr. Alistair Clark also made the point that the proposals could have the 
consequence of blocking MSPs from exercising their right to protest through 
non-attendance at Parliament: 
 

“Some members have for instance protested when taking the oath in 
the past. In the UK parliament, Sinn Fein members do not take up their 
seats, even if they continue to represent their constituents. Although I 
do not know what issue might prompt such an attitude at Holyrood, it is 
not inconceivable that this might occur in rare instances in future. Such 
ability to protest is an important one in politics.” (Dr Alistair Clark, SS 
ID: 187931325) 

 
In response to a later question, Dr. Clark also made the suggestion that an 
appeals process should be put in place for all decisions which would follow 
the passing of the proposed legislation: 
 

“I would add that in any of these processes, e.g. the proposal for 
removal from office for 6 months parliamentary inactivity, whether this 
is put to SPPA (Standards, Procedures or Public Appointments 
Committee) or an independent body, or however it be actioned, that the 
affected MSP have a right of appeal.” (SS ID: 187931325) 

Pack Page 81



23 
 

4. What is your view on the proposal that receiving a 
prison sentence of  a year or less is an appropriate 
trigger for an MSP to be automatically removed from 
office? Please explain the reasons for your response, 
including detailing how long you consider a minimum 
prison sentence should be to trigger the automatic 
removal. 
 
This question related to the second element of the Bill proposals, specifically 
the proposed strengthening of the current disqualification provisions where an 
MSP is sentenced to prison. At present, MSPs are automatically removed 
from office when they are sentenced to prison for more than one year. The 
draft Bill proposal includes the provision that any prison sentence of a year or 
less would lead to an MSP’s automatic removal from office.   
 
127 respondents (99% of the total) answered this question.    

• 100 (79%) were fully supportive 

• 9 (7%) were partially supportive 

• 3 (2%) were partially opposed 

• 7 (6%) were fully opposed 

• 8 (6%) were neutral (neither support nor oppose) 
 
Supportive 
 
A recurring view expressed by many of those supportive of this element of the 
proposals was that lawmakers who break the law themselves should not be 
trusted to legislate or sit as parliamentarians: 
 

“If they can’t abide by the law they are in no position to pass the laws.” 
(Stuart Kennedy, SS ID: 183050376) 
 
“Anyone holding public office should be adhering strictly to the laws of 
the land.” (Andrew Winton, SS ID: 183050770) 
 
“Someone who cannot obey the law should have no part in enacting 
the law.” (Dr. Owen Roberts, SS ID: 183011196) 

 
In setting out his full support for this aspect of the proposals, Alexander 
Faulds suggested abiding by the law was a reflection of a politician’s 
character and appropriateness to hold office: 
 

“Breaking the laws of the land resulting in criminal conviction 
demonstrates lack of character and leadership qualities required for 
role.” (SS ID: 183058410) 
 

Indeed, a significant proportion of those who were supportive of this element 
argued that “any custodial sentence should be the trigger” for an MSP to be 

Pack Page 82



24 
 

removed from office (Gene Maxwell, SS ID: 183014377) or that any criminal 
conviction should be sufficient for an MSP’s removal: 
 

“ANY incarceration for ANY criminal offence and for ANY length of 
time, signifies that the person is prepared to breach the law and is 
therefore unworthy of holding significant public office.” (Richard 
Saunders, SS ID: 183015258) 

 
“MSP's should be setting examples to others, therefore ANY conviction 
(regardless of sentence) should trigger immediate dismissal.” (Ian 
Green, SS ID: 183023241) 

 
“Any criminal conviction in my opinion is cause for removal.” (Margo 
Hardie, SS ID: 183170086) 

 
The presumption against short sentences in Scotland was referred to by 
various respondents including Councillor Angus Forbes, who contended that 
this should be borne in mind when considering the threshold for a minimum 
prison sentence: 
 

“I'd go further, conviction for any crime above a certain threshold 
should result in loss of position. I say this because of the desire in 
Scotland to eliminate short sentences.” (SS ID: 183354740) 

 
“I believe a criminal conviction, irrespective of sentencing should allow 
a process to proceed, if the constituent electorate wish it, and a 
sentence of at least a year should be an automatic trigger. I don't want 
the new “soft touch justice system” to provide a loophole just because 
a MSP may be sentenced to a fine and/or community payback order in 
lieu incarceration. This is important because of the changes regarding 
allowing 16/17 year old MSPs and sentencing guidelines for those 
under the age of 25.” (John Moody, SS ID: 189263736) 

 
Alan Jack expressed the view that it was not possible for a politician to fully 
represent their constituents when imprisoned. He also raised the potential for 
an MSP to be convicted outwith the UK, adding:  
 

“Thought should be given to the possibility of a politician arrested, 
detained and imprisoned outside of the UK for a crime which would not 
result in imprisonment in the UK though! Employees who do not turn up 
for work stop getting paid but could claim their employment back if 
detained outside the UK for something which is not considered a 
serious crime (or a prisonable offence) in the UK or which would be 
dealt with via a Fine etc. As there is a move afoot to do away with 
prison sentences of less than 6 months then the bar should be set from 
6 months.” (SS ID: 183037605) 

 
Stephen WA Baxter suggested that “a short prison sentence of less than 3 
months should not result in an MSP losing their seat” (SS ID: 184121692), 
while an anonymous respondent proposed that the “nature of [the] offence 

Pack Page 83



25 
 

should be taken into account” and that “dishonesty should lead to automatic 
removal” (SS ID: 189319944). 
 
Another anonymous respondent, echoing this perspective, suggested: 
 

“The type of offence is more important, motoring offences are quite 
different to fraud and sexual offences for example.” (SS ID: 
189183525).  

 
As with responses to previous questions, various respondents compared the 
Scottish Parliament to other workplaces, noting that criminal convictions in 
other areas of employment would lead to dismissal (Graham Bell-Palmer, SS 
ID: 189132975; Craig Miller, SS ID: 183244216).  
 
The consultation document noted that in order to be within legislative 
competence, the proposed Bill must be compatible with Convention rights and 
that the proposed Bill provisions, if progressed, would be considered against 
these – including the right to free and fair elections (Article 3 of Protocol 1 of 
the European Convention on Human Rights). 
 
This was highlighted in the response from Dr. Alistair Clark who, while 
expressing partial support for this proposal, stated that “as the consultation 
document notes, this will need to be compliant with convention rights, 
including those of the CoE and ECHR.” (SS ID: 187931325) 
 
Opposed 
 
Expressing partial opposition for this element of the proposals, John Mason 
MSP suggested that the threshold for removal from office following receipt of 
a prison sentence should be one year or above, and “certainly be no less than 
6 months”. He referred to political protest and added:  
 

“A very short sentence might be because someone is making a political 
point as Tommy Sheridan did in 2000/2002 demonstrating against 
nuclear weapons at Faslane. So such a person should not be removed 
from office. One year strikes me as about right as a measure of a 
serious crime.” (SS ID: 188923665). 

 
Other reasons given in opposition to this element of the proposals included 
the importance of the rehabilitation of offenders: 
 

“Rehabilitation of offenders is important. This would send wrong 
signals.” (Peter Finlay, SS ID: 183072023). 

 
An anonymous respondent in partial opposition to the proposal highlighted the 
“many reasons why people go to prison”, adding: 
 

“I think in particular women who are often victims of coercive 
behaviour, domestic abuse and who often are forced to behave in ways 

Pack Page 84

https://www.parliament.scot/-/media/files/legislation/proposed-members-bills/final-consultation-document-signed-off-by-gs.pdf


26 
 

outwith their character to protect either their lives or to protect their 
children and family unit.” (SS ID: 183029417) 

 
Additionally, John Jamieson suggested that some breaches of public trust 
could be considered more egregious than receipt of a prison sentence, 
making specific reference to breaches of lockdown rules during the COVID-19 
pandemic (John Jamieson, SS ID: 189209226). 
 
Neutral 
 
As previously, the Electoral Management Board provided a neutral response 
to this question, adding that both it and Returning Officers would “operate to 
apply any rules that were in place with respect to the vacating of office and 
the consequences in terms of by-elections or other mechanisms to fill the 
resulting vacancy.” (SS ID: 189229477) 
 
Among the 8 respondents who gave neutral answers to this question, other 
reasons given included: 

• That the “substance of the offence” should determine whether or not an 
MSP be removed following a jail sentence (SS ID: 189297137) 

• That an MSP “could be ordered to serve 9 months but in actuality only 
serve 4 months before release”, and the question of how any period on 
remand would be accounted for (SS ID: 189125752) 

Question 5: What is your view on the proposal that an 
individual who is removed as an MSP under these 
proposals, either through insufficient participation or 
being sentenced to a particular period in prison, 
should be unable to stand as an MSP again for the 
rest of  the relevant parliamentary session? 
 
This question related to both the first and second elements of the proposals 
as set out in the consultation document, specifically that any MSP who had 
been deemed to have participated insufficiently in parliamentary proceedings 
or who had received a prison sentence of one year or less would be 
automatically removed from office.  
 
127 respondents (99% of the total) answered this question.    

• 105 (83%) were fully supportive 

• 7 (6%) were partially supportive 

• 6 (5%) were partially opposed 

• 6 (5%) were fully opposed 

• 3 (2%) were neutral (neither support nor oppose) 
 
The Electoral Management Board for Scotland responded neutrally to this 
question as it was outwith its remit (SS ID: 189229477). 
 
Supportive 

Pack Page 85

https://www.parliament.scot/-/media/files/legislation/proposed-members-bills/final-consultation-document-signed-off-by-gs.pdf


27 
 

 
Of the vast majority of respondents either fully or partially supportive of this 
proposal, some expressed clear, general support for the proposal that a 
Member removed due to insufficient participation or sentenced to a particular 
period in prison should be prevented from standing for election for the rest of 
the parliamentary session: 
 

“It seems an appropriate and reasonable sanction and emphasises the 
importance of the matter.” (David Carson, SS ID: 184330607) 
 
“Should be deselected and if they want to put themselves [forward for 
election] after the relevant session then that would be reasonable.” 
(Sheila Cameron, SS ID: 188896524) 

 
Reasons given in support included that the punishment as proposed could act 
as a deterrent to incentivize against bad behaviour (Anderson Magee, SS ID: 
183022049) and that being unable to return to post for a period of time was 
“needed to ensure the person is fit to stand as an MSP” (Christine Campbell, 
SS ID: 183207480). Fitness for office was a recurring theme in response to 
this question: 
 

“If they are sent to prison or are not participating to the required 
amount of time in Parliament then they are not fit for office.” (ID: 
186158271) 

 
Trust was also referred to, with Andrew Milne suggesting that an MSP who 
had broken the law may not be trusted again: 
 

“If they didn't understand the rules the first time round, why would we 
believe that they can ever understand them?” (SS ID: 183130187). 

 
Of those who posited alternative lengths of suspension from Parliament 
following a prison sentence or removal for lack of participation, suggestions 
varied from five years, to two sessions of Parliament, to ten years: 
 

“If the punishment is to mean anything then it needs to be for the full 
parliamentary session. I would prefer for the punishment to be for 5 
years from the time of their removal from parliament.” (Graeme 
Brebner, SS ID: 189286306), 

 
“If for whatever reason one is found unfit to hold the office of an MSP; 
then that stands for at lease two terms of Parliament, if not 
permanently.” (Dr Owen Roberts, SS ID: 183011196) 

 
“I would extend that from “the rest of the relevant parliamentary 
session” to include “and the following session”. (John Moody, SS ID: 
189263736) 

 

Pack Page 86



28 
 

“If they have failed through insufficient participation or a conviction, 
they should be barred from political life for a MINIMUM of ten years.” 
(Ian Green, SS ID: 183023241) 

 
The majority of respondents who provided comment in response to this 
question expressed the view that any ban for a lack of participation or being 
sentenced to a particular period in prison should be indefinite (Mary 
Rutherford Hurry, SS ID: 183426822; SS ID: 183367994), as reflected below: 
 

“That person should never be allowed to partake in any future public 
activities. We expect honesty from our politicians.” (Roger William 
Henry Smith, SS ID: 186137837) 
 

However, it should be noted that some respondents only referred to removal 
due to criminal activity when suggesting Members should be banned 
indefinitely from standing for election, therefore it is not possible to extrapolate 
from these responses support for an indefinite ban due to non-attendance: 
 

“They should never be allowed to stand as an MSP ever again. 
Convicted criminals should have no part in making government policy 
or laws.” (SS ID: 189160569) 

 
“People who have responsibility for legislating should be automatically 
disbarred from having the ability to legislate in future if they have 
broken the laws of the country.” (Craig Miller, SS ID: 183244216) 

 
Opposed 
 
Of the minority who expressed opposition to this question, several 
respondents put forward the view that it is for the electorate to decide whether 
or not to re-elect an individual removed from office for the reasons suggested 
(Gene Maxwell, SS ID: 183014377). This view was expressed in an 
anonymous response from an academic, partially opposed to the proposal, 
who highlighted the democratic process: 
 

“Ultimately - the people rule. If the people wish to return a MSP who 
has been removed (and a party chooses to select such a member), 
then the verdict has been made. There should be very limited 
circumstances in which the State (Parliament, in this case) takes the 
decision out of the voters' hands in a functioning democracy.” (SS ID: 
189297137) 

 
An anonymous respondent fully opposed to this proposal also emphasised 
the role of constituents in deciding who represents them:  
 

“It is for constituents to decide who they want to represent them, be 
that their previous MSP or not.” (SS ID: 188873526) 

 
Opportunities for redemption and rehabilitation were also referred to, with an 
individual anonymous respondent fully opposed to this proposal stating:  

Pack Page 87



29 
 

 
“People can change. Everyone deserves a second chance.” (SS ID: 
183174793) 

 
This view was echoed in an anonymous response from a politician: 
 

“This is up to their respective political parties and membership. If 
someone has been in prison in the past they have every right to be 
rehabilitated, and to be able to contribute to society. It is their human 
right.” (SS ID: 186523392) 

 

Question 6: What is your view on the proposal to 
introduce a system of  recall for MSPs?  

Recall is where the electorate in an area can trigger a 
special election to remove an elected representative 
before the end of  their term if  certain conditions are 
met. 

Please explain the reasons for your response, 
including how you would envisage such a system 
working in practice, for members elected under the 
regional list system and for constituency members 
elected under the first past the post system 
 
This question related to the third element of the Member’s proposal, 
specifically the establishment of a system of recall for MSPs. At present, the 
only opportunity for the electorate to decide who their elected representatives 
should be is through elections to the Scottish Parliament, or via constituency 
by-elections. 
 
125 respondents (98% of the total) answered this question.    

• 105 (84%) were fully supportive 

• 9 (7%) were partially supportive 

• 2 (2%) were partially opposed 

• 6 (5%) were fully opposed 

• 3 (2%) were neutral (neither support nor oppose) 
 
The consultation document set out the suggestion that the recall of 
constituency MSPs could follow the same model as used at Westminster 
under the Recall of MPs Act 2015 (where a 10% of eligible voters must back a 
recall petition to lead to a recall election conducted via the First Past the Post 
electoral system), but acknowledged that this would not work in relation to 
regional MSPs given their election through a system of proportional 
representation based on a variation of the D’Hondt formula.  

Pack Page 88

https://www.parliament.scot/-/media/files/legislation/proposed-members-bills/final-consultation-document-signed-off-by-gs.pdf


30 
 

 
Seeking views on how the recall of regional MSPs might work in practice, the 
document set out the challenge inherent to introducing a recall system that 
treats regional and constituency MSPs equally, and that this element of the 
draft proposal for a bill would only be pursued where this problem could be 
solved effectively and fairly. 
 
While the vast majority of respondents were fully supportive of the introduction 
of a system of recall, there was disagreement among responses as to how, if 
at all, such a system could work in practice. 
 
No response set out in detail a process for the recall of regional MSPs, with 
the Electoral Management Board for Scotland commenting that “recall at a 
regional level does not seem to be consistent with the proportional system if 
democracy is to be maintained” (SS ID: 189229477). 
 
General reasons given in support of a recall system 
 
As with previous questions, accountability to the electorate was raised among 
those with who were supportive of this element of the proposals (Anne 
McLennan, SS ID: 189232057), with many respondents of the belief that it 
should be considered the right of the electorate to have a mechanism to recall 
an elected representative (Alexander David Malcolm, SS ID: 183034666; 
Brian Gallacher, SS ID: 183078653): 
 

“MSPs are there to represent their constituents; should those 
constituents be dissatisfied with their representation they should have 
the right to demand a change of representative.” (Dr. Owen Roberts, 
SS ID: 183011196) 
 
“This is simple accountability to the electorate to ensure their MSP is 
working to the rules and is working for their community as a priority.” 
(SS ID: 183003001). 

 
As previously, comparisons were drawn to other workplaces, with an 
anonymous respondent suggesting that: 
 

“Such sanctions exist in every other area of employment. I think that 
those holding public office should be subject to the same.” (SS ID: 
183029207) 
 

Upholding democracy 
 
Respondents both in support of and in opposition to the introduction of a recall 
system referred to democracy in their answers to this question (Alan Fraser, 
SS ID: 188610730). While some saw the introduction of a recall system as 
making Members more accountable to the electorate, others identified 
potential challenges with overturning a democratic election result: 
 

Pack Page 89



31 
 

“In principle this seems a good idea but in practice I suspect that it 
would subject to considerable abuse. It might be argued that this is the 
democratic way to approach the problem, but if someone is elected in a 
70% turnout, recalled by complaints from 5% (?) of the constituents 
and then replaced in a special election with a 40% turnout that seems 
an extremely undemocratic way to proceed.” (SS ID: 189125752) 

 
The Electoral Management Board for Scotland (EMB) (which provided a 
‘neutral’ response to this question given its apolitical function) also highlighted 
the challenges in relation to removing a Member and their right to stand for 
subsequent elections: 
 

“A recall could not disqualify a member as that would be undermining 
the democratic process allowing a minority of the electorate to remove 
a member. A recalled member must have the opportunity to contest the 
seat. Recall at a regional level does not seem to be consistent with the 
proportional system if democracy is to be maintained.” (SS ID: 
189229477) 

 
In addition to concerns about whether a recall election could be a democratic 
exercise, an anonymous response from a politician fully opposed to the 
introduction of a recall system pointed to the role of elections as the means by 
which to remove elected representatives: 
 

“We will spend the whole of a parliamentary or council session fighting 
vexatious and politically motivated attempts to remove people from 
office. Elections are that vehicle; that's why they happen every five 
years.” (SS ID: 186523392) 
 

John Mason MSP also raised concerns about the potential for a recall system 
to be abused for politically motivated reasons. Expressing his full opposition to 
a recall system, he said:  
 

“this would only make politics in Scotland even more focussed on 
short-term goals as you could be removed from your seat at anytime 
theoretically. If every unpopular vote or decision could mean losing 
one's seat, it is likely to make MSPs even less likely to take a long term 
view of things or to take a stand on principle.” (SS ID: 188923665) 
 

An anonymous academic in partial opposition to the proposals suggested that 
a “vocal malcontent minority” could use recall as a tool following election 
defeats, contending that the introduction of such a system would make 
standing for public office a less attractive proposition. They added:  
 

“Recalls can be a messy business. I recognise that it's a practice 
outside of the Parliament - but the five-year term is enough without 
having to worry about recall elections, recall efforts, etc. Let the people 
decide at the next election and let a MSP have a chance to do their 
job… The fixed five-year term allows MSPs a chance to do their jobs - 
and then the voters have their say.” (SS ID: 189297137) 

Pack Page 90



32 
 

 
Feasibility of a recall system  
 
Further to the above, respondents both in support of and opposed to the 
introduction of a recall system questioned the feasibility of introducing one, 
given the proportional representation electoral system used in Scottish 
Parliament elections.  
 
Under the current system, if a regional MSP leaves their post for any reason, 
unlike with constituency MSPs, a by-election would not be held. Instead, the 
relevant returning officer confirms to the Presiding Officer who the next person 
on the regional list is and subsequently, that person takes up the vacant 
position and becomes an MSP. Given this process, the consultation document 
highlighted the challenge of establishing how a regional Member or any 
candidate seeking election to their seat could compete in any form of recall 
election. 
 
Setting out his full opposition to the introduction of a recall system, John 
Jamieson stated: 
 

“As it is impossible to set up a system that treats FPTP and Regional 
MSPs equally this is a non starter.” (SS ID: 189209226) 

 
The recall system in operation at Westminster (introduced via the Recall of 
MPs Act 2015) was referred to in various responses. For a recall petition to be 
successful under the Westminster model, 10% of eligible registered voters 
must sign a recall petition, following which the petition officer informs the 
Speaker of the House of Commons and the seat becomes vacant, leading to 
a by-election using the First Past the Post electoral system. 
 
Some suggested that the existence of such a system at a UK-level should be 
considered sufficient justification for the introduction of the same provision in 
Scotland: 
 

“If Westminster can have a process that has already been shown to 
work, Scottish exceptionalism should not prevent us for adopting the 
process.” (John Moody, SS ID: 189263736) 

 
In terms of the specifics of how a recall system would operate in practice, 
some were of the view that a petition to recall MSPs elected to represent 
constituencies (as opposed to regional list MSPs) should require 10% of 
eligible electors to sign the petition in order to trigger a recall election, as is 
the case at Westminster: 
 

“Signatures would be sought and if 10% or more signed then a fresh 
election is called.” (Stephen WA Baxter, SS ID: 184121692) 

 
Other suggested approaches to the establishment of a recall system provided 
by respondents are set out below: 
 

Pack Page 91

https://www.parliament.scot/-/media/files/legislation/proposed-members-bills/final-consultation-document-signed-off-by-gs.pdf


33 
 

“For a ballot to be conducted with two votes, one on the recall, and the 
second for a new candidate if the recall vote is unsuccessful.” (Adrian 
Leslie Manges, SS ID: 189158354) 

 
“Voters would write to an appointed individual or body stating their 
reasons for demanding recall. There will need to be strict criteria so as 
to prevent the system being abused. On the other hand, the criteria 
must not be so strict as to effectively neuter the system. A by-election 
should be held in every case as voters may wish to change their 
preference. The list system should be abolished - it is an affront to 
democracy.” (Alan MacKenzie, SS ID: 189263893) 
 
“A system similar to California could be adopted. A % of voters must 
sign a petition within a set period of time. This could be 20% of voters 
within 3 months for example, and if triggered a by-election will 
commence.” (Ross Lambie, SS ID: 183927064) 
 
“Implementing such a system for constituency MSPs should be 
relatively straight-forward based on how it is already implemented in 
other areas assuming they work as intended and are easy to 
implement. The mechanics of making a system work for regional list 
members would work under similar principles.” (David Carson, SS ID: 
184330607) 

 
However, the challenge of reconciling the Additional Member System used for 
Holyrood elections with a system of recall was raised by various respondents, 
including Grahame Charles William Howard, who responded: “I support this in 
principle but I am not clear how a safe and transparent system would work 
particularly for the regional seats.” (SS ID: 189313908) 
 
The Electoral Management Board for Scotland also highlighted the challenges 
presented by the question of recall given the electoral system used for 
Scottish Parliament elections. Whilst agreeing with the proposal that a recall 
system for constituency members could be based on the model used at 
Westminster, the EMB pointed to the problem in relation to members elected 
via the regional list element of the Additional Member System: 
 

“The potential introduction of recall system for MSPs is again a policy 
decision for the Scottish Parliament, outwith the remit of the EMB. 
However the EMB must highlight the practical challenges that it would 
involve for especially if applied to MSPs elected through the Regional 
lists. For those elected in constituencies, there is a model from the 
2015 Act that has been applied three times. There are practical 
challenges - appropriate, accessible and well located signing places, 
arrangements for postal or proxy signing, access to a current register 
etc and costs would arise for all of these that would need to be 
resourced. However the mechanism for running a petition and a 
consequent by-election is clear and has a model in the 2015 Act.  
 

Pack Page 92



34 
 

“For Regional members however vacancies are not filled by by-election 
and the approach to recall is far from clear. A successful recall petition 
might create a vacancy but the consequence would not be a by-
election. Proportionality from the original poll would need to be 
preserved. Assuming the recalled member still had the endorsement of 
their party then they would remain in the seat. If the party removed 
their endorsement then the seat would go to their next candidate on 
their list. 
 
“These are theoretical challenges to the policy, possibly beyond the 
EMB remit for comment, but they reflect clear practical problems that 
would confront Returning Officers.” (SS ID: 189229477) 

 
Dr. Alistair Clark suggested that, were a regional list member be recalled, the 
next member on the party list would assume the position of MSP without a by-
election taking place. In considering the broader issue of how recall could 
work under then AMS, he considered international examples of recall systems 
in the United States:  
 

“On the California and Colorado models discussed in the paper, I 
would avoid any two question model. The question of recall should be 
completely separate from the question of who is chosen to succeed the 
recalled MSP. On the question of thresholds for recall petitions, 10% of 
the area the MSP is elected for seems reasonable enough, whether 
that is a constituency or a regional list. I would not adopt a tiered 
approach to this where different levels are required in different types of 
electoral area. In practice however this probably means there is more 
chance of recall with a constituency MSP than a list MSP. I am 
sanguine about the fact that the recall of a regional list MSP would not 
necessarily lead to a by-election. This is how the casual vacancy 
system for the lists works, and I see no reason why it shouldn't 
continue to work that way if an MSP is recalled. The voters will have a 
new MSP, who, given what happened to their predecessor, is likely to 
take their role seriously, which seems to me to be the whole point of 
the exercise.” (SS ID: 187931325). 

 
Some respondents posed electronic solutions to the problem of how to 
conduct a recall election given the complexities of the regional list system, 
such as via a petition to Parliament, an online poll or via the Scottish 
Government website: 
 

“Similar to WM for constituencies. Somewhat like a petition to 
parliament for regional members and have a higher threshold.” (SS ID: 
188873526) 

 
“The first past the post system already exists in the UK Parliament. 
Under Regional List system elected MSPs an online poll of the Region 
to obtain a certain percentage of voters would suffice as it suffices for 
election.” (Anderson Magee, SS ID: 183022049) 

 

Pack Page 93



35 
 

“It could be envisaged that the government website could provide the 
facility for implementing such a system - providing the appropriate 
controls, security and prevention of fraudulent voting can be 
implemented. These are expected to be relatively rare occurrences and 
therefore special measures enabling relevant constituents to initiate 
and support a recall is not an insurmountable problem and ways of 
implementing electronically should be feasible and viable with minimal 
complexity.” (David Carson, SS ID: 184330607) 

Question 7. What is your view on the proposal that, 
where an MSP has been given a prison sentence, they 
should only be removed from office once any appeal 
process they pursue has concluded? 
 
125 respondents (98% of the total) answered this question.  

• 37 (30%) were fully supportive 

• 34 (27%) were partially supportive 

• 9 (7%) were partially opposed 

• 33 (26%) were fully opposed 

• 12 (10%) were neutral (neither support nor oppose) 
 
The sole organisation that provided a response, the Electoral Management 
Board for Scotland, gave a neutral response as “this would be a policy issue 
for then Parliament to determine” (SS ID: 189229477). 
 
Supportive 
 
Among those supportive of the proposal that a member should only be 
removed from office once any appeal to that sentence has concluded, some 
highlighted the need to ensure that justice was maintained and that the 
process was fair: 
 

“This allows the proper channels of justice to be followed and maintains 
the rights of the individual and they should not be sanctioned if the 
appeal process overturns an incorrect decison. If they are sanctioned 
too early and an appeal is in their favour - then this risks potential 
damage to the system and the individual. To be effective - it could be 
that the individual is allowed to continue until the appeal - but their 
ability to influence and participate in certain areas are limited if the 
nature of the issue warrants it. There may well need to be some 
principles and guidelines that determine how the individual is expected 
to perform and participate during the appeals process as it recognises 
there is uncertainty to the outcome from the appeal.” (David Carson, 
SS ID: 184330607) 
 
“Anyone convicted of a crime who is given the right of appeal has 
certain legal protection while pursuing that process. It should be no 
different for serving politicians.” (Ruairidh Duncan, SS ID: 189131147) 

Pack Page 94



36 
 

 
“It's only fair to find out if the MSP's conviction is sound and the period 
of imprisonment meets the length of term in the act.” (John Jamieson, 
SS ID: 189209226) 

 
Several individuals responding in partial support proposed that Members 
appealing a prison sentence should receive a suspension from Parliament 
until the conclusion of any appeal (Graeme Brebner, SS ID: 189286306): 
 

“They should be suspended during an appeal if the appeal is 
successful then they can be reinstated”. (Mary Rutherford Hurry, SS 
ID: 183426822) 

 
Further to this and in recognition that all individuals have a legal right to 
appeal a sentence, an anonymous respondent suggested:  
 

“perhaps a substitute MSP could be put in place when legal 
proceedings began and the accused would be removed from Holyrood 
until those proceedings had concluded. Financial penalties would be 
back-dated to the day when legal proceedings began.” (SS ID: 
189125752) 
 

John Moody also put forward this view, highlighting that appeals can take a 
long time to conclude: 
 

“I believe that due process must take place but I also recognise the 
wheels grind slowly. They should be suspended without pay, rather 
than removed from office until the appeal process is settled.” (SS ID: 
189263736) 

 
Ross Lambie also expressed partial support, suggesting alternative 
representation in instances where a Member may be given a suspended 
sentence: 
 

“If an MSP is given a suspended sentence, but is seeking appeal, then 
they should be suspended from all duties & renumeration until the 
appeal concludes. The MSP's constituents should be represented by a 
regional MSP.” (SS ID: 183927064) 

 
There were calls for a balance to be struck between ensuring any appeal 
could be carried out fairly whilst ensuring that “the constituency is not left in 
limbo for a long period of time while the appeal process is pursued” (SS ID: 
189319944). 
 
It was also suggested that the regional list system could be used to return a 
Member removed from Parliament if an appeal was successful in certain 
circumstances: 
 

“If an MSP is sentenced to prison then they are de facto incapable of 
performing their duties and should be removed; however that said if an 

Pack Page 95



37 
 

appeal is pending then the MSP should have the right to return to that 
session of Parliament should they subsequently be found not guilty, 
perhaps via the party list system.” (Dr. Owen Roberts, SS ID: 
183011196) 
 

Several respondents noted that if a convicted MSP stayed in post while 
awaiting appeal which they subsequently lost, monies should be repaid by 
that person (SS ID: 183003001; Angus Forbes, SS ID: 183354740). Edward 
Mountain MSP answered in partial support to this question and also 
suggested that remuneration could be recouped were an appeal 
unsuccessful: 
 

“We all know the length of time an appeal can take. Perhaps 
consideration should be given to allowing MSPs to remain in post until 
the appeal is heard and if the appeal is rejected then their pay and 
pension should be stopped from the original date of conviction.” (SS ID: 
186589432) 

 
An anonymous respondent, answering in partial support, suggested that an 
MSP convicted of a crime and perusing appeals would not be in a position to 
adequately represent their constituents regardless of outcome:  
 

“I understand from the hypothetical MSP's perspective that due 
process should be followed to its end. But, logically, a MSP convicted 
and then pursuing various appeals will not be quite focused on their 
job. If they are subsequently exonerated, they can take that absolution 
into the next election and stand again.” (SS ID: 189297137) 

 
Opposed 
 
The length of the appeals process was also referred to by many of those 
answering in opposition to the question. Gene Maxwell put forward the view 
that the length of an appeals process had the “potential to defeat the aims of 
the legislation by dragging out an appeal” (SS ID: 183014377).  
 
Alistair George Aitken also considered this point in his response: 
 

“Some appeals processes can take much longer than a Parliamentary 
session has finished, during which time the individual can sit in jail and 
collect taxpayers money while at the same time making spurious 
appeals. Once convicted an individual should be removed immediately, 
any subsequent appeal which is successful can trigger the possible 
return to politics by the individual.” (SS ID: 183367994) 

 
Arguments were put forward by some respondents that sentencing in and of 
itself should be the trigger for removal from office, as this, in their view, 
represented sufficient justification of guilt. For example:  

 

Pack Page 96



38 
 

“People in public life must be held to precisely the same scrutiny as 
those in private life. If found guilty by a jury of your peers then you are 
guilty.” (Anderson Magee, SS ID: 183022049) 

 
Some suggested the creation of a mechanism to ensure that any Member 
who successfully appeals a conviction can be re-instated following their 
removal from office on account of that conviction: 
 

“The disqualification must take effect immediately. Unfortunately, 
appeals processes can (and often do) drag on for years. A mechanism 
will need to be created for reinstating an MSP should their conviction 
be overturned before the expiration of the current term. If the appeal 
drags on beyond that then the disqualification can simply be lifted.” 
(Alan MacKenzie, SS ID: 189263893) 
 
“I think if an MSP has been found guilty and received a custodial 
sentence they should be removed from office, but if there is a 
successful appeal there should be a mechanism for allowing them to 
return. Could there be a suspension pending appeal model?” 
(Grahame Charles William Howard, SS ID: 189313908) 
 
“The timing means that action is required quite quickly so an appeal 
cannot be accommodated. Compensation to be paid if subsequently an 
appeal is successful.” (Stephen WA Baxter, SS ID: 184121692) 

 
However, many of those in opposition to a Member being allowed to await the 
outcome of an appeal expressed the view that they should be reappointed or 
permitted to stand again once their appeal had concluded and was 
successful: 
 

“In the event their appeal is successful, then they are at liberty to apply 
for a return to political life - but NOT during the appeal process.” (Ian 
Green, SS ID: 183023241) 
 
“If they have been found guilty they have committed a crime. If found 
not guilty upon appeal they should be able to challenge at the next 
election.” (SS ID: 186158271) 

Pack Page 97



39 
 

Financial Implications 

Question 8: Taking into account all those likely to be 
affected (including public sector bodies, businesses 
and individuals etc), is the proposed Bill likely to lead 
to: a significant increase in costs, some increase in 
costs, no overall change in costs, some reduction in 
costs, or a significant reduction in costs?  

Please indicate where you would expect the impact 
identified to fall (including public sector bodies, 
businesses and individuals etc). You may also wish to 
suggest ways in which the aims of  the Bill could be 
delivered more cost-effectively. 
 
105 respondents (82% of the total) answered this question.  

• 9 (9%) said a significant increase in costs 

• 33 (31%) some increase in costs 

• 19 (18%) some reduction in costs 

• 14 (13%) a significant reduction in costs 

• 30 (29%) no overall change in costs 
 
Increase in costs 
 
Of those who agreed that the proposed Bill would likely lead to an increase in 
costs, some identified that any by-election or recall procedure initiated as a 
result of the proposed legislation would have cost implications. This included 
the sole organisation to respond to the consultation, the Electoral 
Management Board for Scotland, who suggested there would be some 
increase in costs were the proposed Bill enacted: 
 

“Costs would arise from the by-elections arising from any vacancy 
created. Were a recall system to be introduced there would be an 
additional set of costs. In both cases these would in principle be 
covered by the Scottish Government although in practice many costs of 
elections are subsidised by local councils through whom Returning 
Officers deliver the elections and would operate the recall petitions.” 
(SS ID: 189229477). 

 
Other responses which considered the proposed Bill would lead to an 
increase in costs are set out below: 
 

“Removing someone from an elected office will clearly cost the public 
purse money. But removing the individual equals no longer paying 
someone who isn't doing the job they were elected to do. Getting 
someone elected to fill the vacant position will fall on those vying for 

Pack Page 98



40 
 

the position and the public purse which will have to fund the cost of 
organising the By-Election. This would be the same costs which would 
accrue in a By-Election though if an MSP died in post.” (Alan Jack, SS 
ID: 183037605) 

 
“If we are increasing recalls and possibilities of removals, then we are 
increasing costs for more by-elections with, if we are honest, low 
participation. Now - democracy is a cost, and we should all be 
prepared to pay it, even if that means more elections. It also means 
more campaigning by MSPs and challengers and parties, which means 
potential (in rare cases, to be sure) corruption of funding of campaigns. 
This Bills does have costs, both in real money, time, efforts, etc. But we 
just have to know that is the cost.” (SS ID: 189297137) 

 
In addition to the costs presented by running additional elections, an 
anonymous respondent highlighted the additional administrative burden that 
“monitoring, enforcing and policing the proposed reforms” would create (SS 
ID: 183174793). Ruairidh Duncan went further, highlighting the potential 
introduction and associated cost of an arbitration body, stating: 
 

“I would expect increases in costs for whoever is decided to be this 
extra arbiter of MSP performance, for the costs in organising a recall 
system, for the costs in actioning removal of MSPs, and for by-
elections. It seems unavoidable that there would have to be an 
independent (paid) position who would have the role of arbitration on 
MSP performance in the circumstance that their removal may be 
warranted under these proposals. It cannot be Parliament where it 
would be open to abuse. I see no way to avoid huge salary and admin 
costs for that position.” (SS ID: 189131147) 

 
However, some suggested that any increase in costs would be worthwhile, 
either because “doing the right thing” out weighed any increase in costs 
(Alexander Faulds, SS ID: 183058410) or because the proposed legislation 
“might deter some situations arising” in the first place (Sheila Cameron, SS 
ID: 1888965240). 
 
Reduction in costs 
 
Many of those who responded that the proposed legislation would lead to a 
reduction in costs put forward the view that the measures included in the 
proposed Bill would reduce the amount spent on MSP wages: 
 

“We would not be paying someone to do a job who cannot be bothered 
to turn up or who is currently unable to perform their job due to being 
incarcerated.” (Janette Munday, SS ID: 188867033) 
 
“Reduction in wages and expenses with immediate effect until a new 
recruit is voted in. It should increase the standards of MPs as they will 
have clear route of consequences for failing to deliver and promote 

Pack Page 99



41 
 

high standards for their electorate and the roles they fulfil.” (Brian 
Gallacher, SS ID: 183078653) 
 
“Immediate loss of salary and benefits can only lead to a cost 
reduction, particularly in regard to end of service benefits which should 
be forfeited.” (Craig Miller, SS ID: 183244216) 

 
Ross Lambie suggested that the costs incurred by an “ineffective or criminal 
MSP will cost the system so much more than the administration of a recall or 
a byelection” (SS ID: 183927064). Similarly, Stephen WA Baxter suggested: 
“An effective MSP can have economic benefit.” (SS ID: 184121692). 
 
David Carson expanded on this suggestion, expressing the view that the 
costs incurred were “potentially irrelevant to this issue”. He added: 
 

“The issue is related to effective governance and trust and if there is a 
cost associated with maintaining this then the system needs to bear 
that cost. It is hard to quantify the reputational damage and loss of trust 
that resulted from the Mackay situation. Good governance with the best 
performing and highest integrity MSPs with high standards and 
dedication to providing service to constituents will result in lower costs 
in the long run.” (SS ID: 184330607) 

 
No overall change in costs 
 
Of those who suggested the proposed legislation would result in no overall 
change in costs, reasons given included that there already exist sufficient 
resources for parliamentary scrutiny for any costs to be absorbed by the 
system (SS ID: 189259865). Roger William Henry Smith agreed, stating: 
 

“We have elections all the time for on thing or another. If we have a 
system of governmental bureaucracy in place it should be able to deal 
the such matters without greater costs being incurred bearing in mind 
that you would normally be dealing with a single constituency rather 
than an entire country.” (SS ID: 186137837) 

 
The salaries of MSPs removed from post under the proposed legislation were 
referred to, with one respondent suggesting that these should be put towards 
any cost increases created were the proposal enacted (SS ID: 186158271). 
 
Other suggestions included that the removal of MSPs for the reasons 
specified could improve efficiency (Anderson Magee, SS ID: 183022049). 

Equalities 

9. What overall impact is the proposed Bill likely to 
have on equality, taking account of  the following 
protected characteristics (under the Equality Act 
2010): age, disability, gender re-assignment, 

Pack Page 100



42 
 

marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual 
orientation?  
Please explain the reasons for your response. Where 
any negative impacts are identified, you may also 
wish to suggest ways in which these could be 
minimised or avoided. 
 
120 respondents (94% of the total) answered this question.  

• 18 (15%) said positive 

• 2 (2%) said slightly positive 

• 88 (73%) said neutral (neither positive nor negative) 

• 4 (3%) said slightly negative 

• 8 (7%) said negative 
 
Positive 
 
Some respondents suggested that the introduction of the proposed legislation, 
if applied equally, would improve equalities (Christine Campbell, SS ID: 
183207480), with an anonymous respondent suggesting the introduction of 
the proposed Bill would bring elected representatives “into line with the rules 
applied to everyone else” (SS ID: 183029207). 
 
Ross Lambie proposed that in relation to the protected characteristics 
mentioned in the question, the proposed Bill: 
 

“provides an omni present route to achieve recourse when elected 
members fall short of the standards, standards which are regularly 
updated and improved.” (SS ID: 183927064). 

 
It was also acknowledged that the introduction of the proposed Bill might 
provide the public with “a degree of comfort that any ‘rogue’ MSPs stand to be 
recalled/dismissed” under the proposals (Richard Saunders, SS ID: 
183015258). 
 
Negative 
 
Among the few respondents who said the proposed Bill would have a 
negative impact on equalities who provided comments in response to this 
question, John Mason MSP raised concerns that the proposals could 
discourage those with protected characteristics from entering politics: 
 

“For example, someone with a disability may be anxious about having 
to justify their absence several times during the parliamentary session 
and therefore be hesitant to run as a candidate.” (SS ID: 188923665) 

 

Pack Page 101



43 
 

An anonymous politician expressed a similar position, pointing out that some 
people with illnesses or disabilities might ordinarily choose not to disclose 
these personal details. The response continued:  
 

“People already are subjected to old fashioned expectations, and 
presenteeism- a lot of work is done unseen by others. I cannot 
overstate enough the negative impact this will have on women and 
those with caring responsibilities in particular. Bias will take over.” (SS 
ID: 186523392) 

 
Another anonymous respondent also felt the proposed Bill would prevent 
people being given an equal chance: “You are not showing equality in this Bill 
- equality is all about giving everyone a chance and you wanting to stop that.” 
(SS ID: 189169696) 
 
Neutral – neither positive or negative 
 
A significant proportion of responses to this question set out that the 
respondent did not feel the question was relevant. Other responses included 
the views that: 
 

• the proposed Bill “should apply to all, therefore there is no impact to 
equality legislation.” (SS ID: 183367994) 

• while the proposed Bill itself should not be discriminatory, it could 
“marginalise electors, especially from minority groups, who could face 
their choices being minimised further.” (Ruairidh Duncan, SS ID: 
189131147) 

• the process itself should be “blind to all protected characteristics.” (SS 
ID: 189319944) 

 
The Electoral Management Board for Scotland did not provide further 
comment in answer to this question.  
 

Sustainability 

10. In terms of  assessing the proposed Bill’s potential 
impact on sustainable development, you may wish to 
consider how it relates to the following principles: 

• living within environmental limits 

• ensuring a strong, healthy and just society 

• achieving a sustainable economy 

• promoting effective, participative systems of  
governance 

• ensuring policy is developed on the basis of  
strong scientific evidence.  

Pack Page 102



44 
 

With these principles in mind, do you consider that 
the Bill can be delivered sustainably? 

 
106 respondents (83% of the total) answered this question. 

• 99 (93%) said yes 

• 7 (7%) said no 
 
Of those who provided comment, a significant proportion felt that the question 
was not relevant. 
 
The Electoral Management Board for Scotland did not provide an answer to 
this question. 
 
Yes – can be delivered sustainably 
 
Among the responses to this question which suggested the proposed Bill 
could be delivered sustainably, some respondents specifically highlighted the 
sustainability aims of ensuring a strong, healthy and just society, and 
promoting effective, participative systems of government, suggesting the 
proposals would have a positive impact on these areas (Stephen WA Baxter, 
SS ID 184121692; David Carson, SS ID: 184330607) 
 
Other comments included that: 
 

• the proposals would help ensure that Scotland has “people who have 
integrity, honesty and morals representing us.” (Lynne Goodwin, SS ID: 
183233088) 

• the proposals would improve “‘democratic development’, in recognition 
that the democratic process is in a state of continual evolution.” (Ross 
Lambie, SS ID: 183927064) 

• that the “listed principles are more likely to be delivered sustainably by 
hardworking, honest MSP's, rather than convicted criminals or MSP's 
who fail to make sufficient input to the role they were elected to 
perform.” (SS ID: 189160569) 

• an increase in campaigns and elections could have a negative 
environmental impact (SS ID: 189297137) 

 
No – cannot be delivered sustainably 
 
The majority of respondents who answered No to this question did not provide 
further comment. 

General 

11. Do you have any other additional comments or 
suggestions on the proposed Bill (which have not 
already been covered in any of  your responses to 
earlier questions)? 

Pack Page 103



45 
 

 
In its response to this question, the Electoral Management Board for Scotland 
reiterated the challenge of introducing a recall system: 
 

“The disqualification or recall of MSPs is a policy issue for Parliament. 
However the costs and practical challenges of recall need to be 
recognised. There are three case studies form the UK level to inform 
thinking with respect to constituency recall. The idea of the recall of a 
regional member is hard to justify given the electoral system employed 
at Scottish Parliament elections. Maintaining proportionality does not 
align with by-elections at the regional level.” (SS ID: 189229477) 

 
Final points made by respondents in answer to this question included the 
following:  

• that the proposals could discourage people from diverse 
backgrounds standing for elected politics, and that “in the age of 
internet shaming, cancel culture and aggressive divisive politics, this 
has the potential to add to the list of reasons ordinary people will rule 
out entering politics.” (SS ID: 186523392) 

• that MSPs should be expected to adequately represent their 
constituents and “behave like a representative of the people” (SS ID: 
183003001) 

• that the proposed legislation should also apply to members who 
change party affiliation (Alexander David Malcolm, SS ID: 
183034666) 

• that five-year sessions of Parliament are “unusually long”, and “the 
addition of legislative tools to intervene where serious breaches of 
public trust and expectation has occurred is necessary here in Scotland 
more than most western democracies.” (Ross Lambie, SS ID: 
183927064) 

• that MSPs should receive harsher sentences for crimes committed 
due to breaching their position of trust as an elected representative (SS 
ID: 186158271) 

• the proposed Bill could “backfire and actually reduce the democratic 
backstop” (Ruairidh Duncan, SS ID: 189131147) 

Pack Page 104



46 
 

Section 4: Member’s Commentary 
 
Graham Simpson MSP has provided the following commentary on the results 
of the consultation, as summarised in sections 1-3 above: 
 
Can I start by thanking all those who have helped me to get to this point with 
my bill proposal. That includes everyone who responded to the consultation, 
the parliamentary staff without who I could not have proceeded and my own 
staff, in particular Josh Hill who has done a power of work and has more to 
come.   
  
The demand for MSPs to follow the same principles that bind councillors in 
chambers across the country and our MPs in Westminster is high. Voters 
want their elected officials to be present, working hard on behalf of 
constituents and law abiding. However, the consultation has also highlighted 
several practical challenges including the impact our proportional 
representation electoral system will have on any recall process and what 
constitutes effective participation.    
   
I was delighted to receive such a positive response. There were 130 
responses in total, of which 79.23% were fully supportive and an additional 
12.31% partially supportive. As a result, more than 90% of those who took 
part in the process were supportive of the bill, reinforcing the point that the 
introduction of these powers is well overdue. I note in particular the responses 
from members of the public who clearly feel aggrieved by the fact that 
currently there is no way of ensuring MSPs are fulfilling their duties.  
 
There are three elements to my proposal.  
 
The first element states that any MSP who fails to turn up for work without a 
reasonable excuse for six months or more should lose their job. There is an 
acknowledgement in the responses that this is necessary to avoid 
parliamentary systems from being abused and uphold parliamentary 
standards. I note some have raised concerns about how participation should 
be measured. These are valid. However, I am of the mind that in an era of 
flexible working, where MSPs can easily take part in parliamentary 
proceedings remotely, there is really no excuse for not doing so. I intend to 
proceed with this element.  
 
On the second proposal, which states that if an MSP was jailed for any term 
they should automatically lose their job, I was interested to read the 
arguments from both sides. Currently, an MSP would lose their job if they 
were jailed for more than 12 months. It is clear voters believe that lawmakers, 
who themselves break the law, should not be trusted to legislate. My proposal 
was not directed at mere convictions but being imprisoned. 
 
On reflection, and taking into account a number of pertinent responses, I think 
my original proposal was too harsh. There are clearly a number of minor 
offences which would warrant a very short prison sentence but not an MSP’s 

Pack Page 105



47 
 

removal from office – such as participating in protests. Therefore, I will 
consider proceeding with this element on the basis that an MSP would lose 
their job if jailed for six months or more.  
 
The responses to my third and final proposal, which is arguably the most 
complicated element of the bill, have certainly given me food for thought. I 
wanted to introduce a recall system into the Scottish Parliament. Recall is 
where the electorate in an area can trigger an election to remove an elected 
representative before the end of their term if certain conditions are met. At 
present, only MPs can be recalled in the UK. 
 
In the consultation document I suggested that the recall of constituency MSPs 
could follow the same model as used at Westminster under the Recall of MPs 
Act 2015. However, the difficulty I faced is that we have two types of MSPs, 
constituency members elected first-past-the-post and regional members like 
myself who are elected through a party list. Any recall system would have to 
be fair to both.  
 
If a constituency member faced a recall vote they could stand in any by 
election. However, if a regional member is removed, they are replaced by the 
next person on the party list and it is not obvious how they could fight a by 
election since there is no mechanism for one with regional members. This 
posed a real test to respondents to the consultation. 
 
There was widespread support (81 per cent fully supportive) among 
respondents for the introduction of a recall element but, unsurprisingly, neither 
members of the public, academics or politicians could agree on a definitive 
solution to this problem.  Nonetheless, having taken on board the comments 
set out above and conducted additional research into this area I have 
developed a detailed approach to recall which the bill could be based upon 
going forward.  
 
I note the responses, in particularly from academics, who like me have tried to 
find a solution to this proposal by using international examples which already 
exist. Although such examples do not provide a perfect resolution, a number 
of these (including the State Senate in Colorado and the Governor of 
California) which use a dual-vote process for recall elections offer an initial 
model which this proposal can build upon.    
  
Taking this into account I propose, were a regional member to step out of line 
and a recall process triggered the electorate would first be asked if there 
should be a recall – that’s the same as for constituency members under the 
Westminster system. If the answer is yes, then I believe there should then be 
a vote as to whether the member should be allowed to continue. The member 
would have the opportunity to fight to stay on – effectively giving them the 
same rights as constituency member to put their case to the voters.  
 
A number of respondents, although supportive of this element of the bill, 
made some important points about the feasibility of a recall election. I hope 

Pack Page 106



48 
 

my suggestion above will go some way to easing these concerns and I look 
forward to hearing people’s views on this as we continue through the process.  
  
In conclusion, I believe the responses to the consultation make clear that at 
present there is high demand for MSPs to be held accountable for their 
actions whilst in public office. Enshrining these powers into law is vital to 
prevent Members from taking advantage of this privileged position. I intend to 
engage further with relevant groups and organisations to ensure this proposal 
is as successful as possible. We owe it to all voters in Scotland. 
 
I now plan to seek cross party support for my proposed bill in order to move to 
drawing up a workable bill. 
 

Pack Page 107



49 
 

Annexe 
 

Response 
number  

Name of organisation/individual  Smart Survey ID  
Number  

1 Anonymous  ID183003036 

2 Anonymous  ID183012550 

3 Roberts, Dr O ID183011196 

4 Lydon, J ID183014432 

5 Maxwell, G ID183014377 

6 Anonymous ID183016128 

7 Anonymous ID183016691 

8 Dillion, S ID183018343 

9 Saunders, R ID183015258 

10 Anonymous ID183019525 

11 Baxter, H ID183022894 

12 Green, I ID183023241 

13 Anonymous ID183003001 

14 Magee, A ID183022049 

15 Anonymous ID183029417 

16 Anonymous  ID183029207 

17 Malcolm, A ID183034666 

18 Jack, A ID183037605 

19 Kennedy, S ID183050376 

20 Winton, A ID183050770 

21 Faulds, A ID183058410 

22 Finlay, P ID183072023 

23 Anonymous  ID183073998 

24 Gallacher, B ID183078653 

25 Kelly, J ID183081060 

26 Reid, A ID183082889 

27 Douglas, E ID183111587 

28 Milne, A ID183130187 

29 Whitson, L ID183087215 

30 Hardie, M ID183170086 

31 Anonymous  ID183174793 

32 Fairgrieve, A ID183175995 

33 Campbell, C ID183207480 

34 Anonymous ID183228433 

35 Goodwin, L ID183233088 

36 Millar, C ID183244216 

37 Forbes, A ID183354740 

38 Hurry, M ID183426822 

39 Anonymous  ID183367994 

40 Anonymous ID183582179 

41 Lambie, R ID183927064 

42 Baxter, S ID184121692 

43 Carson, D ID184330607 

44 McGregor, A ID185834543 

Pack Page 108



50 
 

45 Scott, W ID186139711 

46 Smith, R ID186137837 

47 Dalby, P ID186141033 

48 Swan, M ID186153648 

49 Beattie, S ID186158042 

50 Anonymous ID186160117 

51 Anonymous  ID186158271 

52 Anonymous ID186523392 

53 Mountain MSP, E ID186589432 

54 Calder, F ID187250640 

55 Morgan, B ID187250692 

56 Clark, Dr A ID187931325 

57 Fraser, A ID188610730 

58 McCall, J ID188864152 

59 Munday, J ID188867033 

60 Anonymous  ID188873526 

61 Cameron, S ID188896524 

62 Mason MSP, J ID188923665 

63 Connelly, A ID189085470 

64 Anonymous ID189125752 

65 Duncan, R ID189131147 

66 Jack, L ID189132038 

67 Bell-Palmer, G ID189131147 

68 McLennan, R ID189146156 

69 Anonymous ID189149670 

70 Short, S ID189153305 

71 Anonymous ID189156156 

72 Anonymous ID189169696 

73 Anonymous ID189160569 

74 Manges, A ID189158354 

75 Brown, J ID189164098 

76 Anonymous  ID189180152 

77 Forsyth, M ID189183407 

78 Anonymous ID189183525 

79 Hogg, P ID189185852 

80 Anonymous  ID189194582 

81 Moffat, T ID189203204 

82 Anonymous  ID189212230 

83 Hughes, A ID189218713 

84 Mackintosh, G ID189220305 

85 Jamieson, J ID189209226 

86 McLennan, A ID189232057 

87 Anonymous ID189235020 

88 Paterson, L ID189237451 

89 Collins, J ID189244812 

90 Anonymous ID189250545 

91 Anonymous ID189259865 

92 Alexander, G ID189264122 

Pack Page 109



51 
 

93 Moody, J ID189263736 

94 Anonymous  ID189268061 

95 Whitton, A ID189272316 

96 Anonymous ID189281056 

97 Brebner, G ID189286306 

98 Anonymous ID189297137 

99 Mackie, V ID189312017 

100 MacKenzie, A ID189263893 

101 Howard, G ID189313908 

102 Anonymous  ID189319944 

103 Anonymous  ID189325683 

104 Anonymous ID189325978 

105 Halford, P ID189337414 

106 Electoral Management Board for 
Scotland  

ID189229477 

 
 

Pack Page 110



Petitions, Polling Stations and Paisley: the First
Outworking of the Recall of MPs Act 2015

JONATHAN TONGE

Abstract
The Recall of MPs Act 2015 allows constituents to petition for their MP to be unseated. A
petition of recall is opened, for six weeks, if an MP has received a custodial sentence or been
suspended from the House of Commons for ten or more sitting days. Should 10 per cent of
constituents sign the petition, a by-election is required, which the deposed MP has the right
to contest. The first test of the Act came in 2018, when Ian Paisley, MP for North Antrim,
was suspended from the Commons for thirty days. This article examines how the Act was
implemented and assesses whether procedural oddities played any part in the petition failing
to attract sufficient signatures to trigger a by-election.
Keywords: recall, petition, signatures, by-election, MP, Paisley

Introduction
THE RECALL OF MPs Act 2015 is a radical piece
of legislation which, for the first time, allows
for the removal of an MP by the public. The
Act allows for a petition of recall to be
opened if the MP has received a custodial or
suspended prison sentence; is convicted of
providing false or misleading information
for allowance claims under the Parliamen-
tary Standards Act 2009; or is barred from
the House of Commons for ten sitting days,
or fourteen calendar days. If the petition to
unseat the elected member attracts signa-
tures from a minimum of 10 per cent of the
MP’s constituents, a by-election is called. The
unseated MP is allowed to take part.

July 2018 saw the first deployment of the
Act. The Democratic Unionist party (DUP)
MP for North Antrim, Ian Paisley, was
barred from the House of Commons for
thirty days. His suspension, recommended
by the House of Commons Standards Com-
mittee and approved by the Commons, fol-
lowed undeclared holidays in Sri Lanka and
representations on behalf of the Sri Lankan
government which amounted to ‘paid advo-
cacy’.1 The length of Paisley’s ban triggered
a petition under the 2015 Act. The petition
had to remain open for at least six weeks,
but only 9.4 per cent of the electorate signed

the petition, just short of the 10 per cent
required to enforce a by-election. Paisley was
able to resume his position in the Commons
once his suspension expired.

This article examines this first outworking
of the 2015 Act, exploring the background,
implementation and potential implications of
the Paisley case. The episode showed that
even in a serious case of misconduct—Pais-
ley’s suspension from the Commons was the
longest on record—the electorate may not be
greatly exercised. However, the article does
also indicate that promotion of the petition
facility may in this case have been modest,
with lessons to be heeded for implementing
the Act within a constituency.

The Recall of MPs Act 2015
The Recall of MPs Act passed under the
Conservative-Liberal Democrat coalition in
2015 came into force in March 2016. Its his-
tory lies in the parliamentary expenses scan-
dal which emerged in 2009. Whilst some
MPs resigned or were prosecuted (or both),
there was no punitive sanction available to
electors. The legacy of the saga was the need
to empower constituents to be able to take
action against MPs in breach of the law or
parliamentary rules. One MP referred during
the passage of the Recall Bill to the ‘disgust

The Political Quarterly, Vol. 90, No. 1, January–March 2019

© The Author 2019. The Political Quarterly © The Political Quarterly Publishing Co. Ltd. 2019
Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 9600 Garsington Road, Oxford OX4 2DQ, UK and 350 Main Street, Malden, MA 02148, USA

143
Pack Page 111

http://crossmark.crossref.org/dialog/?doi=10.1111%2F1467-923X.12640&domain=pdf&date_stamp=2019-01-07


that many of our constituents still feel about
politics and politicians’.2 Survey evidence
suggested that 79 per cent of the public
viewed the right of recall of MPs as a ‘good
idea’, with only 10 per cent believing it be a
‘bad idea’.3 The promise of ‘early legislation
to introduce a power of recall, allowing vot-
ers to force a by-election where an MP is
found to have engaged in serious wrongdo-
ing and having had a petition calling for a
by-election signed by 10 per cent of con-
stituents’, was written into the Conservative-
Liberal Democrat 2010 coalition agreement.4

The government’s decision to offer recall
powers attracted cross-party support. Labour
had offered a manifesto pledge in 2010 that
‘MPs who are found responsible for financial
misconduct will be subject to a right of
recall’.5

The Recall of MPs Act offered limited
powers of recall to voters in the event of
serious and proven cases of misconduct,
which had led to the criminal conviction of
an MP or a lengthy suspension from the
Commons. This confinement of powers of
recall to the most serious cases of impropri-
ety was designed to assuage those MPs fear-
ful of abuse by politically motivated
constituents. The House of Commons Politi-
cal and Constitutional Reform Select Com-
mittee opposed the recall power, arguing
that the House of Commons Standards Com-
mittee, which now included lay members,
was capable of taking sanctions against
errant MPs.6 Some MPs feared recall devices
could be used by electors to deselect MPs,
prevent them taking unpopular decisions, or
inhibit them from voting against the wishes
of a section of the constituency. It was feared
this would reduce MPs to the status of man-
dated delegates, altering their role from rep-
resentatives who base their Commons votes
on their personal and political views rather
than overt constituency pressure. Recall
powers were thus confined to the ‘hard’
cases.

Infertile territory for the Recall
Act: the Paisley ‘brand’ and the
North Antrim constituency
The suspension of Ian Paisley fell clearly
within the terms of the 2015 Recall Act.

Following an unambiguously condemnatory
report from the Standards Committee, the
MP was barred from the Commons for thirty
sitting days, beginning on 4 September 2018,
following his failure to declare two family
holidays in 2013, worth more than £50,000
and paid for by the Sri Lankan government.
A further solo visit later that year was regis-
tered. The Daily Telegraph had revealed the
undeclared family holidays.7 Moreover, Pais-
ley had engaged in advocacy on behalf of
the provider of those holidays. In 2014, Pais-
ley lobbied against supporting a UN resolu-
tion critical of human rights abuses by the
Sri Lankan government during the conflict
against the Tamil Tigers. Sir Kevin Barron,
Chair of the Standards Committee, declared
that Paisley was guilty of ‘serious miscon-
duct and his actions were of a nature to
bring the House of Commons into disre-
pute’. Barron also asserted that the
investigation ‘could have been considerably
shortened if Mr Paisley had been more coop-
erative initially’.8

The recall petition was thus triggered by
the Speaker of the House, John Bercow, who
formally informed the Chief Electoral Officer
(CEO) for Northern Ireland, Virginia McVea,
of the Commons decision. The CEO was
obliged to set up a petition within ten work-
ing days and specify the six-week period
within which the petition could be signed.
All electors in the North Antrim constituency
were notified of the petition on 6–7 August
and the petition opened for signing on 8
August. With the constituency electorate
numbering 75,430, the 10 per cent require-
ment meant 7,543 signatures were needed to
trigger a by-election. However, 7,099 were
received, 444 short of the required minimum.
Insufficient signatures meant Paisley could
return as an MP once his thirty-day Com-
mons suspension expired, without further
sanction. Paisley appeared surprised, saying
the outcome was ‘a miracle’ and that he was
‘stunned’ and ‘greatly humbled’. Paisley’s
twitter account went on to claim he had
achieved the ‘highest recorded vote in NI,
90.6% support from recall petition’. Oppo-
nents were less enamoured, the Alliance
party Northern Ireland Assembly member,
Kellie Armstrong, claiming that ‘in any other
part of the UK Ian Paisley would have had
to resign in disgrace’.9

144 JONATHAN TONGE

The Political Quarterly, Vol. 90, No. 1 © The Author 2019. The Political Quarterly © The Political Quarterly Publishing Co. Ltd. 2019

 1467923x, 2019, 1, D
ow

nloaded from
 https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/doi/10.1111/1467-923X

.12640 by U
niversity O

f L
iverpool, W

iley O
nline L

ibrary on [01/05/2024]. See the T
erm

s and C
onditions (https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/term

s-and-conditions) on W
iley O

nline L
ibrary for rules of use; O

A
 articles are governed by the applicable C

reative C
om

m
ons L

icense

Pack Page 112



From the outset, the triggering of a by-
election, let alone the eventual unseating of
Ian Paisley, appeared a tough task for those
investing hopes that consequences would
flow from the 2015 Act. Affection towards
the Paisley brand name remained consider-
able in North Antrim. Since Ian Paisley
Senior captured the seat in 1970, the Paisley
majority had never fallen below five figures.
Paisley Junior’s 20,643 majority in 2017,
achieved with 59 per cent of the total vote,
was the largest yet of the three occasions he
had fought the seat.10 Whilst a figure of 90.6
per cent failing to sign the petition might be
regarded as more a case of apathy than adu-
lation, the incumbent was held in sufficient
regard for North Antrim to become the by-
election that never was. Paisley was regu-
larly returned for the second most unionist
constituency (in terms of unionist vote share)
in Northern Ireland; 66 per cent Protestant,
with a 73 per cent unionist vote in 2017. In a
polity where the sectarian faultline remains
very stark, the correlation between the per-
centage of Protestants in a constituency and
the percentage unionist vote was 0.96 in
2017—in one sense, an extraordinarily high
figure, but routine for Northern Ireland.11

Nonetheless, there were sufficient oppo-
nents of Paisley, and/or his party, resident
in North Antrim to trigger a petition had
this been desired. On a 64 per cent turnout
at the 2017 general election, the total of
48,460 votes cast included a 22 per cent
nationalist vote, drawn overwhelmingly
from the 28 per cent of constituents hailing
from a Catholic community background. Six
per cent of voters had also chosen candidates
aligned to neither the unionist nor nationalist
bloc in the 2017 election. Paisley had to hope
that voters were not necessarily petitioners.
The recalled MP was reliant upon a majority
of the 19,939 constituents who had voted
against him only sixteen months earlier not
being inclined to foist another contest upon
their constituency by signing the petition.

A by-election would have been interesting
only had there been a three-way split in the
unionist vote between Paisley standing as an
independent candidate, having been sus-
pended by his party following his exclusion
from the Commons, taking on a new DUP
candidate and the hard-line Traditional
Unionist Voice’s Jim Allister, meaning the

35,000 unionist votes could have potentially
split three ways. Among non-unionists, some
in the Social Democratic and Labour party
favoured running a unity ‘anti-Brexit’ candi-
date to harness the 13,000 non-unionist votes
cast in the 2017 general election. Paisley
would have been a strong favourite to win
any such contest, but not an absolute
certainty.

With no need for a by-election, since the
petition had flopped, the DUP lifted Paisley’s
suspension from the party, declining to com-
ment on whether party inquiries had
revealed anything beyond the conclusions of
the Commons Committee on Standards
detailed report. The DUP stated that Paisley
was barred from holding party office for a
year, although he was not holding office at
the time in any case.

Implementing the Recall Act in
the constituency
The implementation of the petition proved
controversial, with concerns expressed over
the limited number of petition stations, their
opening hours and their locations. The peti-
tion was opened for signing from 8 August
to 19 September from 09.00 to 17.00 Monday
to Friday (as recommended in the legisla-
tion) with opening hours extended to 21.00
on 6 and 13 September. Petition signatures
had to be verified daily by the Petitions Offi-
cer. Two leisure centres, in Ballymoney and
Ballymena, and a recreation centre in Bally-
castle were used as petition stations. The leg-
islation permitted the opening of a further
seven stations, but this did not transpire
(fifty-three polling stations were used in the
constituency in the 2017 general election).
The Ulster Unionist party leader, Robin
Swann, claimed that only opening three peti-
tion stations was ‘totally inadequate for a
constituency the size of North Antrim’, add-
ing that in limiting their opening hours, ‘the
Electoral Office has shown little regard to
people in daytime employment’.12

Northern Ireland’s sectarian geography
remains sensitive and there appeared to be a
case for maximising the number of petition-
signing stations to ensure this could not be
raised as an issue. Ballymena and Bally-
money are largely Protestant and unionist

P E T I T I O N S , P O L L I N G S T A T I O N S A N D P A I S L E Y 145

© The Author 2019. The Political Quarterly © The Political Quarterly Publishing Co. Ltd. 2019 The Political Quarterly, Vol. 90, No. 1

 1467923x, 2019, 1, D
ow

nloaded from
 https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/doi/10.1111/1467-923X

.12640 by U
niversity O

f L
iverpool, W

iley O
nline L

ibrary on [01/05/2024]. See the T
erm

s and C
onditions (https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/term

s-and-conditions) on W
iley O

nline L
ibrary for rules of use; O

A
 articles are governed by the applicable C

reative C
om

m
ons L

icense

Pack Page 113



towns, although each contains a significant
Catholic minority (25 per cent and 17 per
cent respectively). Only one petition station
was located in a nationalist area. Ballycastle
is predominantly Catholic (77 per cent) but
is tiny (population 5,000) and remote on the
northern coast. The siting of such stations
was arguably important, as it could involve
travel to an unfamiliar location for an obvi-
ous political purpose. Entering a polling sta-
tion no one is aware of a voter’s choice.
Entering a petition signing station is to
engage in a visible electoral action; all obser-
vers knew that the entrant had arrived to
unseat the incumbent MP.

Set against these concerns, however, a
postal request to sign the petition was readily
available to anyone. Given a troubled history
of alleged electoral fraud, postal votes on
demand are not normally available in North-
ern Ireland elections, but rules were relaxed
for the petitioning. Postal ‘votes’ for 3,233
people were issued for those wishing to sign
the petition that way rather than in person,
but 1,000 were not returned. This 31 per cent
non-return rate contrasted sharply with the
2017 general election, when only 9.9 per cent
of postal votes issued were not returned.13

That nearly three times as many postal votes
were issued compared to the election might
suggest that voters were reluctant to travel to
petition, although easier availability of the
postal method is also an explanation. Con-
stituents had six weeks to sign the petition,
whereas those voting in person have a single
day at an election. Constituents could also
apply for a proxy vote, allowing someone to
go and sign the petition on their behalf but
only ten constituents exercised this option.
Applications for postal or proxy votes could
be downloaded online. All constituents were
notified by post of the existence of the petition
and the reasons why it had been initiated.

Ironically, the public petition signing at the
three designated centres was accompanied by
tight legal restrictions on how the petition
was proceeding. The law was interpreted as
prohibiting any statements as to who had
signed the petition, or how it was proceeding
in terms of turnout. Forecasts of the outcome
were also apparently barred. Yet, the law is
unclear. The Recall of MPs Act 2015 does not
say a great deal about this and the Electoral
Commission acknowledged there were

problems in this respect. The apparent restric-
tions ‘caused concern and confusion among
campaigners, the media and the public . . . it
would be beneficial if more clarity and guid-
ance on this provision was put in place ahead
of any future recall provisions’.14

The 2015 Act allows for campaigning on the
petition. Individuals, political parties or busi-
nesses can register as campaigners by notify-
ing the Petition Officer (the Returning Officer
in the constituency) in writing, provided they
are UK based. They do not need to be regis-
tered in the constituency in which the petition
is in place. A spending limit of £500 for non-
registered campaigners and £10,000 for regis-
tered campaigners applies. Yet, the require-
ments for secrecy over the progress of the
petition may mean that campaigning is neces-
sarily restricted. This certainly proved the case
in North Antrim. Only Sinn F�ein and the Alli-
ance party registered as official campaigners,
with total spending modest, at £4,178—the
vast bulk by Sinn F�ein.

Turnout was clearly low overall and was
reported afterwards by the Electoral Com-
mission’s observers as having been very low
during the middle weeks of the campaign.
The Commission concluded that ‘there may
have not been a strong awareness of
amongst electors of the recall petition
throughout the whole six-week period’. A
brief flurry of activity at either end of the
petitioning period was evident.

Conclusion
The Recall of MPs Act 2015 provides electors
with significant powers never previously
held between elections. Voters now have
recourse to action in the event of serious
misdemeanours by their elected representa-
tive. These powers are not granted to usurp
a democratic election result, but instead give
electors the chance to reflect upon the
conduct of their MP in instances of serious,
proven misconduct. The 2015 Act offers an
appropriate balance between electors and the
previously elected. Electors have the oppor-
tunity to force a new election by petitioning,
but they can eschew the opportunity and
even if they accept the chance, the unseated
MP is afforded the opportunity to defend his
or her actions and their overall record in the
by-election.

146 JONATHAN TONGE

The Political Quarterly, Vol. 90, No. 1 © The Author 2019. The Political Quarterly © The Political Quarterly Publishing Co. Ltd. 2019

 1467923x, 2019, 1, D
ow

nloaded from
 https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/doi/10.1111/1467-923X

.12640 by U
niversity O

f L
iverpool, W

iley O
nline L

ibrary on [01/05/2024]. See the T
erm

s and C
onditions (https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/term

s-and-conditions) on W
iley O

nline L
ibrary for rules of use; O

A
 articles are governed by the applicable C

reative C
om

m
ons L

icense

Pack Page 114



The conduct of the 2018 North Antrim peti-
tioning exercise ought to invite reflection. The
Electoral Commission concluded that the peti-
tion was run appropriately. It found that
there was ‘no evidence that an increased
number of signing places would have con-
tributed to a different result at the end of the
recall petition’.15 Yet there was no clinching
piece of evidence either way. Greater generos-
ity of provision might have made a difference;
it is simply unknown. One might reasonably
assume that, at an election, spacing polling
stations twenty-one miles apart, akin to the
way petition stations were set up, would have
an adverse impact upon turnout. As such,
using the permitted maximum of ten petition
stations might have been more logical in the
North Antrim Paisley case. The use of a mere
three has not been adequately explained and,
given Northern Ireland’s sectarian geography,
may have been a mistake.

Paisley’s triumph of the unwilling was not,
however, due merely to procedural oddities.
The bigger political message to be inculcated
is that MPs and political parties in Northern
Ireland’s divided polity may be largely imper-
vious to the damage that might be inflicted
upon them for misconduct in a more normal
political system. In Northern Ireland, loyalty
to the MP, his party and unionism appeared
strong. As such, this was a tough opening test
for those hoping to see the Recall of MPs Act
bite. Given the seriousness of offences
required to trigger recall petitions, the number
of future petitioning cases brought about
under the Act is likely to be minimal and
changes of MP perhaps even rarer.

Notes
1 House of Commons Committee on Standards,
Third Report of Session 2017–19, Ian Paisley,
HC1397, 2018; https://publications.parliament.
uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmstandards/1397/
1397.pdf (accessed 18 December 2018).

2 Debbie Abrahams MP, House of Commons
Debate, 21 October 2014, c780.

3 YouGov survey results, in House of Commons
Political and Constitutional Reform Committee,
First Report of Session 2012–13, Recall of MPs,
HC 373, 2012, p. 34; https://publications.par
liament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmpolcon/
373/373.pdf (accessed 18 December 2018).

4 HM Government, The Coalition: Our Programme
For Government, 2010, p. 27; https://assets.
publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/file/78977/coa
lition_programme_for_government.pdf (accessed
18 December 2018).

5 Labour Party, A Future Fair for All. Election
Manifesto 2010, Democratic Reform, 9:2, 2010;
http://www.cpa.org.uk/cpa_documents/The
LabourPartyManifesto-2010.pdf (accessed 18
December 2018).

6 House of Commons Political and Constitu-
tional Reform Committee, First Report of Ses-
sion 2012–13, 2012, Recall of MPs, HC 373;
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/
cmselect/cmpolcon/373/373.pdf (accessed 18
December 2018).

7 ‘The MP, the £100k gifts and the Brexit trade
deal: questions over Ian Paisley Jr’s register of
interests after Sri Lanka trip’, Daily Telegraph, 8
September 2017; https://www.telegraph.co.
uk/news/2017/09/07/mp-100k-gifts-brexit-
trade-deal/ (accessed 18 December 2018).

8 ‘Ian Paisley: MPs vote to suspend North Antrim
MP for 30 days’, BBC News, 26 July 2018;
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ire
land-44932312 (accessed 18 December 2018).

9 ‘Complaints over Ian Paisley recall petition
rejected’, BBC News, 5 November 2018;
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ire
land-46094347 (accessed 18 December 2018).

10 J. Tonge, ‘Prospect of by-election hardly
enhanced by the petition’s interesting rules
and preposterous levels of secrecy’, Belfast Tele-
graph, 21 September 2018; https://www.belfast
telegraph.co.uk/opinion/news-analysis/paisle
y-petition-of-recall-jon-tonge-prospect-of-bye
lection-hardly-enhanced-by-the-petitions-intere
sting-rules-and-preposterous-levels-of-secrecy-
37338846.html (accessed 18 December 2018).

11 J. Tonge and J. Evans, ‘Northern Ireland: dou-
ble triumph for the Democratic Unionist
party’, Parliamentary Affairs, vol. 71, (S1), no. 4,
2018, p.143.

12 ‘Voters able to sign Paisley petition in three
locations’, BBC News, 9 August 2018; https://
www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-
45055761 (accessed 18 December 2018).

13 The Electoral Commission, Report on the 2018
Recall Petition in North Antrim, 5 November
2018; https://www.electoralcommission.org.
uk/find-information-by-subject/elections-and-
referendums/past-elections-and-referendums/
2018-recall-petition-in-north-antrim (accessed
18 December 2018).

14 Ibid.
15 Ibid.

P E T I T I O N S , P O L L I N G S T A T I O N S A N D P A I S L E Y 147

© The Author 2019. The Political Quarterly © The Political Quarterly Publishing Co. Ltd. 2019 The Political Quarterly, Vol. 90, No. 1

 1467923x, 2019, 1, D
ow

nloaded from
 https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/doi/10.1111/1467-923X

.12640 by U
niversity O

f L
iverpool, W

iley O
nline L

ibrary on [01/05/2024]. See the T
erm

s and C
onditions (https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/term

s-and-conditions) on W
iley O

nline L
ibrary for rules of use; O

A
 articles are governed by the applicable C

reative C
om

m
ons L

icense

Pack Page 115

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmstandards/1397/1397.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmstandards/1397/1397.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmstandards/1397/1397.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmpolcon/373/373.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmpolcon/373/373.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmpolcon/373/373.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/78977/coalition_programme_for_government.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/78977/coalition_programme_for_government.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/78977/coalition_programme_for_government.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/78977/coalition_programme_for_government.pdf
http://www.cpa.org.uk/cpa_documents/TheLabourPartyManifesto-2010.pdf
http://www.cpa.org.uk/cpa_documents/TheLabourPartyManifesto-2010.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmpolcon/373/373.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmpolcon/373/373.pdf
https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2017/09/07/mp-100k-gifts-brexit-trade-deal/
https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2017/09/07/mp-100k-gifts-brexit-trade-deal/
https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2017/09/07/mp-100k-gifts-brexit-trade-deal/
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-44932312
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-44932312
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-46094347
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-46094347
https://www.belfasttelegraph.co.uk/opinion/news-analysis/paisley-petition-of-recall-jon-tonge-prospect-of-byelection-hardly-enhanced-by-the-petitions-interesting-rules-and-preposterous-levels-of-secrecy-37338846.html
https://www.belfasttelegraph.co.uk/opinion/news-analysis/paisley-petition-of-recall-jon-tonge-prospect-of-byelection-hardly-enhanced-by-the-petitions-interesting-rules-and-preposterous-levels-of-secrecy-37338846.html
https://www.belfasttelegraph.co.uk/opinion/news-analysis/paisley-petition-of-recall-jon-tonge-prospect-of-byelection-hardly-enhanced-by-the-petitions-interesting-rules-and-preposterous-levels-of-secrecy-37338846.html
https://www.belfasttelegraph.co.uk/opinion/news-analysis/paisley-petition-of-recall-jon-tonge-prospect-of-byelection-hardly-enhanced-by-the-petitions-interesting-rules-and-preposterous-levels-of-secrecy-37338846.html
https://www.belfasttelegraph.co.uk/opinion/news-analysis/paisley-petition-of-recall-jon-tonge-prospect-of-byelection-hardly-enhanced-by-the-petitions-interesting-rules-and-preposterous-levels-of-secrecy-37338846.html
https://www.belfasttelegraph.co.uk/opinion/news-analysis/paisley-petition-of-recall-jon-tonge-prospect-of-byelection-hardly-enhanced-by-the-petitions-interesting-rules-and-preposterous-levels-of-secrecy-37338846.html
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-45055761
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-45055761
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-45055761
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/find-information-by-subject/elections-and-referendums/past-elections-and-referendums/2018-recall-petition-in-north-antrim
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/find-information-by-subject/elections-and-referendums/past-elections-and-referendums/2018-recall-petition-in-north-antrim
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/find-information-by-subject/elections-and-referendums/past-elections-and-referendums/2018-recall-petition-in-north-antrim
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/find-information-by-subject/elections-and-referendums/past-elections-and-referendums/2018-recall-petition-in-north-antrim


The Recall of MPs Act 2015: Petitions, Polls and
Problems

JONATHAN TONGE

Abstract
Under the terms of the Recall of MPs Act 2015, there have been three recall petitions brought
against MPs who have committed misconduct. The outcomes have been variable. The first
petition failed to attract enough signatures to trigger a by-election. The second led to the
unseating of the MP, who declined the opportunity to stand in the subsequent by-election.
The third led to the removal of the MP and an unsuccessful candidature to regain his seat at
the by-election. Variation has not been confined to outcomes. There have been differences in
how the legislation has been implemented—in terms of the ease of access of constituents to
the recall petition. This article suggests that in the interests of fairness and transparency,
there is a strong case for adjusting the legislation to ensure national standardisation of local
implementation.
Keywords: recall, MPs, petitions, signatures, by-elections

Introduction
THE RECALL OF MPs Act 2015, which allows for
the removal of an MP by the public, has
now been brought into play on three occa-
sions. The Act facilitates the opening of a
six-week petition of recall in a constituency
if its MP has received a prison sentence (cus-
todial or suspended); is convicted of provid-
ing false or misleading information for
allowance claims under the Parliamentary
Standards Act 2009; or is barred from the
House of Commons for ten sitting days, or
fourteen calendar days. The petition needs to
be signed by a minimum of 10 per cent of
the MP’s constituents to trigger a by-election,
in which the unseated MP is entitled to par-
ticipate. This article examines the first three
recall petitions triggered by the 2015 Act.
The first case failed to generate a by-election
owing to insufficient signatures, but the fol-
lowing two applications both created con-
tests. One saw the ousted MP declining to
stand, whilst the other saw the electoral
defeat of the recalled MP. As the Recall Act
bares its teeth, this article highlights its mer-
its but also suggests that aspects of the legis-
lation require tweaking, particularly

regarding the need for cross-constituency
standardisation of procedures.

The cases so far: three petitions;
two by-elections; any number of
petition stations
The Recall of MPs Act came into force in
March 2016, the legislation having been
introduced by the 2010–15 Conservative–Lib-
eral Democrat coalition. Its origins lie in the
parliamentary expenses scandal which
erupted in 2009 and the lack of sanction
available at the time to electors. Survey evi-
dence indicated that an overwhelming
majority of the public viewed the right of
recall of MPs as a ‘good idea’.1 There was
cross-party support for the concept, with
Labour having pledged, in the party’s 2010
election manifesto, that ‘MPs who are found
responsible for financial misconduct will be
subject to a right of recall’.2 The Act gives
electors this right, via a by-election, if 10 per
cent of constituents sign a petition initiated
following the parliamentary suspension, seri-
ous criminal conviction or expenses fraud of
their MP. It did not appear a high hurdle.

The Political Quarterly, Vol. 90, No. 4, October–December 2019

© The Author 2019. The Political Quarterly © The Political Quarterly Publishing Co. Ltd. 2019
Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 9600 Garsington Road, Oxford OX4 2DQ, UK and 350 Main Street, Malden, MA 02148, USA

713
Pack Page 116

http://crossmark.crossref.org/dialog/?doi=10.1111%2F1467-923X.12744&domain=pdf&date_stamp=2019-08-28


In terms of the politics of the petition, the
2015 Act allows for campaigning. Individu-
als, political parties or businesses can register
as campaigners by notifying the Petition
Officer (the Returning Officer in the con-
stituency) in writing, provided they are UK
based. They do not need to be registered in
the constituency in which the petition is in
place. A spending limit of £500 for non-regis-
tered campaigners and £10,000 for registered
campaigners applies. However, they are pro-
hibited from commenting on the petition’s
progress or signatories.

July 2018 saw the Act’s first deployment,
after the Democratic Unionist Party (DUP)
MP for North Antrim, Ian Paisley, was sus-
pended from the House of Commons for
thirty sitting days. The sanction, approved
by the House, followed undeclared holidays
in Sri Lanka and ‘paid advocacy’ on behalf
of the Sri Lanka government which had paid
for the holidays.3 Paisley lobbied against a
United Nations resolution condemning
human rights abuses by the Sri Lankan gov-
ernment during its conflict against the Tamil
Tigers. The length of Paisley’s ban reflected
that the Commons had found him guilty of
serious misconduct and ensured the launch-
ing of a petition under the legislation. The
Speaker formally notified the Chief Electoral
Officer for Northern Ireland of the outcome,
obliging her to set up a petition, open for six
weeks, within ten working days.

The petition opened on 8 August and
closed on 19 September, available to sign by
post or between 9am and 5pm at petition sta-
tions, with opening hours extended to 9pm on
two occasions. With the constituency elec-
torate numbering 75,430, the 10 per cent
requirement meant 7,543 signatures were
needed to trigger a by-election. However, the
recall petition failed, with 7,099 signatures
received—only 9.4 per cent of the electorate
and 444 short of the required minimum. Pais-
ley was free to return to the Commons follow-
ing his suspension, without further sanction.
There were several explanations. Consider-
able affection for the Paisley brand name
remained in evidence in North Antrim: since
Ian Paisley’s father won the seat in 1970, the
majority enjoyed firstly by Paisley senior and
then Paisley junior always exceeded 10,000.
Paisley junior won a 20,643 majority and
secured 59 per cent of the total vote in 2017.

North Antrim is the second most unionist
constituency, in terms of vote share, in
Northern Ireland; 66 per cent Protestant,
with a 73 per cent unionist vote in 2017.4

Given the rural nature of the constituency
and its sectarian geography, with most
towns largely Protestant, the use of only
three petition stations rather than the maxi-
mum permissible total of ten appeared sur-
prising. The mainly Protestant towns of
Ballymoney and Ballymena were two peti-
tion sites, with the other the mainly Catholic
nationalist Ballycastle, isolated on the coast.
In the 2017 general election, fifty-three poll-
ing stations were used in the constituency.
The Ulster Unionist Party leader, Robin
Swann, claimed that only opening three peti-
tion stations was ‘totally inadequate for a
constituency the size of North Antrim’, add-
ing that in limiting their opening hours, ‘the
Electoral Office has shown little regard to
people in daytime employment’.5

Given that anyone entering a petition sign-
ing station is engaging in an action known
to all observers, there was clear need for sen-
sitivity in terms of locations, especially con-
sidering Northern Ireland’s divisions. Yet
there were enough potential opponents of
Paisley to have made the recall petition
work, given that 19,939 constituents had
voted against him only sixteen months ear-
lier, with a 22 per cent nationalist vote. Sinn
F�ein and the Alliance Party registered as offi-
cial campaigners in favour of the petition,
but spent little and were hidebound by the
secrecy rules regarding the petition’s pro-
gress. For those not wishing to sign the peti-
tion at a station 3,233 postal ‘votes’ were
issued, yet 1,000 were not returned. This 31
per cent non-return rate greatly exceeded the
figure at the 2017 general election, when
only 9.9 per cent of postal votes issued were
not returned.6 Proxy petitioning was permit-
ted, but only ten constituents used this
option. Turnout was clearly low overall and
was reported afterwards by the Electoral
Commission’s observers as having been very
low during the middle weeks of the cam-
paign. The Commission concluded that
‘there may have not been a strong awareness
amongst electors of the recall petition
throughout the whole six-week period’.7 A
brief flurry of activity at either end of the
petitioning period was evident.

714 J O N A T H A N TONG E

© The Author 2019. The Political Quarterly © The Political Quarterly Publishing Co. Ltd. 2019The Political Quarterly, Vol. 90, No. 4

 1467923x, 2019, 4, D
ow

nloaded from
 https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/doi/10.1111/1467-923X

.12744 by U
niversity O

f L
iverpool, W

iley O
nline L

ibrary on [01/05/2024]. See the T
erm

s and C
onditions (https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/term

s-and-conditions) on W
iley O

nline L
ibrary for rules of use; O

A
 articles are governed by the applicable C

reative C
om

m
ons L

icense

Pack Page 117



Peterborough was the site of the second
recall petition, after the city’s Labour MP,
Fiona Onasanya, was convicted of perverting
the course of justice and jailed for three
months in January 2019. Onasanya had
denied driving a car which received a speed-
ing ticket in 2017. Under the requirements of
the Recall Act, the petition to unseat her was
delayed until her appeal against the convic-
tion was dismissed in March 2019. Onasanya
had continued as Peterborough MP despite
being expelled from the Labour Party. The
recall petition required 6,967 signatures to
pass the 10 per cent threshold. This proved a
low bar, since nearly 28 per cent of con-
stituents (19,261) signed. Peterborough is a
predominantly urban constituency requiring
only modest travel to circumnavigate. The
Petition Officer nonetheless deployed the
maximum of ten petition stations, allocating
each elector a station and offering extended
signing hours each week, beyond the mini-
mum legal requirement of 9am to 5pm, on
Tuesdays (7am opening) and Thursdays
(10pm closing). This was a far more exten-
sive deployment of stations and a more gen-
erous provision of opening times than had
been evident in North Antrim. Both Labour
and the Conservatives registered as parties
campaigning for the success of the petition,
as did the Unite and Communication Work-
ers trade unions, along with one individual
in a private capacity. Deselected and heavily
petitioned against, Onasanya declined to
contest the by-election as an independent.
She had captured the seat for Labour from
the Conservatives in 2017 by a majority of
607 votes. Her replacement, Lisa Forbes, held
the seat in the recall by-election by 683 votes
over the Brexit Party.

In Brecon and Radnorshire, a by-election
was triggered after 19 per cent of con-
stituents signed a petition to recall the Con-
servative MP, Chris Davies. The MP was
convicted in March 2019 of submitting, and
attempting to submit, false invoices for his
office. He had split the £700 cost of pho-
tographs for the office between two budgets
with fake invoices. The MP was fined £1,500,
ordered to pay £2,500 in legal costs and
required to undertake fifty hours of commu-
nity service. Given that this a conviction
relating to parliamentary allowances, the
Recall Act was triggered even though no

custodial or suspended sentence was
involved. Six petition stations were used
across the constituency from 9 May to 20
June 2019. With Brecon and Radnorshire
being the largest geographical constituency
of any in Wales or England, there was at
least a case for the use of the maximum
number of petition stations. In the event, the
requirement for 5,303 signatures to trigger a
by-election was comfortably exceeded, with
10,005 received, 19 per cent of the electorate.
Parties attempted to engage in the limited
campaigning, with the Liberal Democrats,
Labour and Plaid Cymru registered as cam-
paigners for the petition to be endorsed, and
the Conservatives campaigning against.

Despite his conviction, Chris Davies was
re-adopted by the local association as Con-
servative candidate to fight the by-election.
He had captured the seat from the Liberal
Democrats in 2015, turning a 3,747 Liberal
Democrat majority into one of 5,102 for the
Conservatives, on a 11 per cent swing. In
2017, Davies extended the Conservatives’
majority to 8,038. However, the recall elec-
tion confirmed the petition’s unseating, with
the Liberal Democrats taking the seat by a
margin of 1,425 votes over the Conserva-
tives, a 12 per cent swing on a big by-elec-
tion turnout of almost 60 per cent.
Ascertaining the impact of Davies’ convic-
tion is impossible. The Conservative candi-
date avoided several local hustings, but the
Conservatives may have been more impaired
by the presence of the Brexit Party, which
received 3,331 votes—more than double the
winning majority. Plaid Cymru and the
Greens did not contest the by-election, in
order to bolster the chances of the Liberal
Democrats as a party committed to prevent-
ing Brexit. However Plaid Cymru had won a
mere 1,299 votes in 2017 and the Greens had
not contested the seat.

The case for standardising rules
of implementation
Table 1 provides a summary of the petition
cases thus far, showing the variation in
implementation of recall petition stations
and outcomes.

The most glaring issue is the lack of
standardisation in the number of petition

TH E R E C A L L O F MP S AC T 2 0 1 5 : P E T I T I O N S , P O L L S A N D P R O B L E M S 715

© The Author 2019. The Political Quarterly © The Political Quarterly Publishing Co. Ltd. 2019 The Political Quarterly, Vol. 90, No. 4

 1467923x, 2019, 4, D
ow

nloaded from
 https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/doi/10.1111/1467-923X

.12744 by U
niversity O

f L
iverpool, W

iley O
nline L

ibrary on [01/05/2024]. See the T
erm

s and C
onditions (https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/term

s-and-conditions) on W
iley O

nline L
ibrary for rules of use; O

A
 articles are governed by the applicable C

reative C
om

m
ons L

icense

Pack Page 118



stations used. North Antrim, with the largest
number of electors of the three cases, used
fewest. Given the sectarian geography and
rural nature of the constituency, this was an
unacceptably low deployment of stations, a
clear outlier at one petition station per
25,142 electors, albeit offering slightly greater
geographical density than that in the Brecon
and Radnorshire case. Risibly, the analysis of
the North Antrim petition by the Electoral
Office for Northern Ireland claimed that
there was ‘no evidence that an increased
number of signing places would have con-
tributed to a different result at the end of the
recall petition’.8 There was only no evidence
because there had been no previous recall
petitions. The two subsequent cases provide
evidence that using more petition stations
entices more petitioners.

Across the three cases, there is an average
of approximately 3 per cent of electors sign-
ing a petition per signing station. Whilst cau-
tion is needed over this figure given postal
petitioning, the differences in terms of aver-
age percentage of electors per signing station
are modest across the three constituencies
(0.5 per cent). One might tentatively con-
clude that the higher the number of stations,
the greater the percentage of electors signing
the petition, by 3 per cent per station. For
electoral contests other than general elec-
tions, turnout falls with greater distance
from polling stations, the effect discernible at
over 500 metres in European elections and
600 metres in local contests.9 Whilst this has
yet to be tested for petitions, the effects may
be greater, given the increased distance from
a petition station for most electors compared
to their polling station. Use of a fixed num-
ber of petition stations, the maximum of ten,
seems logical, to keep travel times to a

minimum. In Brecon and Radnorshire there
were 155 fewer petition stations than polling
stations used for the 2017 general election
and some petitioners faced a thirty-minute,
fifteen-mile journey.10

Less important, but also logical, might be
a standardisation of opening hours. For an
election, there are fixed opening hours for
polling stations, of 7am until 10pm, so it
might be sensible to do likewise with peti-
tion stations, albeit with less lengthy hours.
The early start and late closure on desig-
nated days each week, as seen in Peterbor-
ough, could be replicated. Whilst there are
cost implications given the Peterborough
petition reportedly cost £500,000, these
could be offset by a shorter signing period
of one month, rather than six weeks.11 The
alternative is to move to an exclusively
postal vote.

The legislation on what can, or cannot, be
disclosed in respect of the progress of the
petition could also be adjusted. It is right
that reports of progress of the petition
should be prohibited, as this could clearly
affect its outcome. What is less apparent is
why individuals should be at risk of sanc-
tion, a fine or imprisonment of up to six
months, by commenting on who has signed
the petition, provided that the individual
being discussed consents to such discussion.
The real case for secrecy lies in ensuring that
petition stations are discreet but easily acces-
sible, given that those turning up to vote
and all others present know what political
act they are about to commit. This, admit-
tedly, is not easily achieved and is perhaps
another argument in favour of an all-postal
operation, in which a petition form is sent to
all electors and individuals decide whether
to sign and return the form.

Table 1: Recall of MPs Act petitions by constituency

Constituency Electors Petition
stations

% electors
signing
petition

Average %
of electors
per signing

station

Petition
station per
elector

Petition
station

per sq km

By-election

North Antrim 75 428 3 9.4 3.1 1: 25,142 1: 462 No
Peterborough 69,673 10 27.6 2.8 1: 6,967 1: 20 Yes
Brecon &
Radnorshire

53,030 6 18.9 3.3 1: 8,838 1: 501 Yes

716 J O N A T H A N TONG E

© The Author 2019. The Political Quarterly © The Political Quarterly Publishing Co. Ltd. 2019The Political Quarterly, Vol. 90, No. 4

 1467923x, 2019, 4, D
ow

nloaded from
 https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/doi/10.1111/1467-923X

.12744 by U
niversity O

f L
iverpool, W

iley O
nline L

ibrary on [01/05/2024]. See the T
erm

s and C
onditions (https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/term

s-and-conditions) on W
iley O

nline L
ibrary for rules of use; O

A
 articles are governed by the applicable C

reative C
om

m
ons L

icense

Pack Page 119



A further problem of the Act is perhaps its
limited scope. There remains no formal sanc-
tion for dereliction of duty by an MP. There
have been instances, such as in the case of
the MP for Sheffield Hallam, where the MP
has been largely absent from parliamentary
votes or constituency service. However, the
restrictions upon circumstances in which a
petition can be triggered mean that con-
stituents are left helpless. Furthermore, with-
out clear rules—such as an MP being absent
from a fixed percentage of Commons votes
—there is a risk of the politicisation of peti-
tion-triggering.

Conclusion
The Recall of MPs Act 2015 is an important
piece of legislation allowing recourse to
action in the event of serious misdemeanours
by their elected representative. This offer of
recall of elected representatives outside elec-
tions is available in only thirty democracies
and has quickly become effective.12 The 2015
Act was balanced, in that powers granted to
electors give them the chance to reflect upon
the conduct of their MP in instances of seri-
ous, proven misconduct, whilst allowing the
MP the opportunity to be reinstated by pop-
ular will. The legislation has already
achieved significant results. A return to the
previous state whereby MPs were entirely
protected from electoral sanction outside a
general election is clearly not going to hap-
pen. The question begged is how to tweak
the current situation.

The problems with the 2015 Act relate less
to its intentions than to the autonomy
afforded to its implementation. The conduct
of elections is nationally regulated and
locally delivered. Whilst the principles of the
Recall Act are similar, the framework is
looser. Petition Officers can determine the
number of petition stations, their times of
opening and the resources dedicated to its
processing, whilst there remains a lack of
clarity over what can be reported regarding
the petition. Given that this flexibility can
shape outcomes, it risks local decision mak-
ing being criticised as political on what
ought to be neutral territory. It may be that
the North Antrim case was an outlier, an
unsuccessful petition owing more to the dis-
tinctiveness of Northern Ireland’s politics

than procedural issues. However, if there is
conjecture that procedures influence out-
comes, then that is unsatisfactory, thus
strengthening the case for standardised rules
and uniform implementation at the expense
of the whims of local interpretation.

Notes
1 YouGov survey results, in House of Commons
Political and Constitutional Reform Committee,
Recall of MPs. First Report of Session 2012–13,
HC 373, 21 June 2012, p. 34; https://publi
cations.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/
cmpolcon/373/373.pdf (accessed 9 August
2019).

2 Labour Party, A Future Fair for All. Election
Manifesto 2010, ‘Democratic reform’, 9:2;
http://www.cpa.org.uk/cpa_documents/The
LabourPartyManifesto-2010.pdf (accessed 9
August 2019).

3 House of Commons Committee on Standards,
Ian Paisley: Third Report of Session 2017–19,
HC1397, 17 July 2018; https://publications.par
liament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmstanda
rds/1397/1397.pdf (accessed 9 August 2019).

4 J. Tonge and J. Evans, ‘Northern Ireland: dou-
ble triumph for the Democratic Unionist Party’,
Parliamentary Affairs, vol. 71, no. 4 (S1), pp.
139–154, at p.143.

5 BBC News, ‘Voters able to sign Paisley petition
in three locations’, 9 August 2018; https://
www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-
45055761 (accessed 9 August 2019).

6 Electoral Commission, Report on the 2018 Recall
Petition in North Antrim, 2018; https://www.
electoralcommission.org.uk/find-information-
by-subject/elections-and-referendums/past-
elections-and-referendums/2018-recall-petition
-in-north-antrim (accessed 9 August 2019).

7 Ibid.
8 Electoral Commission, Report on the 2018 Recall
Petition in North Antrim.

9 S. Orford, M. Thrasher and C. Rallings, ‘Indi-
vidual electoral registration and electoral
administration—political and constitutional
reform’, written evidence submitted to the
House of Commons Political and Constitu-
tional Reform Committee, September 2011;
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201012/
cmselect/cmpolcon/1463/1463vw02.htm (accessed
9 August 2019).

10 P. Silk, ‘The Brecon and Radnorshire recall
petition process: personal reflections’, Hansard
Society, 24 June 2019; https://www.hansardso
ciety.org.uk/blog/the-brecon-and-radnorshire-
recall-petition-process-personal-reflections-by
(accessed 9 August 2019).

T H E R E C A L L O F MP S AC T 2 0 1 5 : P E T I T I O N S , P O L L S A N D P R O B L E M S 717

© The Author 2019. The Political Quarterly © The Political Quarterly Publishing Co. Ltd. 2019 The Political Quarterly, Vol. 90, No. 4

 1467923x, 2019, 4, D
ow

nloaded from
 https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/doi/10.1111/1467-923X

.12744 by U
niversity O

f L
iverpool, W

iley O
nline L

ibrary on [01/05/2024]. See the T
erm

s and C
onditions (https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/term

s-and-conditions) on W
iley O

nline L
ibrary for rules of use; O

A
 articles are governed by the applicable C

reative C
om

m
ons L

icense

Pack Page 120

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmpolcon/373/373.pdf://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmpolcon/373/373.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmpolcon/373/373.pdf://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmpolcon/373/373.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmpolcon/373/373.pdf://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmpolcon/373/373.pdf
http://www.cpa.org.uk/cpa_documents/TheLabourPartyManifesto-2010.pdf://www.cpa.org.uk/cpa_documents/TheLabourPartyManifesto-2010.pdf
http://www.cpa.org.uk/cpa_documents/TheLabourPartyManifesto-2010.pdf://www.cpa.org.uk/cpa_documents/TheLabourPartyManifesto-2010.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmstandards/1397/1397.pdf://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmstandards/1397/1397.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmstandards/1397/1397.pdf://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmstandards/1397/1397.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmstandards/1397/1397.pdf://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmstandards/1397/1397.pdf
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-45055761://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-45055761
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-45055761://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-45055761
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-45055761://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-45055761
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/find-information-by-subject/elections-and-referendums/past-elections-and-referendums/2018-recall-petition-in-north-antrim://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/find-information-by-subject/elections-and-referendums/past-elections-and-referendums/2018-recall-petition-in-north-antrim
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/find-information-by-subject/elections-and-referendums/past-elections-and-referendums/2018-recall-petition-in-north-antrim://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/find-information-by-subject/elections-and-referendums/past-elections-and-referendums/2018-recall-petition-in-north-antrim
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/find-information-by-subject/elections-and-referendums/past-elections-and-referendums/2018-recall-petition-in-north-antrim://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/find-information-by-subject/elections-and-referendums/past-elections-and-referendums/2018-recall-petition-in-north-antrim
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/find-information-by-subject/elections-and-referendums/past-elections-and-referendums/2018-recall-petition-in-north-antrim://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/find-information-by-subject/elections-and-referendums/past-elections-and-referendums/2018-recall-petition-in-north-antrim
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/find-information-by-subject/elections-and-referendums/past-elections-and-referendums/2018-recall-petition-in-north-antrim://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/find-information-by-subject/elections-and-referendums/past-elections-and-referendums/2018-recall-petition-in-north-antrim
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201012/cmselect/cmpolcon/1463/1463vw02.htm://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201012/cmselect/cmpolcon/1463/1463vw02.htm
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201012/cmselect/cmpolcon/1463/1463vw02.htm://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201012/cmselect/cmpolcon/1463/1463vw02.htm
https://www.hansardsociety.org.uk/blog/the-brecon-and-radnorshire-recall-petition-process-personal-reflections-by://www.hansardsociety.org.uk/blog/the-brecon-and-radnorshire-recall-petition-process-personal-reflections-by
https://www.hansardsociety.org.uk/blog/the-brecon-and-radnorshire-recall-petition-process-personal-reflections-by://www.hansardsociety.org.uk/blog/the-brecon-and-radnorshire-recall-petition-process-personal-reflections-by
https://www.hansardsociety.org.uk/blog/the-brecon-and-radnorshire-recall-petition-process-personal-reflections-by://www.hansardsociety.org.uk/blog/the-brecon-and-radnorshire-recall-petition-process-personal-reflections-by


11 ITV News, ‘Peterborough recall petition set to
cost £500,000’, 8 March 2019; https://www.itv.c
om/news/anglia/2019-03-08/peterborough-mp-
recall-petition-set-to-cost-500-000/ (accessed 9
August 2019).

12 House of Commons Library, research briefings,
‘Recall elections’, 4 July 2019; https://researc

hbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Sum
mary/SN05089 (accessed 9 August 2019).

13 N. Kelly, ‘Recall elections: everything you (n)
ever wanted to know’, Slugger O’Toole, 16
July 2019; https://sluggerotoole.com/2019/
07/16/recall-elections-everything-you-never-
wanted-to-know/ (accessed 9 August 2019).

718 J O N A T H A N TONG E

© The Author 2019. The Political Quarterly © The Political Quarterly Publishing Co. Ltd. 2019The Political Quarterly, Vol. 90, No. 4

 1467923x, 2019, 4, D
ow

nloaded from
 https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/doi/10.1111/1467-923X

.12744 by U
niversity O

f L
iverpool, W

iley O
nline L

ibrary on [01/05/2024]. See the T
erm

s and C
onditions (https://onlinelibrary.w

iley.com
/term

s-and-conditions) on W
iley O

nline L
ibrary for rules of use; O

A
 articles are governed by the applicable C

reative C
om

m
ons L

icense

Pack Page 121

https://www.itv.com/news/anglia/2019-03-08/peterborough-mp-recall-petition-set-to-cost-500-000/://www.itv.com/news/anglia/2019-03-08/peterborough-mp-recall-petition-set-to-cost-500-000/
https://www.itv.com/news/anglia/2019-03-08/peterborough-mp-recall-petition-set-to-cost-500-000/://www.itv.com/news/anglia/2019-03-08/peterborough-mp-recall-petition-set-to-cost-500-000/
https://www.itv.com/news/anglia/2019-03-08/peterborough-mp-recall-petition-set-to-cost-500-000/://www.itv.com/news/anglia/2019-03-08/peterborough-mp-recall-petition-set-to-cost-500-000/
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN05089://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN05089
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN05089://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN05089
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN05089://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN05089
https://sluggerotoole.com/2019/07/16/recall-elections-everything-you-never-wanted-to-know/://sluggerotoole.com/2019/07/16/recall-elections-everything-you-never-wanted-to-know/
https://sluggerotoole.com/2019/07/16/recall-elections-everything-you-never-wanted-to-know/://sluggerotoole.com/2019/07/16/recall-elections-everything-you-never-wanted-to-know/
https://sluggerotoole.com/2019/07/16/recall-elections-everything-you-never-wanted-to-know/://sluggerotoole.com/2019/07/16/recall-elections-everything-you-never-wanted-to-know/

	Agenda
	2 Inquiry into Individual Member Accountability: Evidence Session 3
	Removal from Office and Recall (Members of the Scottish Parliament) Bill proposal consultation
	Removal from Office and Recall (Members of the Scottish Parliament) Bill
	A proposal for a Bill to introduce new measures on removing an MSP from office, including additional grounds for removal and new processes for removal, such as recall.  Proposed new grounds for removal include where an MSP does not participate in parl...
	Consultation by Graham Simpson MSP, Member for Central Scotland
	19 January 2022
	Contents
	Foreword
	19 January 2022 How the Consultation Process works
	19 January 2022 How the Consultation Process works
	Aim of the Proposed Bill
	Background
	35 Vacation of office by failure to attend meetings.

	Detail of the Proposed Bill
	Financial Implications
	There are not expected to be any notable financial costs as a result of this legislation.
	In relation to recall the proposal above envisages that the process for a recall petition would most likely operate in a similar way for MSPs as for MPs under the recall Act 2015. Specifically, the electoral commission’s role and the petition officer ...
	Where a member is removed from office, either as a result of recall or due to removal under elements one or two of my proposal, the process to be triggered for a constituency member would result in a by-election. Costs would primarily fall on the Elec...
	For the replacement of a list member, as noted above, there would be no costs where a regional MSP automatically has to vacate their seat as they would simply be replaced by the next person on the relevant party’s regional list. The cost of the replac...
	The potential financial implications of the specific process to be followed where Parliament requires to consider whether a member should automatically be removed from office can be established once the specifics of the process have taken shape inform...
	a cost associated with Parliament staff monitoring whether members have
	been active in terms of the measures set out in my final proposal. However, I would not anticipate these or other costs related to Parliament staff time to be notable, for example it would not in my view justify an additional member of staff.
	Equalities
	I aim to mitigate any potential negative impact and am seeking options to ensure that the personal data of the member can be as protected as much as possible to prevent any unnecessary distress to them or their families.
	Data protection
	As mentioned earlier, data protection issues will also be a key consideration in relation to this part of my proposal and I will seek to navigate the development of the detail of the policy to ensure privacy is protected wherever required and data is ...
	In addition, MSPs are part of the valuable link between local community discussions and decision making and decision making at a national level. On that basis ensuring MSPs are working regularly enables this link to the community to be as constant and...
	Questions
	About you
	Your views on the proposal
	Aim and approach
	Financial implications
	Equalities
	Sustainability
	General
	How to respond to this consultation
	Format of responses
	Deadline for responses
	How responses are handled
	Requests for anonymity or for responses not to be published
	Other exceptions to publication
	Data Protection
	Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002

	Summary of responses - Removal from Office and Recall (Members of the Scottish Parliament) Bill proposal consultation
	Petitions, Polling Stations and Paisley: the First Outworking of the Recall of MPs Act 2015
	The Recall of MPs Act 2015: Petitions, Polls and Problems




